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1 MEETING OPENING

1.1 ATTENDANCE

Apologies

1.2 OFFERING OF PRAYER

As part of Council's commitment to recognising the cultural and spiritual diversity of our community,
the prayer this evening will be offered by Rajaratna Sarma Premakantha Kurukkal from the Hindu
Community, a member of the Greater Dandenong Interfaith Network.

1.3 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Ordinary Meeting of Council held 23 April 2018.

Recommendation

That the minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of Council held 23 April 2018 be confirmed.
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1.4 ASSEMBLIES OF COUNCIL

The following assemblies of Council occurred in the period 19 April to 9 May 2018:

Topics Discussed & Disclosures of Conflict
of Interest

Councillors AttendingMeeting
Type

Date

- Asylum Seeker and Refugee Advisory
Committee Meeting.

Youhorn Chea, Matthew
Kirwan

Asylum
Seeker
and

19/04/18

Refugee
Advisory
Committee

- Anzac Day activities.
- Flu shot availability for Councillors and
messages to diverse communities regarding flu
vaccination.
- Graffiti and road management in new areas
around level crossing works in Noble Park.
- State Government announcement regarding
funding for community hub in Keysborough.
- Current works in Walker Street, Dandenong.
- Agenda items for the Council Meeting of 23
April 2018.

Roz Blades, Youhorn
Chea, Tim Dark (part),
Matthew Kirwan, Angela
Long, Jim Memeti, Sean
O’Reilly, Heang Tak, Loi
Truong

Councillor
Briefing
Session

23/04/18
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- Response to Notice of Motion 103 – Further
strategic work following on from the C182
Planning Scheme Amendment.
- Dandenong Market Pty Ltd Annual Plan,
Strategic Plan and Budget.
- Hard Waste contract review.
- Response to Notice of Motion 45 – Request
for a report on how neighbouring Councils
manage and implement permits and bond
monies for asset protection for builders in
industrial estates.
- Update on Team 11 activities.
- National Volunteer Week 22 May 2018.
- Councillor flu vaccinations.
- Discussions had with the Keysborough CFA.
- Proposed delegation to Canberra during the
ALGA National general Assembly.
- Agenda items for the Council Meeting of 14
May 2018.

Roz Blades, Youhorn
Chea, Tim Dark (part),
Matthew Kirwan, Angela
Long, Sean O’Reilly,
Zaynoun Melhem, Maria
Sampey (part), Heang
Tak

Councillor
Briefing
Session

7/05/18

Recommendation

That the assemblies of Council listed above be noted.

1.5 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Any interest that a Councillor or staff member has deemed to be significant and has disclosed as
either a direct or an indirect interest is now considered to be a conflict of interest. Conflict of Interest
legislation is detailed in sections 77A, 77B, 78, 78A-E & 79 of the Local Government Act 1989. This
legislation can be obtained by contacting the Greater Dandenong Governance Unit on 8571 5216 or
by accessing the Victorian Legislation and Parliamentary Documents website at
www.legislation.vic.gov.au.If a Councillor discloses any interest in an item discussed at any Council
Meeting (whether they attend or not) they must:

complete a disclosure of interest form prior to the meeting.

advise the chairperson of the interest immediately before the particular item is considered (if
attending the meeting).

leave the chamber while the item is being discussed and during any vote taken (if attending the
meeting).

The Councillor will be advised to return to the chamber or meeting room immediately after the item
has been considered and the vote is complete.
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2 OFFICERS' REPORTS

2.1 DOCUMENTS FOR SEALING

2.1.1 Documents for Sealing

A2683601File Id:

Report Summary

Under the Victorian Local Government Act, each Council is a body corporate and a legal entity in its
own right. Each Council must therefore have a common seal (like any corporate entity) that is an
official sanction of that Council.

Sealing a document makes it an official document of Council as a corporate body. Documents that
require sealing include agreements, contracts, leases or any other contractual or legally binding
document that binds Council to another party.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the listed documents be signed and sealed.
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Item Summary

There are [2] items being presented to Council’s meeting of 14 May 2018 for signing and sealing as
follows:

A letter of recognition to Kim Hoyling, Community Services for 10 years of service to the
City of Greater Dandenong; and

1.

A letter of recognition to Kirstine Oh, Engineering Services for 10 years of service to the
City of Greater Dandenong.

2.

Recommendation

That the listed documents be signed and sealed.
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2.2 DOCUMENTS FOR TABLING

2.2.1 Documents for Tabling

qA228025File Id:

Report Summary

Council receives various documents such as annual reports and minutes of committee meetings that
deal with a variety of issues that are relevant to the City.

These reports are tabled at Council Meetings and therefore brought to the attention of Council.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the listed items be received.
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List of Reports

TitleAuthor

Annual Report Summary 2016/2017City of Whitehorse

A copy of each report is made available at the Council meeting or by contacting the Governance Unit
on telephone 8571 5235.

Recommendation

That the listed items be received.
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2.2.2 Petitions and Joint Letters

qA228025File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Petitions and Joint LettersAttachments:

Report Summary

Council receives a number of petitions and joint letters on a regular basis that deal with a variety of
issues which have an impact upon the City.

Issues raised by petitions and joint letters will be investigated and reported back to Council if required.

A table containing all details relevant to current petitions and joint letters is provided in Attachment
1. It includes:

the full text of any petitions or joint letters received;1.

petitions or joint letters still being considered for Council response as pending a final
response along with the date they were received; and

2.

the final complete response to any outstanding petition or joint letter previously tabled
along with the full text of the original petition or joint letter and the date it was responded
to.

3.

Note: On occasions, submissions are received that are addressed to Councillors which
do not qualify as petitions or joint letters under Council’s current Meeting Procedure
Local Law. These are also tabled.
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Petitions and Joint Letters Tabled

Council received no new petitions and no joint letters prior to the Council Meeting of 14 May 2018.

N.B: A summary of the progress of ongoing change.org petitions has been provided in the
attachment to this report.

Recommendation

That the listed items detailed in Attachment 1, and the current status of each, be received and
noted.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5309. 
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2.3 CONTRACTS

2.3.1 Contract No. 1718-48 Supply & Installation of Public Litter & Recycle Bin
Surrounds

qA380192File Id:

Director Engineering ServicesResponsible Officer:

Tender Evaluation Comments (Confidential)Attachments:

Report Summary

This report details the public tender process undertaken by Council to select a suitably qualified and
experienced contractor for the Supply & Installation of Public Litter & Recycle Bin Surrounds
within the City of Greater Dandenong.

This is a Schedule of Rates based contract.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that Council awards Contract 1718-48 to Rivierra Discretionary Trust,
trading as Australian General Engineering for a Schedule of Rates as tendered for an initial term
of two (2) years from the date of commencement with an option to extend the contract by three (3)
twelve month periods at the sole and absolute discretion of Council.

The estimated annual expenditure for this contract is expected to be somewhere in the order of
$120,000.00 including GST, (based on the average annual expenditure for this service over the past
five years).
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Introduction / Background

Council provides a litter collection service to public areas such as shopping precincts, parks and
reserves throughout the municipality. As part of this service, Council has a significant number of litter
bins permanently located within these public areas. The existing litter bins include the following:

80 litre Mobile Garbage Bins (MGBs) for general rubbish and recycling
120 litre Mobile Garbage Bins (MGBs) for general rubbish and recycling
240 litre Mobile Garbage Bins (MGBs) for general rubbish and recycling

MGBs are placed within an appropriate bin surround that complements urban streetscapes and urban
design elements.

The successful contractor will be expected to;

Supply bin surrounds of identical design and quality to the existing bin surrounds being used by
Council, and
Provide a service to install the supplied bin surround, if required

Generally, bin surrounds will be installed by council’s in house staff. However, from time to time,
Council will require the services of the Contractor to install bin surrounds if the work cannot be
completed by the in house staff.

Tender Process

This tender was advertised in the Age Newspaper and on Council’s website on Saturday 16 December
2017 and at the close of tenders at 2:00PM Thursday 18th January 2018 (3) three tender submissions
were received as follows:

1) Rivierra Discretionary Trust, trading as Australian General Engineering

2) The Trustee for Eurotech Trust, trading as Eurotech (International) Pty Ltd

3) The Trustee for Cameron and Rachel Johnstone Family Trust, trading as Spark Furniture
Pty Ltd

Tenderers were advised that this is Schedule of Rates Contract. Tenderers were requested to submit
separate unit rates and prices for the supply of each bin surround type and also a separate price for
the supply and installation of the bin surrounds as detailed on price Schedule 2.

Tender Evaluation

The evaluation panel consisted of Council’s Service Unit Leader – Works, Fleet & Cleansing, the
Team Leader Works Service Unit, Team Leader Cleansing, Works Foreperson and the Contracts
Officer, with Occupational Health & Safety and Environmental Management consultants providing
specialist advice.
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The Tenders were evaluated using Council’s Weighted Attributed Value Selection Method. The
advertised evaluation criteria and the allocated weightings for evaluation are as follows:

WeightingEvaluation Criteria

40%Price1

20%Relevant Experience2

10%Years in Business

10%Years Fabrication of Street Furniture

35%Capability (Technical Skills & Resources)3

15%Similar Contracts

10%Local Content / Manufacturing

10%Manufacturing Processes

5%Social Procurement4

Pass / FailOH&S Systems ( Pass / Fail )5

Pass / FailEnvironmental System ( Pass / Fail )6

The Evaluation Criteria 5 and 6 are given a Pass or Fail. The Evaluation Criteria 1 – 4 are given a
point score between 0 and 5 as detailed in the following table.

DescriptionScore

Excellent5

Very Good4

Good, better than average3

Acceptable2

Marginally acceptable ( Success not assured )1

Not Acceptable0

Each submission was assessed against all evaluation criteria, to ensure that the tenderers met the
standards required for Council contractors. A fail in any criterion would automatically exclude tenderers
from further consideration for this contract.
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Total
Score

OH&S

Assessment
for

Installation
only

Non-Price
Points

Price
PointsTenderer

3.55PASS2.551.00Australian General Engineering

2.70Not
Assessed1.451.25Eurotech

2.65PASS1.950.70Spark Furniture

Note 1: The higher the price score – lower the tendered price.

Note 2: The higher the non-price score – represents better capability and relevant experience
to undertake the service.

The Price points score is based on the ‘Supply only’ rates for bin surrounds on the basis that
approx. 95% of all purchases made under the contract are likely to be on a supply only basis.
A random sample of 4-5 previous invoices was used to ensure the assessment was based on
a ‘typical mix’ of bin surround sizes and styles (recognising the fact some tenderers may be
more/less competitive on some sizes and styles than others).

The evaluation matrix and other supporting documents have been placed in the relevant Objective
Contract Procurement file.
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Financial Implications

There is not a specified number of bin surrounds that are programmed to be supplied per year for
this Contract and therefore no estimated annual expense.

During the past five years the average expenditure across capex and opex accounts for these goods
has been approximately $120,000.00 including GST per year.

Therefore, the estimated expenditure for this contract over the possible five year contract term is
somewhere in the order of Six Hundred Thousand Dollars ($600,000.00) including GST of $54,545.45.

Funding for goods purchased against this contract will be provided via the Street Furniture operational
sub-activity account and other capital works projects as they occur during the contract term.

Note: Schedule of Rates – A schedule of rates contract is one under which the amount that
is payable to the contractor is calculated by applying an agreed schedule of rates to the
quantity of work that is actually performed.

Consultation

During the tender evaluation process and in preparation of this report, relevant Council Officers from
Council’s Operations Centre and Council’s Occupational Health & Safety were consulted.

Conclusion

At the conclusion of the tender evaluation process described above the evaluation panel agreed that
the tender submission from Rivierra Discretionary Trust, trading as Australian General
Engineering would provide the Best Value outcome for Council and they are the recommended
tenderer for the following reasons:

1) Their conforming tender submission and overall well priced Schedule of Rates;

2) Their very good level of experience, staff resources and equipment;

3) Receiving a Pass for their Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S) management systems.

4) Being ranked the highest for the non price evaluation criteria of Relevant Experience and
Capability.

Relevant Experience and Capability

Australian General Engineering has been providing Metal Fabrication Services for more than 25 years
in Melbourne and their office and factory is located in Mordialloc within the City of Kingston.

Australian General Engineering have been manufacturing, supplying and installing (when required)
Public Litter & Recycle Bin Surrounds for The City of Greater Dandenong for more than (7) seven
years under two contracts and they have been providing an excellent and reliable service during that
time.
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Australian General Engineering currently manufacturer and supply street bin surrounds for the City
of Kingston, approximate value - $30,000.00 per year.

Recommendation

That Council:

awards Contract No. 1718-48 for the Supply & Installation of Public Litter & Recycle
Bin Surrounds to Rivierra Discretionary Trust, trading as Australian General
Engineering at the tendered Schedule of Rates for an initial period of three (3) years;

1.

reserves the option to extend the initial contract term by two (2), 12month extensions
at the sole and absolute discretion of Council; and

2.

signs and seals the contract documents when prepared.3.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 

o
o
o
o
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2.3.2 Contract No. 1718-71Q Local Area Traffic Management (LATM) Works 2017/18

qA383058File Id:

Director Engineering ServicesResponsible Officer:

Report Summary

This report outlines the tender process undertaken to select a suitably qualified and experienced
contractor for the construction of Local Area Traffic Management (LATM) Works 2017/2018.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that Council awards Contract 1718-71Q to Blue Peak Constructions Pty Ltd
for a fixed lump sum price of Five Hundred & Thirty Six Thousand, Five Hundred & Eighty Six Dollars
and Sixty Cents ($536,586.60) including GST of $48,780.60.

This is a Lump Sum Contract and not subject to rise and fall adjustment

Page 27

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA



Introduction

This contract is for the construction of traffic calming devices in accordance with Council’s annual
Local Area Traffic Management (LATM) program. The aim of the LATM program is to reduce traffic
volumes and speed on local streets and to improve safety for vehicles and pedestrians.

This package of work will include the installation of treatments along Beau Vorno Avenue in
Keysborough, Eagle Drive in Noble Park North and Terrigal Drive in Noble Park North.

Tender Process

A Restricted Tender process was undertaken inviting five (5) suitably qualified contractors from the
EOI 1516-19 Supply of Concrete Paving & Associated DrainageWorks (Package Quotation) to quote
for this project.

All of the invited contractors downloaded the documentation.

Tenders were received from:

Trustee for Urban C.C.G Trust (Urban Civil Construction Group Pty Ltd)
Blue Peak Constructions Pty Ltd

Tender Evaluation

The tender evaluation panel comprised of the Coordinator Civil Projects, 2 Project Engineers and
Contracts & Administration Officer with Occupational Health & Safety and Environment Management
Consultants providing specialist advice.

The tenders were evaluated using Council’s Weighted Attributed Value Selection Method. The
advertised evaluation criteria and the allocated weightings for evaluation are as follows:

WeightingsEvaluation Criteria

45%Price1

20%Relevant Experience2

20%Capability3

5%Construction Methodology4

5%Social Procurement5

5%Local Industry6

Pass/FailOHS Management System7

Pass/FailEnvironmental Management System8
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The Tenderers were ranked by panel members against each criteria on a scale 0 – 5 based on the
table listed below.

DescriptionScore

Excellent5

Very Good4

Good3

Acceptable2

Marginally Acceptable1

Not Acceptable0

The Panel initially assessed all the tendered prices, relevant experience, capability and construction
methodology. The comparative Weighted Attributed Scores for all tenders after initial evaluation stage
are as follows:

Total
Score

OHS &
Environmental

Non-Price
Points

Price
Points

Tenderer

3.24Pass1.901.34Blue Peak Constructions Pty Ltd

2.89Pass1.980.91Trustee for Urban C.C.G Trust (Urban Civil
Construction Group Pty Ltd)

At the completion of the tender evaluation process described above, the Panel agreed that Blue Peak
Constructions Pty Ltd was the preferred tender. Their submission provided the best value outcome
for Council.

Full details of the evaluation process have been placed on the relevant tender file.

Note 1: The higher the price score – lower the tendered price.

Note 2: The higher the non-price score – represents better capability and capacity to undertake
the service.

Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.
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Financial Implications

Council has been successful in securing a funding grant through VicRoads for its current LATM
program. This opportunity represents great value for money as VicRoads is providing funding
regardless of scale. VicRoads have indicated that timely delivery of round one projects will put Council
is good favour for round two grant applications.

The financial implications are summarised in the table below. Note that all figures are GST inclusive.

$536,586.60Total Contract Amount

$289,086.60Council Contribution

$247,500.00Grant Contribution

The budget available in the LATM program is $165,000 leaving a shortfall of $124,086.50.

A review of the overall City Improvement Program (CIP) shows that there are adequate savings in
comparable projects to cover this shortfall. Councillors have been provided with information separately
regarding these savings. There is confidence in the availability of funds, therefore it is recommended
that this contract proceed.

Note: Schedule of Rates – A schedule of rates contract is one under which the amount that
is payable to the contractor is calculated by applying an agreed schedule of rates to the
quantity of work that is actually performed.

Lump Sum – A lump sum contact or a stipulated sum contract will require that the supplier
agree to provide specified services for a stipulated or fixed price.

Consultation

Designs have been sent to all adjacent property owners during design development with feedback
incorporated into the design where possible. Follow up notifications will be sent out prior to works
commencing onsite to advise the timelines for construction.

During the tender evaluation process and in the preparation of this report, relevant Council Officers
from City Improvement, Transport and Civil Development, Occupational Health & Safety and
Environmental Management were all consulted.
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Conclusion

At the conclusion of the tender evaluation process, the evaluation panel agree that the tender
submission from Blue Peak Constructions Pty Ltd represented the Best Value outcome for Council
and should be accepted due to:

Their conforming and lowest priced tender submission
Their track record working with Victorian Local Governments
Their level of experience and past performance completing similar LATM works

Recommendation

That Council:

awards Contract No. 1718-71Q to Blue Peak Construction Pty Ltd for a fix Lump
Sum of Five Hundred & Thirty Six Thousand, Five Hundred & Eighty Six Dollars and
Sixty Cents ($536,586.60) including GST of $48,780.60; and

1.

signs and seals the contract documents when prepared.2
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2.3.3 Procurement Australia Tender No. 0618/0628 Insurance Broking and Risk
Management Services

qA368903File Id:

Report Summary

This report outlines the public tender process undertaken and overseen by Procurement Australia
(PA) on behalf of the City of Greater Dandenong to select a provider of insurance broking and risk
management services for all Council insurance types excluding public liability, which is currently with
the MAV Mutual scheme.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that Council awards the Procurement Australia Tender No. 0618/0628
Insurance Broking and Risk Management Services to Arthur J. Gallagher and Co for a fixed lump
sum price of Seven Hundred & Twenty Six Thousand, Six Hundred & Sixty Dollars ($726,660.00) for
three (3) years period which includes an option of one (1) year at Council’s sole and absolute discretion.
This is subject to annual price adjustments dictated by the financial market. This price includes GST
of $66,060.00.
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Introduction

Council requires an insurance services broker to provide a range of insurance broking and risk
management services that reflect a progressive and proactive approach to the changing and emerging
needs of Council. This includes negotiating with relevant insurers to obtain best value for Council for
required insurance classes, providing Council with risk financing recommendations, claims
management advice, maintaining relationships with insurers and ensuring compliance with an agreed
service plan.

The best mix of insurance and risk financing strategies are required to ensure coverage of Council’s
legal liabilities and protect Council’s assets against loss or damage. Council has comprehensive risk
management strategies and programs covering all types of potential operational risks.

Tender Process

The tender process was undertaken by Procurement Australia on behalf of the City of Greater
Dandenong. The tender was advertised in the Herald Sun newspaper on 17 January 2018 and at the
close of tenders on Wednesday 14 February 2018, four (4) tenders were received as follows:

AON Risk Services Australia Limited

Arthur J Gallagher & Co. (Aust) Limited

Jardine Lloyd Thompson (JLT)

Willis Towers Watson (Willis)

Tender Evaluation

The Tenders were evaluated by Procurement Australia and a detailed assessment report provided
to Council. Interviews were conducted with the two short-listed tenders by the Manager People &
Procurement Services, Risk Management Consultant and a specialist insurance consultant from
Procurement Australia.

The Tendered prices range from $726,660.00 to $1,500,000.00 over the three-year term of the
contract.
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The insurance types covered under this tender and their existing expiring premiums are outlined
below.

ExpiringPolicy Type

Base Premium

$125,874Industrial Special Risks - Berkshire Australia

$16,800Directors & Officers Liability - Chubb

Included in D&OEmployment Practices Liability

$7,900Crime - Chubb

$5,204Hall Hirers Liability - One Underwriting

$9,600Motor Vehicle - CGU

$600Corporate Travel - Chubb

$600Personal Accident - Volunteers - Chubb

$20,125Cyber Liability - CFC Underwriting

$8,000Trader Group Liability – One Underwriting

$194,703Sub Total

$25,000Broker Fee

$219,703TOTAL

Council reviewed all the tender submissions. The total cost comparison between tenderers is as
follows:

At the conclusion of the assessment process Arthur J Gallagher and Co is the preferred tenderer by
providing a higher level of service at the lowest cost.
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Additional value adding services proposed by Arthur J Gallagher included the provision of Insurable
Risk Profiling and Gap Analysis Risk Management Services and a full Property Risk Assessment of
one of the City’s major properties annually, as selected by Council.

The Property Risk Assessments will assist with the development and implementation of a property
risk management program for the City, providing practical solutions to ensure that the likelihood and
consequence of a major loss is minimised.

Gallagher is one of Australia’s and the World’s largest insurance broking and risk management
companies. In Australia, they provide insurance, risk management services to more than 125,000
businesses, including Local Government, and have experience from micro-SMEs through to
multinational corporations with some of the world’s most iconic brands.

More widely, as a global insurance, risk management and benefits consulting brokerage, Gallagher
operates in more than 30 countries with an alliance of network partners in 150 countries.

Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

Financial Implications

The Insurance budget for Council in 2018/19 is $450,000 (exclusive of GST) but for all insurance
types. The funds in this budget are sufficient to meet the tendered cost of this contract.

Note: Schedule of Rates – A schedule of rates contract is one under which the amount that
is payable to the contractor is calculated by applying an agreed schedule of rates to the
quantity of work that is actually performed.

Lump Sum – A lump sum contact or a stipulated sum contract will require that the supplier
agree to provide specified services for a stipulated or fixed price.

Consultation

Procurement Australia were engaged to undertake the process with Council’s staff in preparation of
this report. Relevant Council staff fromPeople & Procurement Services have been consulted throughout
the process.

Conclusion

The panel recommends that the tender submission from Arthur J Gallagher & Co (Aust) Limited
represents the best value outcome for Council, meeting all the tender selection criteria requirements
and representing the lowest price tender.
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Recommendation

That Council awards the Procurement Australia Tender No. 0618/0628 for Insurance Broking
and Risk Management Services to Arthur J Gallagher & Co (Aust) Limited for a fixed lump
sum of Seven Hundred & Twenty Six Thousand, Six Hundred & Sixty Dollars ($726,660.00) for
three (3) years period which includes an option of one (1) year at Council’s sole and absolute
discretion. This is subject to annual price adjustments dictated by the financial market. This
price includes GST of $66,060.00.
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2.4 STATUTORY PLANNING APPLICATIONS

2.4.1 TownPlanningApplication - No. 29 Joy Parade, Noble Park (PlanningApplication
PLN17/0334)

181000File Id:

Director City Planning Design & AmenityResponsible Officer:

Submitted Plans
Location of Objectors
Clause 22.09 Assessment
Clause 52.06 Assessment
Clause 55 Assessment

Attachments:

Application Summary

Gavan ConstructionsApplicant:

Development of the land for a three storey building containing nine
(9) dwellings and a basement car park

Proposal:

Residential Growth Zone 1Zone:

No overlaysOverlay:

PaperbarkWard:

The application proposes to develop the land for a three storey building including nine (9) dwellings
and a basement car park. A permit is required pursuant to Clause 32.07-5 of the Greater Dandenong
Planning Scheme to construct two or more dwellings on a lot.

Objectors Summary

The application was advertised to the surrounding area through the erection of a notice on-site and
the mailing of notices to adjoining and surrounding owners and occupiers. Two (2) objections were
received to the application. Issues raised generally relate to: number of dwellings, existing
neighbourhood character, overloading infrastructure services, car parking, inadequate private open
space, dwelling diversity, common property management and safety.
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Assessment Summary

As assessed, the current application is considered appropriate for approval. The subject site is located
within close proximity to the Noble Park Activity Centre and Noble Park Train Station. The site is
identified within the Future Character Area A – Substantial Change under Clause 22.09-3.5, which
is expected to contain a greater proportion of well designed and site responsive medium to high
density residential developments.

The subject site is affected by Part 2 of Amendment C182 which seeks to rezone the site from
Schedule 1 to Schedule 3 of the Residential Growth Zone. Of particular relevance is the development’s
compliance with the changes implemented by Part 2 of Amendment C182 including the three storey
height limit in the RGZ3 under Clause 22.09-3.2 and the varied Clause 55 landscaping and private
open space requirements under Schedule 3 to the Residential Growth Zone.

Adequate car parking is proposed to be provided on site for residents and visitors and access will be
provided from Joy Parade via a single-width crossover. Adequate space would be provided around
each boundary of the site and within the front setback in order to establish substantial landscaping
and canopy tree planting. Subject to conditions, it is considered that the proposal would provide a
well designed, site responsive medium density development which is respectful of the surrounding
area.

Recommendation Summary

As assessed, the proposal is consistent with and appropriately responds to the provisions of the
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme. The proposal appropriately responds to strategic policy for
medium to high density residential development in the area with this report recommending that the
application be supported, and a Notice of Decision (which provides appeal rights to objectors) to
grant a permit be issued containing the conditions as set out in the recommendation.
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Subject Site and Surrounds

Subject Site

The subject site is located on the northern side of Joy Parade with a land area of 907sqm. The site
is rectangular in shape and has a 17.37 metre wide street frontage and a depth of 51.99 metres. The
site is occupied by a single storey dwelling and associated outbuildings including a garage located
adjacent the eastern boundary.

The site has a flat topography and is accessed via a single crossover located in the south-eastern
corner of the site. A 3.05 metre wide drainage easement runs adjacent to the northern boundary.

Surrounding Area

The subject site is located in a Residential Growth Zone as is the surrounding area and is located
within close proximity to the Noble Park Activity Centre, which is 195 metres east of the subject site.
The surrounding residential character is mixed, comprising of single storey detached dwellings,
multi-unit development sites and a double storey apartment building located at 13 Joy Parade, Noble
Park. The subject site is located within close proximity of the following services and facilities:

Heatherton Road, which is classified as a major arterial is located 50m north from the subject
site, whilst Corrigan Road is located at the western end of Joy Parade, located 140m west from
the subject site;
The Noble Park Uniting Church & the western periphery of the Noble Park Activity Centre is
located 195 metres east of the subject site;
The Noble Park Train Station is located 535 metres east from the subject site;
A number of educational facilities are located within a kilometre south and east of the site including
Noble Park Primary School, St Anthony Primary School and the AMES education centre;
The following bus routes are located within close proximity of the subject site:

Route 811: Dandenong to Brighton which runs along Heatherton Road.
Route 815: Dandenong to Noble Park which runs along Frank Street.
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Locality Plan

Background

Previous Applications

A search of Council records revealed that Council has previously considered the following planning
applications for the site:

Planning Permit PLN14/0163 was issued on 23 March 2016 to construct a two storey building
comprising of thirteen (13) dwellings and basement car park. An extension of time was granted on
14 March 2018 extending the permit until 23 March 2020.

Subject Application

Proposal

The application proposes the development of the land for nine (9) dwellings. The details of the proposal
are as follows:

Details

Multi dwellingsType of proposal

Nine (9)Number of dwellings
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Three storeys containing a basementLevels

8.5 metre maximumHeight

Joy ParadeOriented to

Brickwork, render and timber claddingExternal materials

North: 3.2m – 3.4m
East: 1.3m
South: 5.0m (Street)
West: 3.6m

Minimum setbacks

Each dwelling would have access to a balconyOpen space type

10 basement car spacesNumber of Car parking
Spaces provided

10Number of Car parking
Spaces required

Basement car spacesType of car parking

Vehicle access is provided from Joy Parade via a single width
crossover

Access

1.2m high front fence proposedFront Fence

The proposal is submitted as a new planning application and does
not alter the existing Planning Permit for the site.

Other

A copy of the submitted plans is included as Attachment 1.

Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

Financial Implications

No financial resources are impacted by this report.

Planning Scheme and Policy Frameworks

Pursuant to the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, a planning permit is required:

Under Clause 32.07-5 to construct two or more dwellings on a lot.

The relevant controls and policies are as follows:
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Zoning Controls

Residential Growth Zone (Clause 32.07)

The purpose of the Residential Growth Zone outlined at Clause 32.07 of the Greater Dandenong
Planning Scheme is:

To implement the State Planning Policy Framework and the Local Planning Policy Framework,
including the Municipal Strategic Statement and local planning policies.
To provide housing at increased densities in buildings up to and including four storey buildings.
To encourage a diversity of housing types in locations offering good access to services and
transport including activities areas.
To encourage a scale of development that provides a transition between areas of more intensive
use and development and areas of restricted housing growth.
To allow educational, recreational, religious, community and a limited range of other
non-residential uses to serve local community needs in appropriate locations.

Pursuant to Clause 32.07-4 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, a planning permit is required
to construct two or more dwellings on a lot.

It is noted that in the schedule to the zone, different requirements are set out as follows:

Standard B6 (Minimum Street Setback) – As per B6 or 5 metres, whichever is the lesser;
Standard B8 (Site Coverage) – Up to a maximum of 70%;
Standard B13 (Landscaping) – 70% of ground level front setback planted with substantial
landscaping and canopy trees ;
Standard B32 (Front Fence Height) – Maximum 1.5metre height in streets in Road Zone Category
1, 1.2 metre maximum height for other streets.

Overlay Controls

No overlays affect the subject site.

State Planning Policy Framework

The following state planning policies are relevant to this application:

Built Environment and Heritage (Clause 15)

The purpose of this overlay is to encourage development that:

Contributes positively to local urban character and sense of place.
Reflects the particular characteristics, aspirations and cultural identity of the community.
Enhances liveability, diversity, amenity and safety of the public realm.
Promotes attractiveness of towns and cities within broader strategic contexts.
Minimises detrimental impact on neighbouring properties.
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Housing (Clause 16)

The purpose of this overlay is to encourage housing that:

Are located in or close to activity centres and employment corridors and at other strategic
redevelopment sites that offer good access to services and transport. Ensuring land supply
continues to be sufficient to meet demand.
Increasing choice in housing type, tenure and cost to meet the needs of households as they
move through life cycle changes and to support diverse communities.
Increase the proportion of housing in Metropolitan Melbourne to be developed within the
established urban area, particularly at activity centres, employment corridors and at other strategic
sites, and reduce the share of new dwellings in greenfield and dispersed development areas.
Facilitate residential development that is cost-effective in infrastructure provision and use, energy
efficient, incorporates water efficient design principles and encourages public transport use.

Housing diversity (Clause 16.01-4)

It is policy to provide for a range of housing types to meet increasingly diverse needs and to encourage
the development of well-designed medium-density housing which:

Respects the neighbourhood character.
Improves housing choice.
Makes better use of existing infrastructure.
Improves energy efficiency of housing.
Support opportunities for a wide range of income groups to choose housing in well serviced
locations.

Land use and transport planning (Clause 18.01-1)

It is policy to plan urban development to make jobs and community services more accessible by:

Ensuring access is provided to developments in accordance with forecast demand, taking
advantage of all available modes of transport and to minimise adverse impacts on existing
transport networks and the amenity of surrounding areas.

Local Planning Policy Framework (LPPF) and the Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS)

The Local Planning Policy Framework (LPPF) includes the Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) and
Local Policies. The following local planning policies are relevant to this application:

Housing and community (Clause 21.04-1)

Greater Dandenong is forecast to be home to some 16,700 new households by 2031 (as
measured from 2001), according to the Southern Regional Housing Statement (DSE, 2006).
This represents a 36% increase on the number of households compared to 2001.
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Supporting urban consolidation and providing housing in existing areas close to activity centres
means that people do not need to travel as far to work, shop or to take part in sports/leisure
activities thus reducing the environmental impacts of transport.
Increases in housing density must be balanced by adequate provision of open space, good
urban design and improvements to the public realm.
Provision of housing that is adaptable to support the needs of the changing needs of present
and future residents.
Encourage new residential development that incorporates adequate space for the planting and
the long term viability and safe retention of canopy trees.
Respecting valued, existing neighbourhood character both on particular sites and within wider
streetscapes.
Ensuring new development takes into full account the neighbourhood character design guidelines
for each type of building and that such new development positively contributes to the preferred
future neighbourhood character of each particular residential area.
Actively encouraging well designed, medium and higher density housing in strategic locations
and in areas nominated for substantial change.

Urban design, character, streetscapes and landscapes (Clause 21.05-1)

It is policy to facilitate high quality building design and architecture by:

Ensuring building design is consistent with the preferred character of an area and fully integrates
with surrounding environment.
Encouraging high standards of building design and architecture, which allows for flexibility and
adaptation in use.
Encouraging innovative architecture and building design.

It is also policy to protect and improve streetscapes by:

Ensure that new developments improve streetscapes through generous landscape setbacks
and canopy tree planting.
Ensure landscaping within private property that complements and improves the streetscapes
and landscaping of public areas.

Residential Development & Neighbourhood Character Policy (Clause 22.09)

The objectives of this clause are as follows:

To guide the form of residential development that occurs in residential areas throughout Greater
Dandenong, having regard to metropolitan policies and planning policies concerning urban form
and housing, while respecting valued characteristics of residential neighbourhoods throughout
the municipality.
To promote a range of housing types, in appropriate locations, to accommodate the future needs
of the municipality’s changing population.
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To improve the quality and standard of residential development that occurs throughout Greater
Dandenong and the quality, sustainability and standard of on site landscaping provided in
residential developments.
To encourage high quality, creative and innovative design that makes a positive contribution to
the streetscape.
To encourage varied forms and intensities of residential development in appropriate locations
throughout Greater Dandenong, having regard to metropolitan policies promoting urban
consolidation and increased densities, and existing neighbourhood character.
To encourage higher densities and forms of development in preferred strategic locations that
have good access to existing public transport and the Proposed Public Transport Network
(PPTN), commercial, community, educational and recreational facilities.
To ensure that the siting and design of new residential development takes account of its interface
with existing residential development on adjoining sites and responds to the individual
circumstances of its site and streetscape it is located within.
To implement the City of Greater Dandenong Neighbourhood Character Study (Sept 2007).

Clause 22.09-3 provides design guidelines, some of which also relate to the variances to the
requirements of standards to Clause 55 under the schedule to the zone. The guidelines consider
matters such as: housing form; height; bulk; site coverage; permeable site area; front setback; side
and rear setbacks; private open space; car parking; landscaping; and, front boundary treatment. The
application has been assessed against this policy as detailed within the attached Clause 22.09-3
table.

Particular Provisions

Car Parking (Clause 52.06)

Car Parking needs to be considered. The purposes of this provision are:

To ensure that car parking facilities are provided in accordance with:

The State Planning Policy Framework and the Local Planning Policy Framework including
the Municipal Strategic Statement and local planning policies.
Any parking precinct plan.

To provide the opportunity to use parking precinct plans in appropriate locations.
To promote the efficient use of car spaces through the consolidation of car parking facilities.
To ensure the provision of an appropriate number of car spaces having regard to the activities
on the land and the nature of the locality.
To ensure that the design of car parking areas:

Does not adversely affect the amenity of the locality, in particular the amenity of pedestrians
and other road users.
Achieves a high standard of urban design.
Creates a safe environment for users, particularly at night.
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Enables easy and efficient use.
Protects the role and function of nearby roads.
Facilitates the use of public transport and the movement and delivery of goods.

Clause 52.06-1 notes that a new use must not commence or the floor area of an existing use must
not be increased until the required car spaces have been provided on the land.

The required spaces are identified in the table to Clause 52.06-5. Clause 52.06-1 further notes that
a permit may be granted to reduce or waive the number of car spaces required by the table.

The table at Clause 52.06-5 notes that a dwelling with one or two bedrooms requires one (1) car
space. The development accords with that provision. Clause 52.06-5 also sets out that one (1) visitor
car space is to be provided to every 5 dwellings. The development should therefore provide one (1)
visitor car space to comply with that standard.

Car parking is to be designed and constructed in accordance with the requirements of Clause 52.06-9
of the Scheme.

Two or more dwellings on a lot and residential buildings (Clause 55)

Pursuant to Clause 55 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, the provisions of this Clause
apply to an application:

To construct two or more dwellings on a lot; and
To construct a dwelling if there is at least one dwelling existing on the lot

The purpose of this clause is:

To implement the State Planning Policy Framework and the Local Planning Policy Framework,
including the Municipal Strategic Statement and local planning policies.
To achieve residential development that respects the existing neighbourhood character or which
contributes to a preferred neighbourhood character.
To encourage residential development that provides reasonable standards of amenity for existing
and new residents.
To encourage residential development that is responsive to the site and the neighbourhood.

A development:

Must meet all of the objectives of this clause.
Should meet all of the standards of this clause.

An assessment of the application against this policy is contained at the end of this report. This clause
only applies for developments of less than 5 storeys.
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General Provisions

Clause 65 – Decision Guidelines needs to be considered, as is the case with all applications. For this
application the requirements of Clause 65.01 for the approval of an application or plan is of relevance.
This Clause outlines the requirements that the responsible authority must consider when determining
the application.

Proposed Planning Scheme Amendments

The subject site is affected by Part 2 of Amendment C182. The Planning Minister in a letter dated 19
November 2017 detailed that Amendment C182 was to be split into two parts. The Minister approved
Amendment C182 (Part 1) which was gazetted and brought into force on 21 December 2017. Part 1
included all amendments to the residential zones and Clause 22.09 except for the proposed
amendment of areas of Residential Growth Zones (Schedule 1) to Residential Growth Zone (Schedule
3). Part 2 still sits with the Minister who has requested further strategic work must be undertaken
before approval will be given. Part 2 of Amendment C182 remains a seriously entertained document
and as such has statutory weight.

Firstly, Amendment C182 will rezone the Subject Land from the Residential Growth Zone
Schedule 1 (RGZ1) to the Residential Growth Zone Schedule 3 (RGZ3).
Secondly, Amendment C182 has introduced amendments to the RGZ1; and
Thirdly, Amendment C182 has introduced amendments to clause 22.09. It will redraw the
boundaries between Substantial Change Areas and Incremental Change Areas and introduce
Schedule 3 to the Residential Growth Zone.

A copy of the assessment of the proposal against Amendment C182 is included at Attachments 3
and 5.

Restrictive Covenants

There are no restrictions on Title.

Council Plan 2017-2021 – Strategic Objectives, Strategies and Plans

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. In accordance with the commitment in Council’s Annual Plan, all applications are
considered on their merits.

Diversity (Access & Equity)

It is not considered that the proposal raises any diversity issues affecting the planning assessment
of this application.

Community Safety

It is considered that there would be no adverse community safety implications in permitting the
proposal subject to strict conditions on any planning permit issued.
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Safe Design Guidelines

Consideration of the relevant requirements of these Guidelines has been undertaken within the
Assessment of this application.

Referrals

The application was not required to be referred to any external referral authorities pursuant to Section
55 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987.

Internal

The application was internally referred to the following Council Departments for their consideration.
The comments provided will be considered in the assessment of the application.

Internal Referrals

No objectionsAsset Planning

No objections, subject to conditions on permit.Civil Development

No objections, subject to conditions on permit.Transport

No objections, subject to conditions on permit.Waste Services

Raised concerns regarding ramp grades within the basement.
Recommended conditions.

Urban Design

Planning Officer comments:

The ramp grades within the basement are considered in the
assessment against Clause 52.06-9. Further review by Transport
Planning has not revealed any issue with ramp gradients in the
basement.

Advertising

The application has been advertised pursuant to Section 52 of the Planning and Environment Act
1987, by:

Sending notices to the owners and occupiers of adjoining land.
Placing a sign on site facing Joy Parade.

The notification has been carried out correctly.

Council has received two (2) objections to date to the application. Initially three (3) objections were
received, however one was subsequently withdrawn.
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The location of the objectors is shown in Attachment 2.

Consultation

A consultative meeting was held on 14th February 2018, with the applicant, one objector, Councillor
and Council representatives in attendance. Whilst the concerns of one objector (No. 31 Joy Parade)
were resolved with the objection being subsequently withdrawn, the issues raised by the objectors
of No. 16 & 18 Joy Parade stand as received.

Summary of Grounds of Submissions/Objections

The objections are summarised below (bold), followed by the officer’s response (in italics).

Number of dwellings

The officer’s assessment of residential development against the Planning Scheme does not specifically
require the number of dwellings to be assessed but rather whether the proposal would result in an
overdevelopment of the site. The proposal’s compliance with Clause 55 and Clause 22.09 demonstrates
that it would not result in an overdevelopment of the site.

Existing neighbourhood character

The existing neighbourhood is characterized by single storey dwellings developed predominantly in
1950’s-1960’s with high levels of redevelopment occurring towards the Noble Park Activity Centre
within the Residential Growth Zone. Joy Parade is identified within the Substantial Change Area
under Clause 22.09 which anticipates the built form to evolve over time to contain a greater proportion
of medium to high density residential development. The proposal is consistent with the design principles
of Clause 22.09-3.2 for the Substantial Change Area and achieves the objectives set out in Clause
55.

Overloading infrastructure services

The proposal would provide adequate permeability to assist with water runoff as to not overload the
existing infrastructure. Connection and upgrading to service requirements would be outlined by the
relevant authorities at the subdivision stage of the proposed development.

Car parking

The car parking requirement under Clause 52.06-5 requires one car space for each two bedroom
dwelling with one visitor car space to every five dwellings. The proposal would provide ten car spaces
including one visitor car space, satisfying the car parking requirement of Clause 52.06-5 and the
purposes of Clause 52.06. The proposal has been assessed against the design guidelines of Clause
52.06-9 and complies with each guideline directing car parking space and vehicle access requirements.
The development would utilize the existing crossover and vehicle access to the site and does not
reduce the current level of on-street car parking.

Inadequate private open space
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The proposal has been assessed against Clause 55.05-4 which directs the requirements for a
residential dwelling’s private open space. The proposal would comply with the relevant standard and
objective of Clause 55.05-4, providing each dwelling with adequate private open space.

Dwelling diversity

Developments of ten or more dwellings are required to be assessed against Clause 55.02-3which
directsthe requirements for dwelling diversity. Given the proposal is for less than ten dwellings, the
proposal is not required to be assessed against the relevant standard and objective of Clause 55.02-3.
However, it is considered that this proposal will provide for an alternative housing type to the single
storey dwellings that make up a proportion of the dwelling types in this area, and therefore assist in
providing a diversity of dwellings.

Common property management

The common pedestrian pathway and common accessway clearly delineates the public areas within
the development. The front yard would be fenced for Unit 1 to separate the public and private areas.
This ensures that public areas would be maintained by a body corporate and private areas maintained
by the residents.

Safety

The basement car park would be accessed via the driveway from Joy Parade which would have a
sliding gate restricting access. Visitor’s would be required to ‘buzz in’ requesting residents to open
the gate to access the visitor car space within the basement. The details of the sliding gate have not
been provided. The sliding gate must be semi-transparent to enhance passive surveillance between
the site and the street in line with Standard B12 and objective of Clause 55.03-7. This will be required
as a condition of any permit.

The proposal would not provide any security lighting within the common pathway for the safety of
residents, failing to satisfy Standard B12. This would be required as a condition of any permit.

Assessment

Development

State and Local Planning Policy Framework

In considering State and Local Planning Policy, Council can establish that an acceptable proposal
will be guided by Clause 55 Two or more dwellings on a lot and Clause 22.09Residential Development
andNeighbourhoodCharacter of theGreater Dandenong Planning Scheme. Each of these components
ensures that Council facilitates the orderly development of urban areas, which is a specific objective
of Clause 11.02 Settlement.

The objectives of Clause 15.01 Urban Environment and Clause 21.05-1 Built Form outline the key
considerations in which a development must respond to urban design, character, streetscapes and
landscape issues. It is considered that the proposal would provide a high quality building design which
has regard to the surrounding environment, with the proposal presenting articulated building elevations
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to each of the sites interfaces that accommodates adequate setbacks for substantial landscaping.
The proposal’s compliance with Clause 22.09 and Clause 55 ensures that the development would
achieve the objectives of Clause 15.01 and 21.05-1.

Clause 22.09 Assessment

Clause 22.09 directs the preferred character for all residential development within the municipality.
In the assessment of the proposal against the design principles at Clause 22.09-3.1, the development
demonstrates a design response considerate of the site’s context. The proposal also addresses the
design principles of Clause 22.09-3.2 for Substantial Change Areas, including housing type, building
height, bulk and built form and site design. The preferred housing type for Substantial Change Areas
is medium to high density, which is characterised by well designed and site responsive medium to
high density residential developments. This proposal provides a design response which is consistent
with the preferred character envisaged by Clause 22.09-3.2. An assessment against the design
principles of Clause 22.09 is included at Attachment 3 of this report.

Clause 55 Assessment

A Clause 55 Assessment is attached to this report at Attachment 4. Standards that warrant further
consideration are discussed as follows:

Clause 55.03 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme

Relevant objective(s):

To ensure the layout of development provides for the safety and security of residents and
property.

Safety (Standard B12)

The basement car park would be accessed via the driveway from Joy Parade which would have a
sliding gate restricting access. Visitors would be required to request entry to the basement via an
intercom system to gain entry to the visitor car parking space, requesting residents to open the gate
to access the visitor car space. The details of the sliding gate have not been provided. The sliding
gate must be semi-transparent to enhance passive surveillance between the basement and the street
in line with this standard and objective. This will be required as a condition of any permit. (See condition
1.1)

The proposal would not provide any security lighting within the common pathway for the safety of
residents. This would be required as a condition of any permit. (See condition 1.2)

Clause 55.04-1 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme

Relevant objective(s):

To ensure ensure that the height and setback of a building from a boundary respects the existing
or preferred neighbourhood character and limits the impact on the amenity of existing dwellings.

Side and Rear Setbacks (Standard B17)
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The eastern elevation of the development would require a slight variation of the side setback. Diagram
B1 under Clause 55.04-1 has been accurately depicted on the elevations demonstrating a minor
variation of the standard. The variation of the eastern elevation would be acceptable for the
development as it is well within the 13.5 metres height guidelines for the Residential Growth Zone,
satisfying the objective of this clause.

Clause 55.04-6 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme

Relevant objective(s):

To limit views into existing secluded private open space and habitable room windows.

Overlooking (Standard B22)

The minimum height of all screening treatments above Finished Floor Level and Natural Ground
Level (where appropriate) must be annotated and depicted on the elevations to demonstrate
compliance with this standard and objective. This would be required as a condition of any permit.
(See condition 1.3)

Clause 55.05-1 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme

Relevant objective(s):

To encourage the consideration of the needs of people with limited mobility in the design of
developments.

Accessibility (Standard B25)

Each dwelling entry/porch would be directly accessed via the shared pathway. The shared pathway
would be accessed via stairs only and does not consider the needs of people with limited mobility.
The stairs must be converted to include ramp access in order to satisfy this standard and objective,
as a condition of any permit. (See condition 1.4)

Clause 55.06-1 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme

Relevant objective(s):

To encourage design detail that respects the existing or preferred neighbourhood character.

Detailed Design (Standard B31)

The south facing ground floor elevation would have a solid continuous brick wall presented to the
street. This elevation requires further design detail in order to provide a respectful street interface for
the development. This would be required as a condition of any permit. (See condition 1.5)

Corrections

The northern elevation depicts an alternative presentation to the ground floor and first floor plans for
Unit 9 and must be corrected as a condition of any permit. (See condition 1.6)
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Car Parking

Clause 52.06 Assessment

The car parking requirement under Clause 52.06-5 requires one car space for each two bedroom
dwelling with one visitor car space to every five dwellings. The proposal would provide ten car spaces,
one for each dwelling plus one visitor car space within the basement, satisfying the car parking
requirement of Clause 52.06-5 and the purposes of Clause 52.06.

The proposed visitor car space is located within the basement at bay number 2 which is adjacent to
the passing area at the basement entry. The car parking spaces would be designed in accordance
with Clause 52.06-9. The location of the visitor car space abutting the passing area would provide
enhanced manoeuvrability for visitors to the site with swept paths being reviewed by Council’s
Transport Department which did not raise any concerns.

Given that the entrance to the basement is enclosed by a security gate, visitors would be required to
request entry to the basement via an intercom system to gain entry to the visitor car parking space.
The provision of visitor car parking within the basement is acceptable provided that the details of the
intercom system are indicated on the plans as a condition of any permit. (See condition 1.7)

The proposal has been assessed against the design guidelines of Clause 52.06-9 included at
Attachment 4 of this report. The proposal complies with each design guidelines, subject to the
conditions mentioned above.

Proposed Planning Scheme Amendments

The proposal has been assessed against the changes implemented by Part 2 of Amendment C182
provided at Attachments 3 and 5. The proposal would comply with each of the changes satisfying
Council’s future direction for residential development at the subject site.

Conclusion

The proposed development would provide a design response which is consistent with the strategies
and objectives of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, including achieving compliance with the
principles of Clause 22.09 and Clause 55, which demonstrates an appropriate design response for
the site. The proposal would limit amenity impacts on the neighbouring properties thus respecting
the existing character. The site is located within a Substantial Change Area with the proposed
development contributing to the preferred character envisaged by the Planning Scheme. It is for these
reasons that the proposal be recommended for approval.

Recommendation

That Council resolves to issue a Notice of Decision to grant a permit in respect of the land
known and described as No. 29 Joy Parade, Noble Park (Lot 24 PS 010224 Vol 0741 Fol 059),
for the development of the land for a three storey building containing nine (9) dwellings and
a basement car park in accordance with the plans submitted with the application, subject to
the following conditions:
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Before the development starts, amended plans to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority must be submitted to and approved by the Responsible Authority. The
amended plans must be drawn to scale with dimensions and 3 copies must be
provided. The amended plans must be generally in accordance with the plans
submitted and assessed with the application but modified to show:

1.

Details of the operation of the sliding gate to the basement car park, which
must be semi-transparent;

1.1.

Security lighting provided within the shared pathway;1.2

Theminimumheight of all screening treatments above FFL and NGL (where
appropriate) must be annotated and depicted on the elevations, in
accordance with Standard B22;

1.3

The stairs accessing the shared pedestrian pathway converted to a ramp;1.4

The south facing basement facade to be visually treated by way of alternate
materials, inclusion of fenestration, windows/ openings or additional
articulation;

1.5

The northern elevation corrected accurately depicting the ground floor and
first floor layout for Unit 9;

1.6

An intercom system located at the base of the basement ramp to allow
communication between any visitors to the site and the respective
occupant(s);

1.7

A retractable clothing line providedwithin the ground floor areas of secluded
private open space;

1.8

An amended Waste Management Plan prepared by Leigh Design Pty Ltd
on 6 November 2017, amended as follows:

1.9

All waste to be collected via a Council kerbside collection from Joy
Parade;

1.9.1

Residents will have a shared bin service, requiring a central waste
storage area to be provided in an appropriate location adjacent to
the car parking spaces towards the front of the basement car park.

1.9.2

Council recommends the following bins – 4/240 litre general waste
bins & either 5/240 litre recycle bins or 4/360 litre recycle bins. This
will enable the bins to be presented at kerbside for collection. Point
1.3 will need to change to advise a Council collection.

1.9.3

Point 1.4 will be required to reflect the change in service.1.9.4
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Appropriate changes to the waste storage area to provide adequate
ventilation, wash area, and vermin protection.

1.9.5

When approved, these plans will be endorsed and will form part of this permit.

Before the approved development starts, and before any trees or vegetation are
removed, an amended landscape plan to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority
must be submitted to and approved by the Responsible Authority. The amended

2.

landscape plan must be prepared by a person or firm with suitable qualifications to
the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority, drawn to scale with dimensions and
two copies must be provided. The amended landscape plan must be generally in
accordance with the landscape plan submitted with the application but modified to
show:

plans to accord with Condition 1 of this permit;2.1

the site at a scale of 1:100/200, including site boundaries, existing and
proposed buildings, neighbouring buildings, car parking, access and exit
points, indicative topography and spot levels at the site corners, existing
and proposed vegetation, nature strip trees, easements and landscape
setbacks;

2.2

details of the proposed layout, type and height of fencing;2.3

all screening structures, loading bays and refuse collection locations;2.4

legend of all plant types, surfaces, materials and landscape items to be
used including the total areas of garden and lawn;

2.5

a plant schedule giving a description of botanical name, common name,
mature height and spread, pot size, purchase height (if a tree) and individual
plant quantities;

2.6

at least one (1) advanced canopy tree with a minimum planting height of
1.5 metres within the rear secluded open space areas of each dwelling and
within the front yard;

2.7

any paving or deck areas within the secluded open space area of the
proposed dwelling on a permeable base;

2.8

When approved, the amended landscape plan will be endorsed and will form part
of this permit.

The provisions, recommendations and requirements of the landscape plan must be
implemented and complied with to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.
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Landscaping in accordance with the endorsed landscaping plan and schedulemust
be completed before the building is occupied.

At all times, the landscaping must be maintained in good order in accordance with
the endorsed landscape plan and schedule to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the layout of the
land and the size, design and location of the buildings and works permitted must
always accord with the endorsed plan and must not be altered or modified.

3.

Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the approved
building must not be occupied until all buildings and works and the conditions of
this permit have been complied with.

4.

Provision must be made for the drainage of the site including landscaped and
pavement areas, all to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

5.

The connection of the internal drainage infrastructure to the LPD must be to the
satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

6.

Collected stormwater must be retained onsite and discharged into the drainage
system at pre development peak discharge rates as stated in the LPD approval letter.
Approval of drainage plan including any retention system within the property
boundary is required.

7.

Prior to the drainage plans being approved, a plan checking fee of 0.75% and
supervision fee of 2.5% of the estimated cost of works is to be paid to Council.

8.

Before the approved building is occupied, all piping and ducting above the ground
floor storey of the building, except downpipes, must be concealed to the satisfaction
of the Responsible Authority.

9.

Access to the site and any associated roadwork must be constructed, all to the
satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. Standard concrete vehicular crossing/s
must be constructed to suit the proposed driveway/s in accordancewith the Council's

10.

standard specifications. Any vehicle crossing no longer required must be removed
and the land, footpath and kerb and channel reinstated, to the satisfaction of the
Responsible Authority.

Service units, including air conditioning/heating units, must not be located on any
of the balcony areas or where they will be visible from any public area.

11.

Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, floor levels
shown on the endorsed plan/s must not be altered or modified.

12.
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Before the approved building is occupied, the development must be provided with
external lighting capable of illuminating access to each garage, car parking space
and pedestrian walkway. Lighting must be located, directed and shielded to the
satisfaction of the Responsible Authority so as to prevent any adverse effect outside
the land.

13.

Before the approved building is occupied, the obscure glazing to the windows shown
on the endorsed plans must be provided through frosted glass or similarly treated
glass. Adhesive film or similar removable material must not be used.

14.

All glazing must at all times be maintained to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

Before the approved building is occupied, the privacy screens and other measures
to prevent overlooking as shown on the endorsed plans must be installed to the
satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

15.

All privacy screens and other measures to prevent overlooking as shown on the
endorsed plansmust at all times bemaintained to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

Before the approved building is occupied, all boundary walls in the development
must be constructed, cleaned and finished to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

16.

Car spaces, access lanes, loading bays and drivewaysmust bemaintained (including
line marking) and kept available for these purposes at all times.

17.

The operator under this permit must make all reasonable endeavours to ensure that
all vehicles entering and exiting the site should do so in a forward direction, all to
the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

18.

This permit will expire if:-19.

The development or any stage of it does not start within two (2) years of
the date of this permit, or

19.1

The development or any stage of it is not completed within four (4) years
of the date of this permit.

19.2

Before the permit expires or within six (6) months afterwards the owner or occupier
of the land may in writing request the Responsible Authority to extend the expiry
date.
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The owner or occupier of the land may in writing request the Responsible Authority
to extend the expiry date to complete the development or a stage of the development
if:

The request for the extension is made within twelve (12) months after the
permit expires; and

(a)

The development or stage started lawfully before the permit expired.(b)

Permit Notes

A Building Approval is required prior to the commencement of the approved
development. This planning permit does not constitute any building approval.

-

Approval of any retention system within the property boundary is required by the
relevant building surveyor.

-

Before commencement of the development occurs, the applicant should contact
the City of Greater Dandenong’s Civil Development and Design Unit regarding legal
point of discharge, new crossings, building over easements, etc.

-

As this is an established site, the proposed internal drainage should be connected
to the existing legal point of discharge. The applicant may apply for local drainage
information, if available; otherwise on site verification should be undertaken by the
applicant.

-

A Vehicle Crossing Permit must be obtained fromCouncil for all vehicular crossings
prior to construction of the crossings. You may be required to apply for an Asset
Protection Permit fromCouncil’s engineering services. Queries regarding engineering
requirements can be directed to Council’s general phone number on 8571 1000.

-

No buildings or works shall be constructed over any easement without the written
consent of the relevant authorities.

-

This permit has been granted on the basis that consent to build over any easement
will be obtained from the relevant authority. If consent is not able to be obtained,
the development plan will be required to be amended.

An application must be made with Council’s Parks Department for the street tree
removal. The street tree must only be removed by or under the supervision of the
Council. Prior to removal of the tree the replacement cost must be paid to Council.

-
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5309. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5309. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5309. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5309. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5309. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5309. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5309. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5309. 
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Porches, pergolas and 
verandahs that are less than 
3.6m high and eaves may 
encroach not more than 2.5m 
into the setbacks of this 
standard. 

Within the Residential Growth 
Zone schedule: 
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Within the Residential Growth 
Zone schedule: 
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Within all residential zone 
schedules: 
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2.4.2 Town Planning Application - No. 47 French Street, Noble Park (Planning
Application No. PLN17/0417)

142320File Id:

Director City Planning, Design & AmenityResponsible Officer:

Submitted Plans
Location of Petitioners
Clause 22.09 Assessment
Schedule 1 to Clause 32.08 Assessment
Clause 52.06 Assessment
Clause 55 Assessment

Attachments:

Application Summary

Tribeca Group (Aust) Pty LtdApplicant:

To develop the land for six (6) new dwellings comprising five (5)
double storey dwellings to the front and one (1) single storey
dwelling to the rear

Proposal:

General Residential Zone 1Zone:

No Overlays apply to the subject siteOverlay:

PaperbarkWard:

The application proposes to develop the land for six (6) new dwellings comprising five (5) double
storey dwellings to the front and one (1) single storey dwelling to the rear. A permit is required pursuant
to Clause 32.08-6 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme to construct two or more dwellings
on a lot.

Objectors Summary

The application was advertised to the surrounding area through the erection of a notice on-site and
the mailing of notices to adjoining and surrounding owners and occupiers. One (1) objection consisting
of a three (3) signature petition was received to the application. Issues raised generally relate to
matters of overdevelopment, property values, neighbourhood character, noise, overshadowing, loss
of privacy, loss of amenity, parking/traffic and fencing.
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Recommendation Summary

As assessed, the proposal is consistent with and appropriately responds to the provisions of the
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme. The proposal appropriately responds to strategic policy for
residential development in the area with this report recommending that the application be supported,
and a Notice of Decision (which provides appeal rights to objectors) to grant a permit be issued
containing the conditions as set out in the recommendation.
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Subject Site and Surrounds

Subject Site

The subject site is located on the northern side of French Street, Noble Park between Leman Crescent
to the west and Chandler Road to the east. The site is rectangular in shape with a southern frontage
of 22.19 metres along French Street and depth of 68.3 metres. The total site area is approximately
1515.58m².

In relation to its topography the site has an upwards slope of approximately 3.4 metres from the front
to the rear of the site. There are no easements on the subject site.

The subject site is currently occupied by an existing single storey weatherboard dwelling, a galvanised
iron garage and a fibro shed, all of which are to be demolished as part of the development. There is
a single vehicle crossover located towards the eastern side of the southern site frontage. Private
open space is currently provided at the rear of the existing dwelling.

Surrounding Area

Land in the immediate locality is generally used for residential purposes, comprising various types
of accommodation. The housing stock is characterised by single and double storey detached dwellings
of brick or weatherboard construction comprising tiled hipped roofs, in addition to numerous multi
unit developments, ranging in age and style.

Car parking spaces are generally located to the side or rear of the dwellings with access to the sites
generally via a single crossover.

Setbacks range between 4 and 15 metres. The setback of the dwelling abutting the west of the subject
site at 1/45 French Street is 13.5 metres. The setback of the dwelling abutting the east of the subject
site at 1/49 French Street is 6.07 metres.

The subject site is well serviced by existing infrastructure, including local shops at the Heatherton
Road/Chandler Road strip approximately 60 metres to the north-east, the Railway Parade shops 610
metres to the south-east and the Noble Park Major Activity Centre approximately 700 metres to the
west.

It is also serviced by public transport in the form of the 811 (Dandenong to Brighton) bus route which
runs approximately 70 metres to the north along Heatherton Road.

Public Open Space includes Parkfield Reserve (located approximately 500 metres to the north-west),
Mills Reserve (located approximately 600 metres to the west) and Oakwood Park (located
approximately 680 metres to the north-east). Educational facilities include Noble Park Secondary
College approximately 230metres to the south, the AMES and English Language School approximately
520 metres to the south-west and Yarraman Oaks Primary School approximately 570 metres to the
south-east.

Refer to following locality plan for the location of the subject site and its surroundings.
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Locality Plan

Background

Previous Applications

A search of Council records revealed that Council has previously considered the following planning
application for the site:

Planning Permit Application No. PLN13/0812 to develop this site for eight (8) double storey
dwellings was refused under delegation on 17/09/2014 on the following grounds:

1. The proposal is an overdevelopment of the site and is contrary to Clause 22.09-3.2 in that the
two (2) double storey dwellings proposed to the rear of the subject site under this application
would adversely impact upon the immediate character of the neighbourhood and are not in
keeping the existing character of single storey development and open spaces within the rear
backyards of the immediate area, with insufficient space provided within the 1.15 metre rear
setbacks of Dwellings 7 and 8 to provide sufficient landscaping to screen any adverse impacts
on neighbouring properties.
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2. The proposal is contrary to Clause 55.02-1 in that it is not respectful of the existing or preferred
neighbourhood character.

3. The proposal is contrary to Clause 55.03-1 in that the front setbacks for Dwellings 1 and 2 do
not respect the preferred future character of the area with respect to street setbacks.

4. The proposal is contrary to Clause 55.03-10 in that Dwelling 1’s east-facing and Dwelling 2’s
west-facing Meals Room windows have not been setback at least 1.0 metres from the common
accessway which would result in detrimental noise impacts on future residents within these
habitable rooms from passing vehicles within the development.

5. The proposal is contrary to Clause 55.05-4 in that Dwellings 3, 4, 5 and 6 have private
open space areas which are less than 40m² which would result in insufficient secluded private
open space being provided for the future residents of these dwellings.

The application was appealed to the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal and Council’s
refusal was upheld by the Tribunal on 03/06/2015.

Proposal

The application proposes to develop the land for six (6) new dwellings comprising five (5) double
storey dwellings to the front and one (1) single storey dwelling to the rear.

The details of the proposal are as follows:

Details

Multi dwellingsType of proposal

Six (6)Number of dwellings

Double storey – Dwellings 1 to 5Levels

Single Storey – Dwelling 6

8.01 metresMaximum Height

French Street (Dwelling 1) / Shared driveway (Dwellings 2 to 6)Oriented to

Brick at ground floor level and rendered cladding at first floor levelExternal materials

7.5m front southern setback to French Street (Dwelling 1), minimum 1.65m
western side setback (Dwelling 6), minimum 1.5m northern rear setback
(Dwelling 6) and minimum 5.11m eastern side setback (Dwellings 1 to 5).

Set backs

Dwelling 1 – 92.1m² front yard plus 61.2m² backyardOpen space type

Dwelling 2 – 52m² backyard
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Dwelling 3 – 51.5m² backyard

Dwelling 4 – 51.5m² backyard

Dwelling 5 – 51.5m² backyard

Dwelling 6 – 57.2m² backyard

13Number of Car
parking Spaces
provided

13Number of Car
parking Spaces
required

Single garage with a tandem car space in front for each dwelling plus an
on-site visitor car space

Type of car parking
proposed

Access located to the south of the development,Access

Connects to French Street

Minimum width is 2.7 metres for each access

A 1.2 metre high front fence is proposedFront Fence

Garden Area:

530 square metres or 35%Provided

530 square metres or 35%Required

The plans were subsequently amended after advertising pursuant to Section 57A of the Planning
and Environment Act 1987 as follows:

Reduce the width of Dwelling 1’s accessway and the common accessway (in certain sections)
to a minimum 2.7m to provide minimum 1m wide landscaping strips either side of Dwelling 1’s
accessway and the common accessway to ensure that the 35% garden area requirement is
being met.

Revise the upper level internal layouts of Dwellings 3 and 4 so that the third bedroom of these
dwellings is replaced with a sitting area.

A copy of the submitted plans is included as Attachment 1.
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Financial Implications

No financial resources are impacted by this report.

Planning Scheme and Policy Frameworks

Pursuant to the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, a planning permit is required:

To construct two or more dwellings on a lot pursuant to Clause 32.08-6 of the Greater Dandenong
Planning Scheme.

The relevant controls and policies are as follows:

Zoning Controls

The subject site is located in a General Residential Zone, as is the surrounding area.

The purpose of the General Residential Zone outlined at Clause 32.08 is:

To implement the State Planning Policy Framework and the Local Planning Policy Framework,
including the Municipal Strategic Statement and local planning policies.
To encourage development that respects the neighbourhood character of the area.
To encourage a diversity of housing types and housing growth particularly in locations offering
good access to services and transport.
To allow educational, recreational, religious, community and a limited range of other
non-residential uses to serve local community needs in appropriate locations.

Pursuant to Clause 32.08-6, a permit is required to construct two or more dwellings on a lot in a
General Residential Zone.

Overlay Controls

No overlays affect the subject site.

State Planning Policy Framework

The Operation of the State Planning Policy Framework outlined at Clause 10 seeks to ensure
that the objectives of planning in Victoria are fostered through appropriate land use and development
planning policies and practices which integrate relevant environmental, social and economic factors
in the interests of net community benefit and sustainable development.

In order to achieve those objectives, there are a number of more specific objectives contained within
the State Planning Policy Framework that need to be considered under this application.

Settlement (Clause 11)

Settlement is outlined at Clause 11, with Clause 11.02 relating to Urban Growth. Objectives of this
Clause include:
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To ensure a sufficient supply of land is available for residential, commercial, retail, industrial,
recreational, institutional and other community uses.
To facilitate the orderly development of urban areas.
To locate urban growth close to transport corridors and services and provide efficient and effective
infrastructure to create benefits for sustainability while protecting primary production, major
sources of raw materials and valued environmental areas.

Built Environment and Heritage (Clause 15)

Planning should achieve high quality urban design and architecture that:

Contributes positively to local urban character and sense of place.
Reflects the particular characteristics, aspirations and cultural identity of the community.
Enhances liveability, diversity, amenity and safety of the public realm.
Promotes attractiveness of towns and cities within broader strategic contexts.
Minimises detrimental impact on neighbouring properties.

Housing (Clause 16)

Clause 16 – Housing – contains the following relevant objectives:

To promote a housing market that meets community needs
To locate new housing in or close to activity centres and in urban renewal precincts and sites
that offer good access to jobs, services and transport.
To identify areas that offer opportunities for more medium and high density housing near
employment and transport in Metropolitan Melbourne.
To provide for a range of housing types to meet increasingly diverse needs.
To deliver more affordable housing closer to jobs, transport and services.

Clause 16.01-4 – Housing Diversity – contains the following strategies:

Ensure housing stock matches changing demand by widening housing choice, particularly in
the middle and outer suburbs.
Encourage the development of well-designed medium-density housing which:

Respects the neighbourhood character.
Improves housing choice.
Makes better use of existing infrastructure.
Improves energy efficiency of housing.

Support opportunities for a wide range of income groups to choose housing in well serviced
locations.

Clause 18 - Transport
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Clause 18.01-1 - Land use and transport planning – contains the following relevant strategies:

Plan urban development to make jobs and community services more accessible by:

Ensuring access is provided to developments in accordance with forecast demand, taking
advantage of all available modes of transport and to minimise adverse impacts on existing
transport networks and the amenity of surrounding areas.

Local Planning Policy Framework

The Local Planning Policy Framework (LPPF) includes the Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) and
Local Policies.

The MSS is contained within Clause 21 of the Scheme. The MSS at Clause 21.02 focuses on the
Municipal Profile, within which the following is noted:

There is considerable diversity within Greater Dandenong’s housing stock. Most housing stock
is between 30 to 50 years old, though there are some areas with dwellings in excess of 100
years old. Areas of newer housing are located in the north-east and central southern areas, with
in-fill development occurring across the municipality (Clause 21.02-3).
Higher density housing is generally located in proximity to railway stations and major shopping
centres, in particular in central Dandenong (Clause 21.02-3).
Whilst there is a clear pre-dominance of single detached dwellings, there are a range of other
types of dwellings including dual occupancies, villa-units, town houses and apartments. The
highest concentration of older villa units and apartments and more recent multi-unit
redevelopments have occurred around central Dandenong, Springvale and Noble Park activity
centres (Clause 21.02-4).
With diverse cultural groups that call Greater Dandenong home, there are certain distinct precincts
that are emerging that have their own character. Their built form is characterised by buildings
with flat unarticulated facades, prominent balconies, limited frontage/side setbacks, limited or
no landscaping (Clause 21.02-4).

A Vision for Greater Dandenong is outlined at Clause 21.03. The vision is that Greater Dandenong
will be a municipality where housing diversity and choice is promoted in its various attractive
neighbourhoods.

The objectives and strategies of the MSS are under four (4) main themes including: land use; built
form; open space and natural environment; and, infrastructure and transportation (considered
individually under Clauses 21.04 to 21.07). Of particular relevance to this application are Clauses
21.04 – Land Use and 21.05 – Built Form:

Clause 21.04-1 Housing and community

Greater Dandenong’s population is expected to rise by 22 percent, from 147,000 to 179,000 in
the decade to 2024, placing pressure on transport networks, infrastructure, services and public
open space.
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Approximately 9,950 new households will need to be accommodated across the municipality
by 2024 (Greater Dandenong Housing Strategy 2014-2024).

Supporting urban consolidation and providing housing in existing areas close to activity centres
means that people do not need to travel as far to work, shop or to take part in sports/leisure
activities thus reducing the environmental impacts of transport.
Increases in housing density must be balanced by adequate provision of open space, good
urban design and improvements to the public realm.
Encourage the provision of housing that is adaptable to support the needs of the changing needs
of present and future residents.
Encourage innovative redevelopment and renewal of deteriorating housing stock and older styled
higher-density apartments and multi-unit developments.
Encourage new residential development that incorporates adequate space for the planting and
the long term viability and safe retention of canopy trees.
Respecting the valued, existing neighbourhood character within incremental and minimal change
areas.
Requiring medium-density developments to be site and locality responsive and to respect existing
and proposed neighbourhood character.

Clause 21.05-1 – Urban design, character, streetscapes and landscapes – contains

the following relevant objectives and strategies:

To facilitate high quality building design and architecture.

Ensure building design is consistent with the identified future character of an area and fully
integrates with surrounding environment.
Encourage high standards of building design and architecture, which allows for flexibility and
adaptation in use.
Encourage innovative architecture and building design.

To facilitate high quality development, which has regard for the surrounding environment and
built form.

Promote views of high quality landscapes and pleasing vistas from both the public and private
realm.
Promote all aspects of character – physical, environmental, social and cultural.
Encourage planting and landscape themes, which complement and improve the environment.
Encourage developments to provide for canopy trees.
Recognising valued existing neighbourhood character and promoting identified future character
as defined in the Residential Development and Neighbourhood Character Policy at Clause 22.09.

To protect and improve streetscapes
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Ensure that new developments improve streetscapes through generous landscape setbacks
and canopy tree planting.
Ensure landscaping within private property that complements and improves the streetscapes
and landscaping of public areas.

To ensure landscaping that enhances the built environment

Encourage new developments to establish a landscape setting, which reflects the local and
wider landscape character.
Encourage landscaping that integrates canopy trees and an appropriate mix of shrubs and
ground covers and complements and integrates with existing or proposed landscaping in public
areas.

Clause 22.09 – Residential Development & Neighbourhood Character Policy – contains the

following objectives at Clause 22.09-2:

To guide the location and design of different types of residential development within Greater
Dandenong, having regard to State and local planning policies, while respecting the valued
characteristics and identified future character of residential neighbourhoods.
To ensure that new residential development is consistent with the identified future character and
preferred built form envisaged for the three Future Change Areas.
To provide certainty about which areas are identified for, or protected from, increased residential
development consistent with the purpose of the applicable zone.
To facilitate high quality, well designed residential development and on-site landscaping.
To promote a range of housing types to accommodate the future needs of the municipality’s
changing population.
To ensure that residential development uses innovative, responsive and functional siting and
design solutions that:

Achieve high quality internal amenity and private open space outcomes for future residents;
Make a positive contribution to the streetscape through quality design, contextual
responsiveness and visual interest;
Promote public realm safety by maximising passive surveillance.
Demonstrate responsiveness to the site, adjoining interfaces, streetscape and landscape
context;
Respect the amenity of adjoining residents and the reasonable development potential of
adjoining properties;
Achieve environmentally sustainable design outcomes;
Use quality, durable building materials that are integrated into the overall building form and
façade; and
Minimise the visual dominance of vehicle accessways and storage facilities, such as garages,
car ports and basement entrances.
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Clause 22.09-3.1 (Design Principles) provides design principles, which apply to all Future

Change Areas.

Clause 22.09-3.3 (Incremental Change Areas) provides design principles, some of which

also relate to the variances to the requirements of standards to Clause 55 under the

schedule to the General Residential Zone. The guidelines are as follows:

Preferred housing type – The preferred housing type for the Incremental Change Area is medium
density.
Building Height – The preferred maximum building height for land within the GRZ1 and GRZ2
is up to 2 storeys, including ground level.
Landscaping – Residential development should use landscaping to create a landscaped character,
particularly canopy trees in front and rear gardens; and to protect the outlook of adjoining
properties.
Setbacks, front boundary and width – Parking, paving and car access within the front boundary
setback should be limited in order to maximise the opportunity for soft landscaping and prevent
the over dominance of carport and garages in the street.
Private Open Space – Residential development should provide secluded private open space at
the side or rear of each dwelling to avoid the need for excessive screening or high front fencing.
Bulk – Residential development should:

Ensure that the built form respects the scale of existing prevailing built form character and
responds to site circumstances and streetscape;
Provide separation between dwellings at upper level;
Retain spines of open space at the rear of properties to maximise landscaping opportunities
and protect private secluded open space;
Position more intense and higher elements of built form towards the front and centre of a
site, transitioning to single storey elements to the rear of the lot.

The rearmost dwelling on a lot should be single storey to ensure the identified future character
of the area and the amenity of adjoining properties is respected by maximising landscaping
opportunities and protecting adjoining private secluded open space.

Two storey dwellings to the rear of a lot may be considered where:

The visual impact of the building bulk does not adversely affect the identified future character
of the area;
Overlooking and/or overshadowing does not adversely affect the amenity of neighbouring
properties;
The building bulk does not adversely affect the planting and future growth of canopy trees
to maturity;
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Sufficient side and rear boundary landscaping can be provided to screen adjoining
properties;
Upper storey components are well recessed from adjoining sensitive interfaces.

Residential development should be well articulated through the use of contrast, texture,
variation in forms, materials and colours.

Particular Provisions

Car Parking

The purposes of this provision, Clause 52.06, are:

To ensure that car parking is provided in accordance with the State Planning Policy Framework
and Local Planning Policy Framework.
To ensure the provision of an appropriate number of car parking spaces having regard to the
demand likely to be generated, the activities on the land and the nature of the locality.
To support sustainable transport alternatives to the motor car.
To promote the efficient use of car parking spaces through the consolidation of car parking
facilities.
To ensure that car parking does not adversely affect the amenity of the locality.
To ensure that the design and location of car parking is of a high standard, creates a safe
environment for users and enables easy and efficient use.

Clause 52.06-2 notes that a new use must not commence or the floor area of an existing use must
not be increased until the required car spaces have been provided on the land.

The required spaces are identified in the table to Clause 52.06-5. Clause 52.06-3 further notes that
a permit may be granted to reduce or waive the number of car spaces required by the table.

The table at Clause 52.06-5 notes that a dwelling with 1 or 2 bedrooms requires 1 car space, and a
dwelling with 3 or more bedrooms requires 2 spaces to each dwelling.

Car parking is to be designed and constructed in accordance with the requirements of Clause 52.06-9
and 52.06-11 of the Scheme.

Two or more dwellings on a lot and residential buildings

Pursuant to Clause 55 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme, the provisions of this Clause
apply to an application:

To construct two or more dwellings on a lot.

The purposes of this clause are:

To implement the State Planning Policy Framework and the Local Planning Policy Framework,
including the Municipal Strategic Statement and local planning policies.
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To achieve residential development that respects the existing neighbourhood character or which
contributes to a preferred neighbourhood character.
To encourage residential development that provides reasonable standards of amenity for existing
and new residents.
To encourage residential development that is responsive to the site and the neighbourhood.

A development:

Must meet all of the objectives of this clause.
Should meet all of the standards of this clause.

If a zone or a schedule to a zone specified a requirement of a standard different from a requirement
set out in this clause, the requirement in the zone or a schedule to the zone applies.

General Provisions

Clause 65 – Decision Guidelines needs to be considered, as is the case with all applications. For this
application the requirements of Clause 65.01 for the approval of an application or plan is of relevance.
This Clause outlines the requirements that the responsible authority must consider when determining
the application.

Council Plan 2017-2021 – Strategic Objectives, Strategies and Plans

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. In accordance with the commitment in Council’s Annual Plan, all applications are
considered on their merits.

Diversity (Access & Equity)

It is not considered that the proposal raises any diversity issues affecting the planning assessment
of this application.

Community Safety

It is considered that there would be no adverse community safety implications in permitting the
proposal.

Referrals

External

The application was not required to be referred to any external referral authorities.
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Internal

Advice/ Response/ ConditionsInternal Council
Referral

No objection, subject to conditions.Civil Development

No objection, subject to relevant notes being placed on permit.Asset Planning

No objection, subject to conditions.Transport

Advertising

The application has been advertised pursuant to Section 52 of the Planning and Environment Act
1987, by:

Sending notices to the owners and occupiers of adjoining and surrounding land.
Placing a sign on site facing French Street.

The notification has been carried out correctly.

Council has received one (1) objection comprising three (3) petitioners to the application

The location of the petitioners is shown in Attachment 2.

Consultation

A consultative meeting was held on 07/02/2018 with the applicant, head petitioner and Council
representatives (Councillors and officers) in attendance. The issues were discussed at length, however
there was no resolution and the objection stands as received.

Summary of Grounds of Submissions/Objections

The objections are summarised below, followed by the Town Planner’s Response (in italics).

Overdevelopment

The objecting petitioners are concerned that the proposal to develop six (6) dwellings on a 1,515m²
lot would be well above the density represented by nearby properties at 39 French Street which only
has two (2) dwellings on the lot and 45 and 49 French Street both of which have four (4) dwellings
each.

Whilst it is noted that the sites referenced by the petitioners contain fewer dwellings than proposed
on the subject site it is also noted that there are other similarly sized sites which are already permitted
to have the same number of dwellings or even more than what is proposed under this application.
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The site at 37 French Street has an approval for six (6) dwellings (approved under Planning Permit
PLN15/0673), whilst the site at 43 French Street has approval for seven (7) dwellings (approved
under Planning Permit PLN17/0588).

Furthermore, the proposed development has been assessed against the requirements of Clause
22.09 and Clause 55 of the Greater Dandenong Planning and demonstrates a high level of compliance.

Therefore it is considered that the proposed development is not an overdevelopment of the subject
site.

Property values

The petitioners are concerned that the value of their properties would be reduced due to their proximity
to the proposed development.

The Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal has determined on numerous occasions that property
values are not a valid planning ground upon which Responsible Authorities can rely to refuse a
planning permit application.

Neighbourhood character

The petitioners are concerned that the proposed development would not respect existing development
on adjoining properties or the incremental change area the site is located within.

The proposed development has been assessed against the requirements of Clauses 22.09-3.1 and
22.09-3.3 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme and is considered to comply with Council’s
Residential Development and Neighbourhood Character Policy, particularly as it relates to Incremental
Change Areas.

Noise

The petitioners are concerned that noise from construction associated with the proposed development
as well as noise from future residents and their vehicles would disturb the existing residents of adjoining
properties.

With respect to noise from construction, this is covered by EPA Guidelines and would need to be
complied with as part of the construction process. Noise from any future residents and their vehicles
is not expected to be greater than that typically experienced from residential development in a
residential area.

Overshadowing

The petitioners are concerned that the proposed development would overshadow their properties.

The shadow diagrams provided with the application show that the proposed development would not
overshadow the petitioner’s properties at 9.00am or 12.00pm (noon) and would only slightly
overshadow the backyards of the petitioner’s properties at 3.00pm. The proposal is therefore
considered to comply with the overshadowing requirements of Clause 55 of the Planning Scheme.
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Loss of privacy

The petitioners are concerned that the east-facing upper level windows of the proposed development
would overlook their properties, resulting in a loss of privacy.

It is noted that a number of windows have been identified as having translucent glass on the upper
floor plan. However this has not been reflected on the elevations. It is noted that there is a notation
on the elevations which states that all east, south and west facing first floor habitable room windows
are to have either fixed external screens or fixed obscure glazing or sill heights a minimum of 1.7m
above finished floor level. This can be required to be shown on the windows as a condition of permit,
if granted.

Loss of amenity

The petitioners are concerned that the proposed development would take away from the sense of
place and cultural identity and the amenity of external parties.

It is considered that the proposed development would be consistent with other medium density
development which have been approved along French Street and would not detract from the sense
of place, cultural identity or amenity of adjoining properties.

Parking and traffic

The petitioners are concerned that the proposed development has provided insufficient onsite car
parking which would result in an increase to on-street car parking.

Dwellings 1, 2, 5 and 6 can be provided with two (2) car parking spaces which satisfies the requirement
of Clause 52.06 for dwellings with three or more bedrooms. Dwellings 3 and 4 can be provided with
one (1) car space each which satisfies the requirement for two bedroom dwellings. An on-site visitor
car parking space is also proposed which is required for development of between 5 and 10 dwellings.

Fencing

The petitioners are concerned that the boundary fence between the subject site and their properties
is dilapidated and requires replacement.

Whilst generally matters with respect to fencing are a civil matter between adjoining property owners
under the Fencing Act it is considered reasonable to include a condition requiring a new fence to be
provided along the eastern boundary of the subject site at the developer’s cost.

Assessment

The subject site is located within an established residential area and appears to be well suited for
medium density housing given that the site is located in within easy walking distance of many
community facilities.

As required by the General Residential Zone that applies to this site, the proposed development has
been assessed against the provisions of Clause 55 of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme and
Schedule 1 to the General Residential Zone. The use of the land for accommodation (dwellings) is
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as of right. An assessment against Clause 55 is included at Attachment 6 of this report. The proposed
development has also been assessed against Clause 22.09 and Clause 52.06 of the Greater
Dandenong Planning Scheme. The proposal complies with all requirements of these clauses except
in the following instances:

Clause 52.06 – Car Parking

In relation to car parking, the requirements of Clause 52.06 of the scheme apply. The application has
been assessed against the design standards of Clause 52.06-8 as per the table attached to this
report. The proposal complies with Clause 52.06 except in the following instances:

Clause 52.06-5 – Number of car parking spaces required under Table 1

Dwelling – 1 to each one or two bedroom dwelling, plus 2 to each three or more bedroom dwelling
(with studies or studios that are separate rooms counted as a bedroom) plus 1 for visitors to every 5
dwellings for developments of 5 or more dwellings.

Dwellings 3 and 4 are proposed to be two (2) bedroom dwellings and only one (1) car parking space
is required for each, however they have both been shown with two (2) car parking spaces each in
the form of a single garage with a tandem car parking space in front.

The car parking spaces associated with Dwelling 6 require space to reverse into so that they can exit
the site in a forward direction. Therefore the tandem car parking spaces to Dwellings 3 and 4 should
be removed as a condition of permit, if granted, as each dwelling is to be provided with a single garage
which is sufficient for these two (2) bedroom dwellings.

Dwellings 1 and 6 are proposed to be three (3) bedroom dwellings, and whilst two (2) cars are shown
for each dwelling, the tandem car parking spaces need to be identified as having a length of 4.9m
and a width of 2.6m and a minimum setback of 0.5m from their respective garages. This can be
required as a condition of permit, if granted.

Design Standard 1 – Accessways

If the accessway serves four or more car spaces or connects to a road in a Road Zone, the
accessway must be designed so that cars can exit the site in a forward direction.

The swept paths provided on the ground floor plan indicate that vehicles associated with Dwelling 6
using the common accessway would need to reverse into part of the tandem car parking spaces of
Dwellings 4 and 5 in order to exit in a forward direction.

Dwelling 4’s tandem car space can be removed as a condition of permit, if granted, as a second car
space is not required for a two bedroom dwelling. Council’s Transport Planners have advised that
Dwelling 4’s garage should be relocated so that it is setback 8.7m from the eastern boundary. This
would prevent a second car being parked in front of Garage 4 and provide additional room for vehicles
associated with Dwelling 6 to turn and exit the site in a forward direction. This can be required as a
condition of permit, if granted.
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Provide a passing area at the entrance at least 6.1 metres wide and 7 metres long if the
accessway serves ten or more car parking spaces and is either more than 50 metres long or
connects to a road in a Road Zone.

Have a corner splay or area at least 50 per cent clear of visual obstructions extending at least
2 metres along the frontage road from the edge of an exit lane and 2.5 metres along the exit
lane from the frontage, to provide a clear view of pedestrians on the footpath of the frontage
road. The area clear of visual obstructions may include an adjacent entry or exit lane where
more than one lane is provided, or adjacent landscaped areas, provided the landscaping in those
areas is less than 900mm in height.

A passing area is not required as only nine (9) car parking spaces will access the common accessway
once the tandem car parking spaces to Dwellings 3 and 4 are deleted via conditions of permit, if
granted.

Council’s Transport Planners have advised that Dwelling 4’s garage should be relocated so that it is
setback 8.7m from the eastern boundary. This would prevent a second car being parked in front of
Garage 4. Dwelling 3’s garage could also be setback 8.7m from the eastern boundary to prevent a
second car being parked in front of this garage.

The required corner splays have not been shown for Dwelling 1’s accessway on the plans. This can
be required as a condition of permit, if granted.

Design Standard 2 – Car Parking Spaces

Car parking spaces and accessways must have the minimum dimensions as outlined in Table 2.

The visitor car space and the tandem car spaces to Dwellings 2 and 5 have lengths of 4.9m and
widths of 2.6m which would suffice if the adjoining common accessway to each of these spaces had
a width of 6.4m. However the adjoining common accessway to each of these spaces has a width of
5.4m. Therefore the car space width should be increased to 2.9m for each of these car spaces as a
condition of permit, if granted.

Car spaces in garages or carports must be at least 6 metres long and 3.5 metres wide for a single
space and 5.5 metres wide for a double space measured inside the garage or carport.

Dwelling 1’s garage is shown with a length of 5.9m. This should be increased to a minimum of 6m
as a condition of permit, if granted.

Where parking spaces are provided in tandem (one space behind the other) an additional 500mm in
length must be provided between each space.

This can be required for the tandem car parking spaces to Dwellings 1, 2, 5 and 6 as a condition of
permit, if granted.

Clause 55 – Two or More Dwellings on a Lot and Residential Buildings.

Clause 55.04-2 – Walls On Boundaries Objective
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To ensure that the location, length and height of a wall on a boundary respects the existing or
preferred neighbourhood character and limits the impact on the amenity of existing dwellings.

Standard B18 states that:

The height of a new wall constructed on or within 200mm of a side or rear boundary or carport
constructed on or within 200mm of a side or rear boundary should not exceed an average of 3.2
metres with no part higher than 3.6 metres unless abutting a higher existing or simultaneously
constructed wall.

Dwelling 1’s western garage wall which is proposed to be built on the boundary is proposed to have
a maximum wall height of 4.48m and a minimum wall height of 4.31m for an average of 4.4m, which
is considered to be excessive.

This should be reduced to a maximum of 3.6m and an average of 3.2m as a condition of permit, if
granted.

Clause 55.04-6 – Overlooking Objective

To limit views into existing secluded private open space and habitable room windows.

Standard B22 states that:

A habitable room window, balcony, terrace, deck or patio should be located and designed to avoid
direct views into the secluded private open space of an existing dwelling within a horizontal distance
of 9 metres (measured at ground level) of the window, balcony, terrace, deck or patio. Views should
be measured within a 45 degree angle from the plane of the window or perimeter of the balcony,
terrace, deck or patio, and from a height of 1.7 metres above floor level.

A habitable room window, balcony, terrace, deck or patio with a direct view into a habitable room
window of existing dwelling within a horizontal distance of 9 metres (measured at ground level) of
the window, balcony, terrace, deck or patio should be either:

Offset a minimum of 1.5 metres from the edge of one window to the edge of another.
Have sill heights of at least 1.7 metres above floor level.
Have fixed, obscure glazing in any part of the window below 1.7 metre above floor level.

Have permanently fixed, external screens to at least 1.7 metres above floor level and be no
more than 25 per cent transparent.

Obscure glazing in any part of the window below 1.7 metres above floor level may be openable
provided that there are no direct views as specified in this standard.

It is noted that a number of windows have been identified as having translucent glass on the upper
floor plan. However this has not been reflected on the elevations. It is noted that there is a notation
on the elevations which states that all east, south and west facing first floor habitable room windows
are to have either fixed external screens or fixed obscure glazing or sill heights a minimum of 1.7m
above finished floor level. This can be required to correctly state that all east, north and west facing
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first floor habitable room windows are to have either fixed external screens or fixed obscure glazing
or sill heights a minimum of 1.7m above finished floor level and to be shown on the windows as a
condition of permit, if granted.

Conclusion

The application has been assessed against the relevant sections of the Greater Dandenong Planning
Scheme, including the State and Local Planning Policy Framework, Municipal Strategic Statement
as set out in this assessment. It is considered that the application complies with these policies and
it is therefore recommended that the proposal is approved by way of Notice of Decision to Grant a
Planning Permit.

Recommendation

That Council resolves to issue a Notice of Decision to grant a permit in respect of the land
known and described as 47 French Street, Noble Park to develop the land for six (6) new
dwellings comprising five (5) double storey dwellings to the front and one (1) single storey
dwelling to the rear in accordance with the plans submitted with the application subject to the
following conditions:

Before the development starts, amended plans to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority must be submitted to and approved by the Responsible Authority. The
amended plans must be drawn to scale with dimensions and 3 copies must be
provided. The amended plans must be generally in accordance with the plans
submitted and assessed with the application but modified to show:

1.

Corner splays for Dwelling 1’s accessway as per Design Standard 1 of
Clause 52.06-9.

1.1

The internal length of Dwelling 1’s garage increased to a minimum of 6m.1.2

The height of Dwelling 1’s garage reduced to a maximum of no more than
3.6m and an average of no more than 3.2m.

1.3

The width of the visitor’s car space and the tandem car spaces to Dwellings
2 and 5 increased to 2.9m.

1.4

The removal of the tandem car parking spaces for Dwellings 3 and 4 with
the garage of Dwelling 3 and 4 to be relocated so that they are setback 8.7m
from the eastern boundary.

1.5

The tandem car parking spaces to Dwellings 1, 2, 5 and 6 to have aminimum
distance of 0.5m between each space and their respective garages.

1.6
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The second car for Dwellings 1 and 6 to be shown within a 4.9m long by
2.6m wide tandem car parking space a minimum of 0.5m from the southern
side of Garages 1 and 6.

1.7

All east, north (rather than south) and west-facing upper level habitable
roomwindows to have their method of screening (i.e. fixed external screens,
fixed obscure glazing or minimum 1.7m sill heights above finished floor
level) shown on the respective elevations.

1.8

The visitor’s car space and the tandem car spaces to Dwellings 2, 5 and 6
to be 3.2m wide adjacent to car doors as per Diagram 1 to Clause 52.06.

1.9

Landscape plans in accordance with Condition 2.1.10

All to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

When approved, these plans will be endorsed and will form part of this permit.

Before the approved development starts, and before any trees or vegetation are
removed, an amended landscape plan to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority
must be submitted to and approved by the Responsible Authority. The amended

2.

landscape plan must be prepared by a person or firm with suitable qualifications to
the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority, drawn to scale with dimensions and
3 copies must be provided. The amended landscape plan must be generally in
accordance with the landscape plan submitted with the application but modified to
show:

plans to accord with Condition 1 of this permit;2.1

the site at a scale of 1:100/200, including site boundaries, existing and
proposed buildings, neighbouring buildings, car parking, access and exit
points, indicative topography and spot levels at the site corners, existing
and proposed vegetation, nature strip trees, easements and landscape
setbacks;

2.2

details of the proposed layout, type and height of fencing;2.3

legend of all plant types, surfaces, materials and landscape items to be
used including the total areas of garden and lawn;

2.4
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a plant schedule giving a description of botanical name, common name,
mature height and spread, pot size, purchase height (if a tree) and individual
plant quantities;

2.5

at least one (1) advanced canopy tree with a minimum planting height of
1.5 metres within the rear secluded open space areas of each dwelling and
within the front yard;

2.6

any paving or deck areas within the secluded open space area of the
proposed dwelling on a permeable base.

2.7

When approved, the amended landscape plan will be endorsed and will form part
of this permit.

The provisions, recommendations and requirements of the landscape plan must be
implemented and complied with to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

Landscaping in accordance with the endorsed landscaping plan and schedulemust
be completed before the building is occupied.

Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the layout of the
land and the size, design and location of the buildings and works permitted must
always accord with the endorsed plans and must not be altered or modified.

3.

Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, the approved
dwellings must not be occupied until all buildings and works and the conditions of
this permit have been complied with.

4.

Provision must be made for the drainage for proposed development including
landscaped and paved areas, all to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

5.

The connection of the internal drainage infrastructure to the Legal Point of Discharge
(LPD)must be to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. Collected stormwater
must be retained onsite and discharged into the drainage system at pre development

6.

peak discharge rates as stated in the LPD approval letter. Approval of drainage plan
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including any retention system within the property boundary is required. Prior to
the drainage plans being approved, a plan checking fee of 0.75% and supervision
fee of 2.5% of the estimated cost of works is to be paid to Council.

Before the approved dwellings are occupied, all piping and ducting above the ground
floor storey of the building, except downpipes, must be concealed to the satisfaction
of the Responsible Authority.

7.

Access to the site and any associated roadwork must be constructed, all to the
satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. Note all existing vehicle crossing will
need to be removed and reinstate with kerb in accordance with Council Standards.

8.

Except with the prior written consent of the Responsible Authority, floor levels
shown on the endorsed plan/s must not be altered or modified.

9.

Before the approved dwellings are occupied, the development must be provided
with external lighting capable of illuminating access to each garage, car parking
space and pedestrian walkway. Lighting must be located, directed and shielded to
the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority so as to prevent any adverse effect
outside the land.

10.

Before the approved dwellings are occupied, the obscure glazing to the windows
shown on the endorsed plans must be provided through frosted glass or similarly
treated glass. Adhesive film or similar removable material must not be used.

11.

All glazing must at all times be maintained to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

Before the approved dwellings are occupied, any privacy screens and/or other
measures to prevent overlooking as shown on the endorsed plansmust be installed
to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

12.
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Any privacy screens and other measures to prevent overlooking as shown on the
endorsed plansmust at all times bemaintained to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

Before the approved dwellings are occupied, all boundary walls in the development
must be constructed, cleaned and finished to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

13

Before the approved dwellings are occupied, a new replacement fence along the
eastern boundary of the subject site must be provided at the developer’s cost, all
to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

14

This permit will expire if:-15

The development or any stage of it does not start within two (2) years of
the date of this permit, or

15.1

The development or any stage of it is not completed within four (4) years
of the date of this permit.

15.2

Before the permit expires or within six (6) months afterwards the owner or occupier
of the land may in writing request the Responsible Authority to extend the expiry
date.

The owner or occupier of the land may in writing request the Responsible Authority
to extend the expiry date to complete the development or a stage of the development
if:

the request for the extension is made within twelve (12) months after the
permit expires; and

(a)

the development or stage started lawfully before the permit expired.(b)

Permit notes
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The property is identified to be subject to flooding inmajor rain events. An application
for Report and Consent for Flooding is required. Infrastructure Planning is to be
contacted to confirm the minimum finished floor level (FFL) of the proposed
development.

-

Any works undertaken within the road reservation and easements will require the
developer to obtain a Civil Works Permit from Council.

-

Prior to works commencing the developer will need to obtain an Asset Protection
Permit from Council.

-

The site is subject to uncontrolled overland flow through the property.-

A flood dispensation is to be obtained prior to issue of Building Permit.-

The minimum finished floor level of the proposed Units are as follows:-

Unit 1 – RL 48.80m;

Unit 2 – RL 49.30m;

Unit 3 – RL 49.70m;

Unit 4 – RL 49.90m;

Unit 5 – RL 50.40m; and

Unit 6 – RL 50.70m.

All levels are to AHD.

A Building Approval is required prior to the commencement of the approved
development. This planning permit does not constitute any building approval.

-

Approval of any retention system within the property boundary is required by the
relevant building surveyor.

-
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Before commencement of the development occurs, the applicant should contact
the City of Greater Dandenong’s Civil Development and Design Unit regarding legal
point of discharge, new crossings, building over easements, etc.

-

As this is an established site, the proposed internal drainage should be connected
to the existing legal point of discharge. The applicant may apply for local drainage
information, if available; otherwise on site verification should be undertaken by the
applicant.

-

A Vehicle Crossing Permit must be obtained fromCouncil for all vehicular crossings
prior to construction of the crossings. You may be required to apply for a Asset
Protection Permit fromCouncil’s engineering services. Queries regarding engineering
requirements can be directed to Council’s general phone number on 8571 1000.

-

No buildings or works shall be constructed over any easement without the written
consent of the relevant authorities.

-

This permit has been granted on the basis that consent to build over any easement
will be obtained from the relevant authority. If consent is not able to be obtained,
the development plan will be required to be amended.

An application must be made with Council’s Parks Department for any street tree
removal. Street trees must only be removed by or under the supervision of the
Council. Prior to removal of any tree the replacement cost must be paid to Council.

-
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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Porches, pergolas and verandahs that are 
less than 3.6m high and eaves may encroach 
not more than 2.5m into the setbacks of this 
standard. 

Within the General Residential Zone 
schedule:
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Within the General Residential Zone schedule: 
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Within all residential zone schedules: 
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2.4.3 Town Planning Application - No. 9-11 Patrona Street, Dandenong (Planning
Application No. PLN17/0106.01)

316760File Id:

Director City Planning Design & AmenityResponsible Officer:

Submitted Plans
Location of Objectors
Existing Planning Permit

Attachments:

Application Summary

Taha Humanity Association of VictoriaApplicant:

Amendment to Planning Permit PLN17/0106 to change what the
permit allows and conditions of permit to include the embalming of
bodies and an increase in storage capacity of deceased persons

Proposal:

Industrial 1 ZoneZone:

No Overlays applicableOverlay:

Red Gum WardWard:

This application has been brought before the Council because it has received six (6) objections during
the advertising process.

Planning Permit PLN17/0106.01 was issued on 07/08/2017 for the use of the land for the purpose of
a Place of Assembly. Plans were subsequently endorsed to the permit on the same date.

The applicant has applied for an amendment to Planning Permit PLN17/0106 under Section 72 of
the Planning and Environment Act 1987. Pursuant to Section 72(1) a person who is entitled to use
or develop land in accordance with a permit may apply to the responsible authority for an amendment
to the permit.

Pursuant to Section 73(1) and (1)(a)an amendment to the permit is treated as if the application were
an application for a permit. As such, all third party rights apply.

Specifically, the amendment application seeks the following:

To amend the permit preamble to allow the embalming and preparation of deceased persons
(defined as the art and science of preserving human remains by treating them (in its modern
form with chemicals) to forestall decomposition);
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To amend the permit by adding an additional condition to ensure that the maximum number of
persons to attend the site for viewings remain consistent with Condition 2, which allows a
maximum of 75 people to be on the site at any time.
To amend the previously endorsed plans to use the rear outbuilding as the embalming/preparation
area.

Objectors Summary

The application was advertised to the surrounding area through the erection of one (1) on-site notice
and the mailing of notices to adjoining and surrounding owners and occupiers. Six (6) objections were
received to the application. Issues raised generally relate to matters of:

Use of land as a Funeral Parlour;
Traffic, parking and congestion;
Industrial noise;
Decrease in property value;
The use is not appropriate in an industrial area;
The use was to only be for a place of assembly;
External public address system noise.

Assessment Summary

The key issue in relation to this application is the appropriateness of allowing the preparation
(embalming) and viewing of bodies within the rear outbuilding of the existing place of assembly.

The existing place of assembly is currently operated by the Taha Humanity Association of Victoria
who are a not for profit organisation, providing services (such as language classes, refugee and
disability services , cultural and social activities and the like) to those in need.

Council officers consider that the proposed amendments as listed above are reasonable, in that the
additional use for the preparation of bodies would not result in any adverse amenity impacts to the
site or surrounding land, and is not a significant departure from the purpose of the Industrial zone
that is located within.

The applicant has indicated that the amendments would not result in a change of total persons to the
site or hours of operation, and as such, there would be no change in the current car parking
considerations, which have been reviewed by Council’s Transport Planning department.

The existing outbuilding has sufficient space available for loading and unloading of deceased persons
to be undertaken internally, so as to not impact the amenity of the surrounding area.

The use, whilst being atypical, is a legitimate one and considered to be acceptable within the Industrial
1 Zone.
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Recommendation Summary

As assessed, the proposal is consistent with and appropriately responds to the provisions of the
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme. The proposal appropriately responds to strategic policy for
commercial/industrial type land uses with this report recommending that the application be supported,
and that a Notice of Decision (which provides appeal rights to objectors) to Grant an Amended
Permit be issued containing the conditions as set out in the recommendation.
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Subject Site and Surrounds

Subject Site

The subject site is rectangular in shape with a north-south orientation, and a total site area of
1,449sqm.
The site contains a double storey building to the front of the site used as a Place of Assembly
for the Taha Humanity Association.
The site contains an outbuilding to the rear (north-western corner) of the site, which is the subject
location for the proposed preparation/embalming use. The outbuilding is 10m (w) x 11.2m (l)
with a total area of 112sqm.
The site affords twenty-two (22) car parking spaces located to the rear of the site.
The site has two (2) existing crossovers to Patrona Street, noting that the crossover to the
western side of the frontage is the only one currently being utilised.
The site frontage affords two (2) street trees and some small shrubbery within the setback area.

Surrounding Area

The surrounding uses are characterised by a mixture of industrial and commercial land uses.
Building design is as expected for an established industrial and commercial area, with a mixture
of brick, cement and cladding buildings with a varied front setback along the street, and car
parking located predominantly within the front setback.
The site is located approximately 1km to the Dandenong Central Business District.
The industrial estate is serviced by the Princes Highway approximately 100m to the south.
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Locality Plan

Background

Previous Applications

A search of Council records revealed that Council has previously considered the following planning
applications for the site:

PLN14/0703: Issued 23/01/2015 for the development of the land for an industrial building. Plans
were endorsed to the permit on 06/02/2015.
PLN17/0106: Issued 07/08/2017 for the use of the land for the purpose of a Place of Assembly.
Plans were endorsed to the permit on the same date

Proposal

The existing place of assembly is currently operated by the Taha Humanity Association of Victoria
who are a not for profit organisation, providing services (such as language classes, refugee and
disability services , cultural and social activities and the like) to those in need.
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The application proposes to Amend Planning Permit PLN17/0106 under Section 72 of the Planning
and Environment Act 1987, by way of the following:

A. Amend what the Permit allows (preamble)

From: “The use of the land for the purpose of a Place of Assembly”

To: “The use of the land for the purpose of a Place of Assembly, including the embalming and preparing
of bodies for burial and cremation, (not a funeral parlour) in accordance with the endorsed plans”

Council officers find that the proposed preamble fails to include some key elements that would be
necessary for the use. A more appropriate preamble (in lieu of the above) is noted as follows:

To: “The use of the land for the purpose of a Place of Assembly, including the preparation (embalming)
and temporary storage of deceased persons”.

The revised preamble would allow for the embalming process to occur, with temporary storage
available to store deceased persons onsite for a period of time as necessary. Further conditions of
permit would reflect these proposed changes.

B. Addition of new Condition 3

New condition as proposed by applicant: “The maximum number of persons permitted to attend the
use of the land for the purpose of embalming and preparing bodies for burial and cremation, at any
one time, must comply with Condition 2 of this permit, unless with the written consent of the
Responsible Authority”.

To provide consistency with the above preamble, Council find that the proposed condition should
reflect the preamble and remove reference to ‘for burial and cremation’. In addition, Council officers
find that the condition is aimed to allow viewing on site. As such a more appropriate condition 3 (in
lieu of the above) is noted as follows:

New condition as proposed by officers: “The maximum number of persons permitted to attend the
use of the land for the viewing of bodies, at any one time, must comply with Condition 2 of this permit,
unless with the written consent of the Responsible Authority”

It is noted that the existing Condition 2 states that no more than seventy-five (75) persons shall be
permitted on the site at any time, unless with the further written consent of the Responsible Authority.
This condition is not subject to change, noting that the 75 person capacity will remain as is.

Note: existing conditions 3 to 9 renumbered 4 to 10, with the expiry condition renumbered to 21 in
light of new conditions 11 to 20.

C. Amend Endorsed Plans

To: use the rear outbuilding for the embalming, preparing and potential storage of deceased persons.

The applicant has noted that the rear outbuilding (approved under PLN14/0703) is currently vacant.
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A copy of the submitted plans is included as Attachment 1.

Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

The Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities has been considered in the preparation
of this report but is not relevant to its contents.

Financial Implications

No financial resources are impacted by this report.

Planning Scheme and Policy Frameworks

The applicant has applied for an amendment to Planning Permit PLN17/0106 under Section 72 of
the Planning and Environment Act 1987. Pursuant to Section 72(1) a person who is entitled to use
or develop land in accordance with a permit may apply to the responsible authority for an amendment
to the permit.

The relevant controls and policies are as follows:

Zoning Controls

The subject site is located within an Industrial 1 Zone, as is the surrounding area.

The purpose of the Industrial 1 Zone outlined at Clause 33.01 is:

To implement the State Planning Policy Framework and the Local Planning Policy Framework,
including the Municipal Strategic Statement and local planning policies.
To provide for manufacturing industry, the storage and distribution of goods and associated uses
in a manner which does not affect the safety and amenity of local communities.

Overlay Controls

No overlays affect the subject site or surrounding area.

State Planning Policy Framework

The Operation of the State Planning Policy Framework outlined at Clause 10 seeks to ensure
that the objectives of planning in Victoria are fostered through appropriate land use and development
planning policies and practices which integrate relevant environmental, social and economic factors
in the interests of net community benefit and sustainable development. The objectives of Planning
in Victoria are noted as:

a. To provide for the fair, orderly, economic and sustainable use, and development of land.

b. To provide for the protection of natural and man-made resources and the maintenance of
ecological processes and genetic diversity.
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c. To secure a pleasant, efficient and safe working, living and recreational environment for all
Victorians and visitors to Victoria.

d. To conserve and enhance those buildings, areas or other places which are of scientific, aesthetic,
architectural or historical interest, or otherwise of special cultural value.

e. To protect public utilities and other facilities for the benefit of the community.

f. To facilitate development in accordance with the objectives set out in paragraphs (a), (b), (c),
(d) and (e).

g. To balance the present and future interests of all Victorians.

In order to achieve those objectives, there are a number of more specific objectives contained within
the State Planning Policy Framework that need to be considered under this application.

Economic Development outlined at Clause 17 seeks to ensure that planning provides for a strong
and innovative economy, where all sectors of the economy are critical to economic prosperity.

In addition, planning is to contribute to the economic well-being of communities and the State as a
whole by supporting and fostering economic growth and development by providing land, facilitating
decisions, and resolving land use conflicts, so that each distract may building on its strength and
achieve its economic potential.

The objective outlined atClause 17.01-1 forBusiness seeks to encourage development which meets
the communities’ needs for retail, entertainment, office and other commercial services and provides
net community benefit in relation to accessibility, efficient infrastructure use and the aggregation and
sustainability of commercial facilities.

The objective outlined atClause 17.02-1 for Industrial land development seeks to ensure availability
of land for industry.

Infrastructure outlined at Clause 19 seeks to recognise social needs by providing land for a range
of accessible community resources, such as cultural and community support facilities.

The objective outlined at Clause 19.02-3 for Cultural facilitates seeks to develop a strong cultural
environment and increase access to arts, recreation and other cultural facilities.

Local Planning Policy Framework

The Local Planning Policy Framework (LPPF) includes the Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) and
Local Policies.

The MSS is contained within Clause 21 of the Scheme. The MSS at Clause 21.02 focuses on the
Municipal Profile, within which the following is noted:

Greater Dandenong is a net provider of jobs, with a resident workforce of 53,000, and local
businesses providing approximately 74,000 jobs. Greater Dandenong businesses provide the
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third highest number of jobs in Metropolitan Melbourne, with the employment sector largely
orientated towards manufacturing occupations.
Central Dandenong is one of the largest retail and commercial centres in metropolitan Melbourne.
Its local and regional role needs to be protected and promoted.
Greater Dandenong has a broad and robust economic base. Reported annual constructed costs
in the industrial/commercial/retail sector, exceeded $190 million in the year to June 2006. In
2006, 48,000 residents of Greater Dandenong were in paid work, with manufacturing and retail
employment accounting for 28 percent and 12 percent of jobs respectively.

A Vision for Greater Dandenong is outlined at Clause 21.03. Council’s vision includes the following
of relevant to the current application:

A nationally and internationally competitive city; a pre-eminent industrial centre for Melbourne’s
south-east with a significant high-tech/knowledge industrial component; a centre for government,
multi-national investment and employment; vibrant commercial and retail sector and a state of
the art inter-modal transport interchange for south eastern Victoria.
A well balanced satisfied community, which has easy and equitable access to services important
to people’s everyday life.

The objectives and strategies of the MSS are under four (4) main themes including: land use; built
form; open space and natural environment; and, infrastructure and transportation (considered
individually under Clauses 21.04 to 21.07). Of particular relevance to this application is Clause 21.04
Land Use within which the following objectives are of relevance to the current application:

To provide development, employment and industrial opportunities, which cater for a broad range
of industries.
To facilitate new investment, development and redevelopment.
To protect industrial zones for industrial activity.
To ensure industrial uses do not impact adversely on the amenity and safety of surrounding land
uses and the environment.

Particular Provisions

The provisions outlined at Clause 52.06 for Car Parking need to be considered. The purpose of this
provision are:

To ensure that car parking is provided in accordance with the State Planning Policy Framework
and Local Planning Policy Framework.
To ensure the provision of an appropriate number of car parking spaces having regard to the
demand likely to be generated, the activities on the land and the nature of the locality.
To support sustainable transport alternatives to the motor car.
To promote the efficient use of car parking spaces through the consolidation of car parking
facilities.
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To ensure that car parking does not adversely affect the amenity of the locality.
To ensure that the design and location of car parking is of a high standard, creates a safe
environment for users and enables easy and efficient use.

Pursuant to Clause 52.06-2 before:

A new use commences; or
The floor area or site area of an existing use is increased; or
An existing use is increased by the measure specified in Column C of Table 1 in Clause 52.06-5
for that use,

the number of car parking spaces required under Clause 52.06-5 must be provided to the satisfaction
of the responsible authority.

As the primary use of the land for a Place of Assembly will be maintained, the provisions of Clause
52.06 do not apply. It is noted that a total of 22 car parking spaces are provided on-site, which is
reflective of the total persons allowed on the land at any given time at 75.

This amendment will not seek any changes to the total number of persons to the land.

General Provisions

Clause 65 – Decision Guidelines needs to be considered, as is the case with all applications. For this
application the requirements of Clause 65.01 for the approval of an application or plan is of relevance.
This Clause outlines the requirements that the responsible authority must consider when determining
the application.

Restrictive Covenants

Covenant 1371829 is recorded on the title to the land. The covenant prohibits excavation or removal
of earth, clay, stone, gravel or sand from the land and the use of the land for the manufacturing or
wining or bricks tiles or pottery ware.

The amended permit sought will not result in a breach of the covenant.

Council Plan 2017-2021 – Strategic Objectives, Strategies and Plans

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. In accordance with the commitment in Council’s Annual Plan, all applications are
considered on their merits.

Diversity (Access & Equity)

It is not considered that the proposal raises any diversity issues affecting the planning assessment
of this application.
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Community Safety

It is considered that there would be no adverse community safety implications in permitting the
proposal.

Safe Design Guidelines

Consideration of the relevant requirements of these Guidelines has been undertaken within the
Assessment of this application.

Referrals

The application was not required to be referred to any external referral authorities pursuant to Section
55 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987.

Internal

The application was internally referred to Council’s Transport Planning, Civil Development, Health
and Waste as well as Cleansing departments for their considerations. The following comments have
been noted below:

Comments and recommendationsDepartment

No objection to car parking rate, however, seeking an extension to
the accessway 1 metre beyond the last parking bays (spaces 9 and
10) in accordance with AS/NZS 2890.1.

Transport Planning

Planner’s response: A review of the plan and aerial photography
indicates that as constructed, car parking spaces 9 and 10 are
positioned hard to the boundary. The proposal does not seek to
amend the car parking area, which will remain as previously approved
under PLN17/0106.

No objection, subject to conditionsCivil Development

No objectionHealth

No objectionWaste and Cleansing

Advertising

The application has been advertised pursuant to Section 52 of the Planning and Environment Act
1987, by:

Sending notices to the owners and occupiers of adjoining and surrounding land.
Placing a sign on the site facing Patrona Street.

Page 182

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.4.3 Town Planning Application - No. 9-11 Patrona Street, Dandenong (Planning Application No.
PLN17/0106.01) (Cont.)



The notification has been carried out correctly.

Council has received six (6) objections to date.

The location of the objectors is shown in Attachment 2.

Consultation

A consultative meeting was held on 15/02/2018 with the applicant, objectors and a Council
representative in attendance. Whilst the issues were discussed at length there was no resolution and
the objections/submissions stand as received.

Summary of Grounds of Submissions/Objections

The objections are summarised below (bold), followed by the Town Planner’s Response (in italics).

Use of land as a Funeral Parlour.

An objection has been raised that the land will be used as a Funeral Parlour. This is not considered
the case, noting that the rear outbuilding will only be used for the preparation and embalming of
deceased persons, with viewings to occur. This is fundamentally different from a funeral parlour land
use which is typically used to organise and conduct funerals, memorial services, or the like. The
proposed use sought will not include these services from the land, with conditions to further reinforce
this sentiment.

The total number of persons allowed on the site at any given time is not subject to change as part of
this amendment, with the applicant proposing a new condition indicating that any viewings to the land
must still be in accordance with the total number of persons allowed on the site at any given time.

Traffic, parking and congestion.

An objection has been raised that the proposed use would result in additional traffic, parking and
congestion issues on an already difficult street. As noted under the Clause 52.06 provisions above,
the use of the land and the total number of persons allowed on the site at any given time is not subject
to change as part of this amendment. Therefore, car parking numbers will be maintained, with no
additional spaces required. Council’s Transport Planning department have not raised further concern
with respect to street congestion or the like.

Industrial noise.

An objection has been raised that the proposed use would be affected by the surrounding industrial
noise of the area. Council note that industrial noise emissions are commonplace, however find that
the proposed use of land for embalming and preparation of bodies would not be sensitive to noise
emissions, and will be appropriately housed within an existing outbuilding to further limit any noise
impacts.

Decrease in property value.
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An objection has been raised that the proposed use would affect property values in the surrounding
area. It is noted that commercial disadvantage is not a planning consideration, and no further
deliberation is necessary.

The use is not appropriate in an industrial area.

An objection has been raised that the proposed use is not appropriate in an industrial area. Council
in the past has previously approved a number of similar uses primarily within the Industrial 1 Zone
and Commercial 2 Zone, which are considered to be the appropriate zone for these types of uses.
The use, whilst being atypical, is a legitimate operation, and considered to be acceptable within the
Industrial 1 Zone.

The use was to only be for a place of assembly.

An objection has been raised that the proposed use was only to be for a place of assembly (community
centre). Whilst this was originally the case an applicant can certainly apply to amend a permit under
Section 72 under the Planning and Environment Act 1987 to alter the use. The relevant considerations
will then be undertaken to determine whether the use is appropriate for the site. In this instance,
Council find that it would be appropriate for the site.

External public address system noise

An objection has been raised that the existing Place of Assembly is using external public address
system to display public messages and music and it is affecting the amenity of the area. A condition
of permit currently states that no external public address system is to be installed or operated on the
site. This is a planning compliance issue, with any complaints raised to be enforced as appropriate.

Assessment

The proposed amendments have been assessed against the relevant provisions of the Greater
Dandenong Planning Scheme, including the purpose and intent of the Industrial 1 Zone. Council
officers find that the proposed use and subsequent amendments to conditions are acceptable, and
would not result in any impact to the amenity of adjoining or surrounding land.

An assessment against each individual amendment sought is provided below:

A. Amend what the Permit allows (preamble)

The applicant is requesting the permit preamble (which outlines what the permit allows) be altered
to include the embalming of bodies for preservation.

The embalming process as outlined above is essentially defined as the art and science of preserving
human remains by treating them (in its modern form with chemicals) to forestall decomposition.

Whilst the original use was for a Place of Assembly, the applicant has indicated that the Taha Humanity
Association seek to provide this additional service to the community to assist with funeral expenses
for members of the community.
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The amendment sought would not alter the use to a funeral parlour, noting that no services, memorials,
wakes or the like would be held on the land, but the applicant is seeking viewings of deceased persons
prior to burial offsite. In addition, the proposed use would be within an outbuilding to the rear of the
site, away from the street, and all internal to the building to minimise any amenity impacts. The plans
suggest that there would be space available for two (2) deceased persons at any one time.

Council officers find that the additional use is considered acceptable within the Industrial 1 Zone,
where these types of uses may be established, and would seek to apply additional conditions to
restrict the new use, which will be discussed further below. The amended preamble will read as:

The use of the land for the purpose of a Place of Assembly, including the preparation (embalming)
and temporary storage of deceased persons

Whilst this is a variation of what the applicant sought, this wording is considered to bemore appropriate,
and should the application be approved, this preamble will be reflected in any amended permit.

B. Addition of new Condition 3

The applicant is requesting that a new Condition 3 be applied to the permit to state the following:

Themaximum number of persons permitted to attend the use of the land for the purpose of embalming
and preparing bodies for burial and cremation, at any one time, must comply with Condition 2 of this
permit, unless with the written consent of the Responsible Authority

Council officers find this condition to be reasonable, noting that the overall number of persons allowed
on the site (a total of 75 at any given time) as controlled by Condition 2 will remain unchanged, and
that any viewings held must still be in accordance with the permit. However, as noted above, Council
seek to provide consistency with the proposed preamble and find that the proposed condition should
reflect the preamble and remove reference to ‘for burial and cremation’. In addition, Council officers
find that the condition is aimed to allow viewing on site. As such, a more appropriate condition 3 (in
lieu of the above) is noted as follows:

The maximum number of persons permitted to attend the use of the land for the viewing of bodies,
at any one time, must comply with Condition 2 of this permit, unless with the written consent of the
Responsible Authority.

C. Amend Endorsed Plans

The applicant has requested that the endorsed plan be amended to use the rear outbuilding on the
site as the embalming/preparation area. The amended plans reflect the amendments sought, and
detail the internal arrangements of the outbuilding, indicating that they would be fitted out appropriately
to manage the preparation and embalming of bodies.

D. Additional Recommendations

Council officers have recommended that a number of additional permit conditions and notes be
imposed as a result of the amendment sought. These are noted as follows:
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Condition 11: With the exception of viewing of bodies only, no funeral services, memorials, or
any other similar activity such as services/activities which include the accompaniment of the
deceased person and/or the inclusion of a funeral cortege shall be conducted on or from the
site.
Condition 12: There must be no more than two (2) deceased persons stored on site at any time
and such deceased persons must be stored within the cool room at all times.
Condition 13: No deceased persons must be stored on the site for longer than five (5) days after
embalming occurs.
Condition 14: The loading and unloading of deceased persons must be carried out entirely within
the outbuilding and in a manner so as not to be seen from outside the building, all to the
satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.
Condition 15: Themanagement of wastemust be in accordance with the Environmental Protection
Authority Clinical and Related Waste – Operational Guidance guideline.
Condition 16: All wastes must be disposed of to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority
and no liquid waste or polluted waters shall be discharged into a sewer or stormwater drainage
system.
Condition 17: The operator of the facility must provide biological bins for containment of solid
waste.
Condition 18: Provision must be made for the drainage for proposed development including
landscaped and paved areas, all to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.
Condition 19: The connection of the internal drainage infrastructure to the Legal Point of Discharge
(LPD) must be to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.
Condition 20: Collected stormwater must be retained onsite and discharged into the drainage
system at pre development peak discharge rates as stated in the Legal Point of Discharge (LPD)
approval letter. Approval of drainage plan including any retention system within the property
boundary is required.
Note point 3: Prior to works commencing the developer will need to obtain an Asset Protection
Permit from Council.
Note point 4: The applicant is advised to contact South East Water as they may need a Trade
Waste Agreement

These additional conditions are consistent with previous approvals granted for similar uses and seek
to appropriately manage the use, effluent/waste and drainage on the land.

Car Parking

In accordance with Clause 52.06-5, a Place of Assembly has a car parking rate of 0.3 car parking
spaces to each patron permitted on the site.

The land has a total of 22 car parking spaces provided to the rear of the site, which is reflective of
the total persons allowed on the land at any given time at 75 (as controlled under Condition 2 of the
permit).

This amendment will not seek any changes to the total number of persons to the land, and as such
no additional car parking spaces are required and the proposal complies with Clause 52.06.
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Conclusion

As discussed within the Assessment section of this report, the amendment seeks to alter the permit
preamble, add a new Condition 3 and amend the previously endorsed plans with Council officers
also seeking to apply new conditions relating to the management of the use, waste and drainage of
the land. Overall Council officers find that the proposal complies with the relevant provisions of the
Planning Scheme with the following recommendations outlined below.

It is recommended that the following amendments to the permit be made:

RecommendationPermit detail

Amend to: The use of the land for the purpose of a Place of Assembly, including
the preparation (embalming) and temporary storage of deceased persons

Permit preamble

New condition: The maximum number of persons permitted to attend the use
of the land for the viewing of bodies, at any one time, must comply with Condition
2 of this permit, unless with the written consent of the Responsible Authority.

New Condition 3

Amend plans to use the rear outbuilding for the embalming/preparation of
deceased persons

Amended
Endorsed Plans

Condition 11: With the exception of viewing of bodies only, no funeral services,
memorials, or any other similar activity such as services/activities which include
the accompaniment of the deceased person and/or the inclusion of a funeral
cortege shall be conducted on or from the site.

New conditions
11, 12, 13, 14,
15, 16, 17, 18, 19
and 20.

Condition 12: There must be no more than two (2) deceased persons stored
on site at any time and such deceased persons must be stored within the cool
room at all times.

Condition 13: No deceased persons must be stored on the site for longer than
five (5) days after embalming occurs.

Condition 14: The loading and unloading of deceased persons must be carried
out entirely within the outbuilding and in a manner so as not to be seen from
outside the building, all to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

Condition 15: The management of waste must be in accordance with the
Environmental Protection Authority Clinical and Related Waste – Operational
Guidance guideline.

Condition 16: All wastes must be disposed of to the satisfaction of the
Responsible Authority and no liquid waste or polluted waters shall be discharged
into a sewer or stormwater drainage system.

Condition 17: The operator of the facility must provide biological bins for
containment of solid waste.
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Condition 18: Provisionmust bemade for the drainage for proposed development
including landscaped and paved areas, all to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

Condition 19: The connection of the internal drainage infrastructure to the Legal
Point of Discharge (LPD) must be to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

Condition 20: Collected stormwater must be retained onsite and discharged into
the drainage system at pre development peak discharge rates as stated in the
Legal Point of Discharge (LPD) approval letter. Approval of drainage plan
including any retention system within the property boundary is required.

Note point 3: Prior to works commencing the developer will need to obtain an
Asset Protection Permit from Council.

Note point 4: The applicant is advised to contact South East Water as they may
need a Trade Waste Agreement

Existing conditions 3 to 9 renumbered 4 to 10Renumbered
conditions

Existing expiry condition 11 renumbered to 21

Recommendation

That Council resolves to issue a Notice of Decision to grant a permit in respect of the land
known and described as 9-11 Patrona Street DANDENONG VIC 3175, for the purpose of the
use of the land for the purpose of a Place of Assembly, including the preparation (embalming)
and temporary storage of deceased persons in accordance with the plans submitted with the
application subject to the following conditions:

The layout of the site, and size, design and location of the buildings and works
permitted must always be in accordance with the endorsed plan/s unless with the
written consent of the Responsible Authority.

1.

No more than seventy-five (75) persons shall be permitted on the site at any time,
unless with the further written consent of the Responsible Authority.

2.

The maximum number of persons permitted to attend the use of the land for the
viewing of bodies, at any one time, must comply with Condition 2 of this permit,
unless with the written consent of the Responsible Authority.

3.

The use must only operate during the following hours:4.

Monday to Sunday – 8am to 10pm.4.1.

Unless with the further written consent of the Responsible Authority.
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Before the use of the land commences, areas set aside for parked vehicles and
access lanes as shown on the endorsed plans must be line-marked to indicate each
car space and all access lanes. Parking areas and access lanes must be kept
available for these purposes at all times, to the satisfaction of the Responsible
Authority.

5.

Goods, materials, equipment and the like associated with the use of the land must
not be displayed or stored outside of the building in view of the public.

6.

The amenity of the areamust not be detrimentally affected by the use or development
on the land, through the:

7.

Transport of materials, goods or commodities to and from the land.7.1.

Appearance of any buildings and works.7.2.

Emission of noise, artificial light, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, vapour,
steam, soot, ash, dust, waste water, waste products, grit or oil.

7.3.

Activities of persons to and from the site.7.4.

All to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

No external public address system shall be installed or otherwise operated on the
site, unless with the further written consent of the Responsible Authority.

8.

Bins or other receptacles for any form of rubbish or refuse must not be placed or
allowed to remain in view of the public and offensive smell must not be emitted from
any such receptacle.

9.

The site shall be kept in a neat and tidy condition at all times, all to the satisfaction
of Responsible Authority.

10.

With the exception of viewing of bodies only, no funeral services, memorials, or any
other similar activity such as services/activities which include the accompaniment
of the deceased person and/or the inclusion of a funeral cortege shall be conducted
on or from the site.

11.

There must be no more than two (2) deceased persons stored on site at any time
and such deceased persons must be stored within the cool room at all times.

12.

No deceased persons must be stored on the site for longer than five (5) days after
embalming occurs.

13.

The loading and unloading of deceased persons must be carried out entirely within
the outbuilding and in a manner so as not to be seen from outside the building, all
to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

14.
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Themanagement of wastemust be in accordance with the Environmental Protection
Authority Clinical and Related Waste – Operational Guidance guideline.

15.

All wastes must be disposed of to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority and
no liquid waste or polluted waters shall be discharged into a sewer or stormwater
drainage system.

16.

The operator of the facility must provide biological bins for containment of solid
waste.

17.

Provision must be made for the drainage for proposed development including
landscaped and paved areas, all to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

18.

The connection of the internal drainage infrastructure to the Legal Point of Discharge
(LPD) must be to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority.

19.

Collected stormwater must be retained onsite and discharged into the drainage
system at pre development peak discharge rates as stated in the Legal Point of
Discharge (LPD) approval letter. Approval of drainage plan including any retention
system within the property boundary is required.

20.

This permit will expire if:21.

The use does not start within two (2) years of the date of this permit, or,21.1.

The use is discontinued for a period of two (2) years.21.2.

Before the permit expires or within three (3) months afterwards the owner or occupier
of the land may in writing request the Responsible Authority to extend the expiry
date.

Permit notes

Except where no permit is required under the provisions of the Planning Scheme,
no sign, flashing or intermittent lights, bunting or advertising devicemay be erected
or displayed on the land without the permission of the Responsible Authority

Prior to the erection of any advertising signs on the land, consultation should be
made with officers of the Town Planning Department to determine the relevant
Planning Scheme Controls.

Prior to works commencing the developer will need to obtain an Asset Protection
Permit from Council.

The applicant is advised to contact South East Water as they may need a Trade
Waste Agreement.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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PLN17/0106.01) (Cont.)



If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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2.5 FINANCE AND BUDGET

2.5.1 Supplementary Valuation Return 2018-3/4/5

A4883313File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Supplementary Valuation List 2018-3/4/5.Attachments:

Report Summary

Council’s contract valuer ProVal (Vic) Pty Ltd have assessed Supplementary Valuation Returns
2018-3, 2018-4 and 2018-5 that comprises a combined total of 695 supplementary valuations.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that Council note the new valuations in Supplementary Valuation Returns
2018-3, 4 and 5.
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Background

Supplementary valuations are carried out from time to time to reflect the variation in valuation of
properties in between General Valuations of the municipality. Supplementary valuations may be made
for any of the circumstances referred to in Section 13DF of the Valuation of Land act 1960 and are
to be assessed as at the date prescribed for the current valuation of the municipality ie 1 January
2016. Supplementary valuations in this report have been formally processed and have received
certification from the Valuer General. The new values are applied when certification is received.

Proposal

It is proposed that Council note the new valuations listed in Supplementary Valuation Return 2018-5.

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’ and Council Plan 2017-2021 – Strategic Objectives,
Strategies and Plans

This report has been made in consideration of the Council Plan and Strategic Objectives.

Financial Implications

Supplementary valuations in the following Returns are mostly effective from the following dates:

2018-3 effective from 1 November 2017 – net supplementary increase is $214,000.
2018-4 effective from 1 January 2018 – net supplementary increase is $233,000.
2018-5 effective from 1 March 2018 – net supplementary increase is negligible.

The 2017-18 Annual Mid Year Budget for supplementary rate income is $1,000,000. The year to date
supplementary rates, which includes amounts generated from the above returns, is approximately
$1,370,000.

Consultation

The Valuer General Victoria has been notified of the supplementary adjustments and has forwarded
a copy of the Return to the State Revenue Office and to South East Water. The Valuer General has
advised Council that it has certified the supplementary valuations.

Conclusion

It is recommended that Council note the new valuations in Supplementary Valuation Returns 2018-3,
4 and 5.

Recommendation

That Council note the new valuations in Supplementary Valuation Returns 2018-3, 4 and 5.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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2.6 POLICY AND STRATEGY

2.6.1 Planning SchemeAmendment C201 - Environmentally Sustainable Development
- Consideration of Submissions and Planning Panel

File Id:

Director City Planning Design & AmenityResponsible Officer:

Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme
Amendment C201, Explanatory Report
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme
Amendment C201, Summary of Submissions

Attachments:

Report Summary

This report considers the 193 submissions received to the statutory exhibition of Greater Dandenong
Planning Scheme Amendment C201 – Environmentally Sustainable Development. This includes an
officer response to the submissions for Council’s consideration.

The report seeks a Council resolution to note the above and to refer the unresolved submissions to
an independent Planning Panel Hearing.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that Council receive the submissions in relation to Amendment C201 and
resolve to continue the statutory process of the amendment by requesting the Minister for Planning
to appoint an independent Planning Panel and refer the unresolved submissions to a Planning Panel
Hearing.
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Background

In accordance with the Council meeting of resolution of 11 September 2017, Amendment C201
(Environmental Sustainable Development Policy) to the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme was
formally exhibited and submissions sought from 12 February 2018 - 9 March 2018.

The Amendment (as exhibited) proposes to introduce a Local Planning Policy to the Greater
Dandenong Planning Scheme to ensure that development achieves best practice in environmental
sustainability, from the design stage through to construction and operation.

More specifically, as detailed in the Explanatory Report (Attachment 1) the Amendment proposes to:

Introduce a new Clause 22.06 Environmentally Sustainable Development (ESD) into the Local
Planning Policy Framework of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme; and
Changes the Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) at Clause 21.05 (MSS) to reflect the
introduction of Clause 22.06.

The Policy proposes to introduce the following objectives to be satisfied where applicable:

Energy Performance
Water Resources
Indoor Environment Quality
Stormwater Management
Transport
Waste Management
Urban Ecology

The proposed policy also sets out application requirements and dependent on the scale of the
development, an applicant needs to demonstrate how the relevant policy objectives will be achieved
by completing either a Sustainable Design Assessment (SDA) or a Sustainability Management Plan
(SMP).

Submissions

A total of 193 submissions were received with 188 of those (97%) being variations of a pro-forma
submission. The pro-forma submissions appear to have been created by a member of the community
using a website that allows anyone to create custom online forms. Hard copies of the same pro-forma
submissions were also created and signed by individuals. Of the 188 pro-forma submissions, 124
were online and 64 were hard copy.

On initial analysis, the submissions can be broken down as follows:

3% (non pro-forma) submissions support the amendment;
97% (pro-forma) submissions support the amendment with changes.

Page 233

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.1 Planning Scheme Amendment C201 - Environmentally Sustainable Development - Consideration
of Submissions and Planning Panel (Cont.)



The submissions in support of the amendment were received from:

City of Wyndham
City of Darebin
City of Knox
Municipal Association of Victoria
CASBE - Council Alliance for a Sustainable Built Environment

A breakdown of the pro-forma submissions supporting the amendment with changes by suburb is
approximately:

54% owner/occupiers from Dandenong and Dandenong North
7% owner/occupiers from Noble Park
11% owner/occupiers from Springvale
11% owner/occupiers from Keysborough

The remaining submitters were from outside the City of Greater Dandenong (17%).

Attachment 2 provides a summary of each different type of submission. Themain request by submitters
was that the amendment was not ambitious enough such that the policy should apply to residential
development of at least three dwellings or more (87 per cent), or all residential development (12 per
cent), or all development types (1 per cent). NB: There were no submissions received in relation to
the non-residential aspects of proposed Planning Scheme Amendment C201.

As outlined in a previous report to Council on 11 September 2017 the proposed triggers for amendment
C201 include:

Residential

Development of 5 to 9 dwellings to submit a Sustainable Design Assessment (SDA)
Development of 10 or more dwellings to submit a Sustainability Management Plan (SMP)

Non-residential

Development with a Gross Floor Area (GFA) of 1,000 to 2,499m2 to submit a Sustainable Design
Assessment (SDA).
Development with a Gross Floor Area (GFA) of more than 2,500m2 to submit a Sustainability
Management Plan (SMP).

Proposal

Section 23 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 governs the process for a planning authority
to progress a planning scheme amendment.
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After considering submissions which request a change to the amendment, the planning authority
(Council) has the following options:

1. Change the amendment as requested in the submissions and proceed to ask the Minister for
Planning to approve it in a modified form;

2. Ask the Minister for Planning to appoint an independent panel to review the submissions, conduct
a public hearing, consider the amendment, and prepare an independent report with
recommendations about the amendment for Council to consider; or

3. Abandon the amendment.

While officers acknowledge the request of submitters to amend trigger levels, which would result in
more residential developments being subject to this local policy, increasing the number of applications
that are subject to the local policy would have an unmanageable impact on workload levels. This
would be to the detriment of not only applications subject to the local policy, but all planning applications
submitted to Council, due to the significant time delays that would likely result.

Based on the residential and non-residential trigger levels as exhibited in the local policy, officers
anticipate that approximately 115 additional days of staff resources would be required each year to
process the requirements of the local policy. This is an increase from the 80 days of staff resources
at present, to implement ESDmeasures for residential development of 10 or more dwellings (including
non-residential development). It is considered that this resourcing is manageable within existing
staffing resources.

If the residential trigger levels were increased, the resourcing needs to meet such increases are well
above the available resources to implement this policy. For instance, the estimated staff resourcing
required to meet the increased residential triggers (inclusive of non-residential requirements) is as
follows:

3 or more residential dwellings: 164 additional days (or additional 0.63 FTE staff at a cost of
$51,500 per annum)
2 or more residential dwellings: 217 additional days (or additional 0.83 FTE staff at a cost of
$67,854 per annum)
1 or more residential dwellings: 293 additional days (or additional 1.12 FTE staff at a cost of
$91,563 per annum)

Officers considered the trigger levels extensively when developing this policy, with a focus on obtaining
the most benefit possible from ESD measures while also ensuring it could realistically be resourced.
In considering this, officers also sought to ensure that all existing sustainability functions and projects
could continue, and that the planning permit process was not unduly further delayed.

As such, officers are recommending that no further changes bemade to Amendment C201 as a result
of the submissions, and therefore Option 1 is not considered appropriate. Furthermore, it is
recommended that Council does not abandon the amendment, Option 3, given the strategic work
that has been already undertaken and the range of benefits that this local policy provides. Furthermore,
the progression of the amendment fulfils a number of commitments made in long term corporate and
strategic plans.

Page 235

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.1 Planning Scheme Amendment C201 - Environmentally Sustainable Development - Consideration
of Submissions and Planning Panel (Cont.)



Therefore, it is considered appropriate for Council to refer the submissions requesting a change to
Amendment C201 to a Planning Panel and hence, officers recommend Option 2. This option and
process provides further opportunity for submitters to be heard on the matter. It should be noted that
none of the submitters indicated whether they would like to present their submission before a Panel
or not.

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’ and Council Plan 2017-21 – Strategic Objectives,
Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted to see
for themselves and the City in 2030, the result was the Greater Dandenong Community Plan ‘Imagine
2030’. This report is consistent with the following community visions:

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’

People

Pride – Best place best people

Place

Sense of Place – One city many neighbourhoods

Opportunity

Leadershipby the Council – The leading Council

Council Plan 2017-21

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. This report is consistent with the following goals:

Place

A healthy, liveable and sustainable city
A city planned for the future

Opportunity

An open and effective Council

The strategies and plans that contribute to these outcomes are as follows:

Greater Dandenong Sustainability Strategy 2016-2030
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme
Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme Review, 2017
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Related Council Policies

No related council policies or codes of practice affect the decision of this report or are relevant to this
process.

Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

Financial Implications

Undertaking the processing of Planning Scheme Amendment C201 as exhibited has been budgeted
for in this financial year and considered as part of the Long Term Financial Strategy.

In relation to the impact on the Department’s labour costs there are currently staffing resources
available, both in the sustainability and statutory planning teams, to process ESD requirements for
relevant planning applications based on the trigger levels proposed in the exhibited local policy.
However, should the trigger levels be amended as suggested in a number of the submissions, there
would be a financial implication, as additional staffing resources would be required as set out above.

If the trigger levels were amended and staffing resources not increased, other sustainability functions
and/ or projects would no longer be able to be pursued, and the 60 statutory day timeframes within
which the Local Government Act 1997 requires statutory planning applications to be finalised would
most likely increase and Council’s current levels of performance significantly adversely affected This
has the potential to increase Council’s labour budget from between an estimated $51,500 to $91,563
per annum.

Consultation

Notification of the amendment was given in accordance with the requirements of the Planning and
Environment Act, 1987. The amendment was formally exhibited and submissions sought from the
public from the 12 February 2018 - 9 March 2018 via local newspapers, Victorian Government Gazette,
Council’s website and letters to prescribed Ministers. A fact sheet was made available at all Council
customer service centres and at the 2018 Sustainability Festival. Notice was also included in the
February 2018 edition of Council’s e-stakeholder newsletter.

Should Council determine to refer the unresolved submissions to a Panel, submitters will be invited
to participate in the Panel Hearing process.

Conclusion

Council exhibited Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme Amendment C201 – Environmentally
Sustainable Development in accordance with the statutory process of the Act.

As a result 193 submissions were received, with 188 unable to be resolved. It is now considered
appropriate to request the Minister for planning to appoint an independent Planning Panel and refer
the unresolved submissions to a Planning Panel Hearing.

Page 237

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.1 Planning Scheme Amendment C201 - Environmentally Sustainable Development - Consideration
of Submissions and Planning Panel (Cont.)



Recommendation

That Council:

receives all submissionsmade in response to the statutory exhibition of Amendment
C201 – Environmentally SustainableDevelopment to theGreater DandenongPlanning
Scheme.

1.

adopts the position on the submissions as set out in Attachment 2 to this report,
with no change to the amendment.

2.

refers the unresolved submissions, as set out in Attachment 2, to an independent
Panel for consideration.

3.

requests the Minister for Planning appoint a Panel pursuant to Section 153 of the
Planning and Environment Act, 1987 to consider the submissions received in
response to exhibition of Amendment C201; and

4.

advises all submitters accordingly.5.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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Planning and Environment Act 1987 

GREATER DANDENONG PLANNING SCHEME 

AMENDMENT C201 
 

EXPLANATORY REPORT 

Who is the planning authority? 

This amendment has been prepared by the City of Greater Dandenong who is the planning 
authority for this amendment. 

The Amendment has been made at the request of the City of Greater Dandenong.  

Land affected by the Amendment 

The Amendment applies to the entire municipality of the City of Greater Dandenong.  

What the amendment does 

The Amendment introduces a Local Planning Policy to ensure that development achieves 
best practice in environmental sustainability, from the design stage through to construction 
and operation.  
 
It seeks to build on the collaborative process undertaken by the Cities of Banyule, Moreland, 
Port Phillip, Stonnington, Whitehorse and Yarra where a single Panel was appointed to hear 
all submissions received by the six Councils simultaneously. The combined planning 
scheme amendment was gazetted on 19 November 2015.  
 
Additionally, this amendment seeks to build on the planning scheme amendments 
undertaken by the City of Monash (gazetted 29 September 2016), and the Cities of Darebin 
and Manningham (gazetted 31 August 2017).   

Specifically, the amendment: 

 Introduces a new Clause 22.06 Environmentally Sustainable Development (ESD) into the 
Local Planning Policy Framework of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme; and 

 Changes the Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) at Clause 21.05 (MSS) to reflect the 
introduction of Clause 22.06. 

The Policy proposes to introduce the following objectives to be satisfied where applicable: 

 Energy Performance 

 Water Resources 

 Indoor Environment Quality 

 Stormwater Management  

 Transport 

 Waste Management 

 Urban Ecology 

The proposed policy also sets out application requirements and dependent on the scale of 
the development, an applicant needs to demonstrate how the relevant policy objectives will 
be achieved by completing either a Sustainable Design Assessment (SDA) or a 
Sustainability Management Plan (SMP). 

The proposed Policy is consistent with the recommendations from the following reports: 

Page 240

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.1 Planning Scheme Amendment C201 - Environmentally Sustainable Development - Consideration
of Submissions and Planning Panel (Cont.)



 Advisory Committee and Panel Report on Environmentally Efficient Design Local 
Policies, 7 April 2014.  

 Panel report on Monash Planning Scheme Amendment C113 Gaming, Licenced 
Premises and Environmentally Sustainable Design Policies, 22 May 2015. 

 Panel report on Darebin and Manningham Planning Schemes, Amendment GC42 
Environmentally Sustainable Development Policy, 16 June 2016.  

Strategic assessment of the Amendment  

Why is the Amendment required? 
 
The amendment is required to introduce the Environmentally Sustainable Development 
(ESD) Policy to strengthen Council’s ability to consider environmentally sustainable design 
measures when assessing planning permit applications for development. 
 
The Advisory Committee and Panel Report on the Environmentally Efficient Design Local 
Policies (7 April 2014) for the first group of Councils introducing this Local Planning Policy 
noted that the basic objective in introducing the proposed local policies is…. 

 
"that development should achieve best practice in environmentally sustainable 
development, including from the design stage through construction and operation.  It also 
aims to encourage innovative technology, design and processes in all development, 
which positively influence the sustainability of buildings”. 

 
The same panel report provided a series of findings in support of the planning scheme 
amendment (chapter 15.1) that led to the gazettal of the Local Planning Policies.  

 
These findings were also referred to in the following Panel Reports:  
 

 Panel report on Monash Planning Scheme Amendment C113 Gaming, Licenced 
Premises and Environmentally Sustainable Design Policies, 22 May 2015. 

 Panel report on Darebin and Manningham Planning Schemes, Amendment GC42 
Environmentally Sustainable Development Policy, 16 June 2016.  

 
City of Greater Dandenong Council  
 
The need to address this policy gap has been identified through the following: 
 

 Preliminary review of the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme has identified a 
number of policy gaps around sustainable design requirements in its current form. 

 2017-2021 Council Plan commits Council to achieve “Increased sustainability of 
residential, commercial, industrial and Council developments”, through an amendment 
of the planning scheme to include sustainability requirements for new developments.  

 Greater Dandenong Sustainability Strategy (2016-2030) and the Greater Dandenong 
Housing Strategy (2014-24) include strategic actions to introduce a local ESD policy 
into the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme. 

How does the Amendment implement the objectives of planning in Victoria? 

The Amendment implements the following objectives of planning in Victoria: 

 to provide for the fair, orderly, economic and sustainable use, and development of land: 
Section 4 (1) (a); 

 to provide for the protection of natural and manmade resources and the maintenance of 
ecological processes and genetic diversity: Section 4 (1) (b); 
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 to secure a pleasant, efficient and safe working, living and recreational environment for 
all Victorians and visitors to Victoria: Section 4(1)(c); and 

 to balance the present and future interests of all Victorians: section 4 (1) (g). 
 

How does the Amendment address any environmental, social and economic 
effects? 

The introduction of the ESD local policy will implement sustainable design principles in the 
planning process, resulting in improved sustainable development outcomes.   

Achievement of sustainable development outcomes will result in significant economic, social 
and environmental benefits.  These benefits were identified by the Advisory Committee: 

 “resilience to warming climate with amenity and health benefits; 

 higher thermal performance of buildings leading to reduced energy consumption; 

 lower peak demand, and better consumer outcomes; 

 reduced water consumption;  

 at a broader planning level, better designed suburbs and urban environments, with 
improved social, environmental and economic outcomes.”  
 

The amendment is expected to have a positive effect as it: 

Environmental Effects 

 Requires new development to achieve greater levels of energy and water efficiency, 
indoor environmental quality, stormwater management, sustainable transport, waste 
management and urban ecology which will have far reaching environmental benefits. 

Economic effects 

 Maximises sustainable design at the planning stage which will minimise costs associated 
with retrofits and poor design, as well as long term cost savings on utilities.   

Social effects 

 Facilitates sustainable built form which is more affordable over the life of the building for 
commercial and residential occupiers, and as ongoing servicing costs will be reduced, it 
will have a positive net community benefit. 

Does the Amendment address relevant bushfire risk? 

The amendment does not impact on any considerations of bushfire risk.   

Does the Amendment comply with the requirements of any Minister’s Direction 
applicable to the amendment? 

The Amendment is consistent with the Ministerial Direction on the Form and Content of 
Planning Schemes under section 7(5) of the Act. 

The Amendment meets the requirements of Ministerial Direction No 11 Strategic 
Assessment of Amendments.  

The Amendment is consistent with Ministerial Direction 9 Metropolitan Strategy. The 
Metropolitan Strategy (Plan Melbourne: Metropolitan Planning Strategy 2017-2050) includes 
a number of Outcomes, Objectives and Directions which have implications for the proposed 
Amendment.   

Relevant outcomes and objectives include: 
 
Outcome 5: Melbourne is a city of inclusive, vibrant and healthy neighbourhoods 

 Direction 5.2 - Create neighbourhoods that support safe communities and healthy 
lifestyles.  
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Outcome 6 – Melbourne is a sustainable and resilient city 

 Transition to a low-carbon city to enable Victoria to achieve its target of net zero 
greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.  

 Reduce the likelihood and consequences of natural hazard events and adapt to 
climate change. 

 Integrate urban development and water cycle management to support a resilient and 
liveable city. 

 Make Melbourne cooler and greener. 

 Protect and restore natural habitats. 

 Improve air quality and reduce the impact of excessive noise. 

 Reduce waste and improve waste management and resource recovery. 

Within outcome 6, Policy 6.1.1 is of relevance to:  

“Improve energy, water and waste performance of buildings through environmentally 
sustainable development and energy efficiency upgrades”.  
 
The amendment will help to achieve the above-mentioned outcomes of Plan Melbourne.  
 
The Amendment is not affected by any of the other Minister’s Directions under section 12 of 
the Planning and Environment Act 1987. 

How does the Amendment support or implement the State Planning Policy 
Framework and any adopted State policy? 

The Amendment is consistent with and supports the following elements of the State 
Planning Policy Framework: 

 Clause 11- Settlement:  

- Clause 11.03-2 Activity Centre Planning: To improve the social, economic and 
environmental performance and amenity of activity centres 

 Clause 11.06 - Metropolitan Melbourne  

- 11.06-6 Sustainability and Resilience: The objective of this clause is to “to create 
a more sustainable and resilient city that manages its land, biodiversity, water, 
energy and waste resources in a more integrated way”.  

There are a number of strategies to achieve this including: 
 
- Improve energy, water and waste performance of buildings through 

environmentally sustainable development and energy efficiency upgrades. 

- Facilitate the uptake of renewable energy technologies on a site-by-site and 
neighbourhood level, including through the consideration of renewable energy 
opportunities during the master planning of new communities and in green 
wedge and peri-urban areas.  

- Require climate change risks to be considered in the siting, design and 
construction of major infrastructure projects so that they withstand natural 
hazard risks. 

- Reduce pressure on water supplies by ensuring development makes the best 
use of all water sources, including stormwater, rainwater, recycled water and 
drinking water. 

- Improve alignment between urban water management and planning by 
adopting an integrated water management approach.  

- Support a cooler Melbourne by greening urban areas, buildings, transport 
corridors and open spaces to create an urban forest. 

Page 243

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.1 Planning Scheme Amendment C201 - Environmentally Sustainable Development - Consideration
of Submissions and Planning Panel (Cont.)



- Protect and enhance the health of urban waterways by ensuring new urban 
development minimises the impact of stormwater. 

- Minimise exposure to excessive urban noise and air pollution to safeguard 
community health and amenity through building and urban design measures 
and buffer distances between emission sources and sensitive uses. 

- Encourage design that facilitates improved waste and resource recovery in 
medium and higher density developments. 

 Clause 12- Environmental and Landscape Values:  

- 12.01-1: Protection of Biodiversity: The objective of this policy is to “assist the 
protection and conservation of Victoria’s biodiversity, including important habitat 
for Victoria’s flora and fauna and other strategically valuable biodiversity sites.”  

 Clause 14.02 - Water 

- 14.02-2: Water quality: This sets out the objective of “protecting water quality”; 
and 14.02-3 Water conservation, which sets out the objective of ensuring that 
“water resources are managed in a sustainable way”. 

 Clause 15.02 - Sustainable development 

- Clause 15.02-1 Energy and Resource Efficiency:  The objective indicates the 
need to “encourage land use and development that is consistent with the 
efficient use of energy and the minimisation of greenhouse gas emissions.” 

 Clause 16.01 - Residential development 

- 16.01-1 Integrated housing.  This policy sets out the objective to “promote a 
housing market that meets community needs”.   Of particular relevance is the 
strategy which sets out the need to encourage housing “that is both water 
efficient and energy efficient”. 

- 16.01-4 Housing Diversity:  The objective of this policy is to “provide for a range 
of housing types to meet increasingly diverse needs”. One of the strategies 
notes the “need to encourage development of well-designed medium-density 
housing which improves energy efficiency of housing”. 

 Clause 18.01 - Integrated Transport 

- 18.02-1 Sustainable personal transport: This policy sets out the objective of 
promoting “the use of sustainable personal transport”.  One of the strategies 
specifically relating to new development indicates the need to “ensure 
development provides opportunities to create more sustainable transport options 
such as walking, cycling and public transport” and, “ensuring cycling routes and 
infrastructure are constructed early in new developments”.  

 Clause 19 - Infrastructure 

- Clause 19.01-1 Provision of renewable energy: The objective of this clause is to 
“promote the provision of renewable energy in a manner that ensures 
appropriate siting and design considerations are met”. 

- Clause 19.03-2 Water supply, sewerage and drainage: The objective of this 
clause indicates the need  “to plan for the provision of water supply, sewerage 
and drainage services that efficiently and effectively meet State and community 
needs and protect the environment. “ 

- Clause 19.03-3 Stormwater: The objective of this policy is “to reduce the impact 
of stormwater on bays and catchments.” 

How does the Amendment support or implement the Local Planning Policy 
Framework, and specifically the Municipal Strategic Statement? 

Council has demonstrated its commitment to the voluntary Sustainable Design Assessment 
in the Planning Process (SDAPP) program since 2010. This commitment is embodied within 
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the Municipal Strategic Statement (MSS) and includes several sections relevant to this 
amendment which include: 

 Clause 21.03 – A vision for Greater Dandenong 

- 21.03 Vision: Included within the Vision is the statement “a healthy community 
that embraces a sense of pride and belonging and works together to achieve an 
economically, socially and environmentally sustainable future”. 

- 21.03-2 - Achieving the vision: A strategic key focus area to help achieve the 
objectives of this clause is Sustainable Environment, that states; 

“Strategies that reduce air, water and noise pollution, strategies that promote 
ecologically sustainable development, strategies that allow for increased 
residential densities in appropriate locations and provide for diverse housing 
needs without compromising the valued characteristics of the area; strategies to 
protect and reinforce the rural landscape in Greater Dandenong’s Green Wedge 
and strategies that reinforce the Green Wedge Zone as a ‘Green Space’ 
between urban growth corridors”. 

 Clause 21.04 – Land Use 

- 21.04-3 Industrial: Included within the section Environmental Issues is;  

“Industry should be encouraged to develop best practice in regards to utilisation 
of energy and resources. The efficient use of energy and resources and 
reductions in waste generation will benefit both the business and the 
environment”.   

It is relevant to note that Objective 8 of Clause 21.04-3 seeks to “ensure 
industrial uses do not impact adversely on the amenity and safety of surrounding 
land uses and the environment”. The accompanying strategy to Objective 8 is to 
“encourage industry to adopt world best practice water sensitive urban design”. 

 Clause 21.05 Built Form  

- 21.05 Built form: Included within the section Environmental Issues, the policy 
states “the identification of preferred future character areas and incorporating 
clear policy directions with regard to building types and design elements 
appropriate to the particular character area will facilitate the achievement of an 
attractive and sustainable built form”. 

- 21.05-1 Urban design character, streetscapes and landscapes: Objective 6 of 
Clause 21.05-1 seeks to “ensure that design of the public and private 
environment supports accessibility and healthy living”. The accompanying 
strategy to Objective 6 is to “encourage new developments to provide for well-
connected cycle and pedestrian paths” and,  

Objective 8 of Clause 21.05-1 seeks “to ensure landscaping that enhances the 
built environment”. The accompanying strategy is to “encourage landscaping that 
integrates canopy trees and an appropriate mix of shrubs and ground covers 
and complements and integrates with existing or proposed landscaping in public 
areas”.  

- 21.05-3 Sustainability: Objective 1 of Clause 21.05-3 is of most relevance which 
is to “promote ecologically sustainable development”. The accompanying 
strategies to achieve Objective 1 are to:  

1.1 “Encourage the design of developments to provide for integration of water 
sensitive urban design”. 

1.2 “Encourage the recycling of grey water in new developments”. 
1.3 “Require an environmental management plan where a use or 

development would require ongoing management controls”. 

Objective 2 of Clause 21.05-3 is to “encourage environmentally sustainable 
practices by industrial and commercial developments”.  The accompanying 
strategies to achieve Objective 2 are:  
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2.1 “Encourage the collection and use of rain water”. 
 
2.2 “Encourage industrial and commercial developments to develop 

sustainable water use and waste water re-use programs”.  

 Clause 21.06 - Open Space and Natural Environment  

- Clause 21.06-2 Watercourses, wetlands and habitats: The objective of this 
clause is to “protect and improve the habitat, vegetation, soil, water and visual 
qualities of waterways and wetlands”. One of the strategies specifically relating 
to this objective seeks to ensure “residential, commercial and industrial 
development adopts best practice approach to stormwater treatment and 
management”. 

 Clause 21.07 Infrastructure and Transport 

- 21.07 Infrastructure and Transport: Included within the section Environmental 
Issues, the policy states: “Transport in Greater Dandenong needs to be planned 
in an integrated manner that connects and reinforces desired land use patterns, 
contributes positively to the environment and reduces adverse impacts of some 
modes of transport by encouraging a shift to more sustainable modes”. 

- 21.07-1 Physical, community and cultural infrastructure: The objective of this 
clause is “to manage the impact of discharge of stormwater to minimise pollution 
and flooding”. The strategy specific to achieving this is to “promote water 
sensitive urban design principles”.   

- 21.07-2 Public Transport: The objective of this clause is “to increase the use of 
public transport” and “to integrate transport and land-use”. Two strategies that 
contribute to this objective are: 

1.3  “Give priority in a descending preferential hierarchy to walking, cycling, 
public transport, transit goods movement then private automobiles, 
particularly in relation to urban design and infrastructure planning 
decisions”; and  

 2.1 “Ensure residential, commercial, and industrial development provides for 
safe and accessible pedestrian/bicycle movement to the public transport 
network”.  

- Clause 21.07-3 Walking and cycling: The objective of this clause is “to promote 
and facilitate walking and cycling”. The principal strategy to this objective is to 
“ensure walking and cycling are important design elements in all land use and 
development decisions”. 

 
The amendment will support a number of objectives and strategies located within Greater 
Dandenong’s MSS.  

 

Does the Amendment make proper use of the Victoria Planning Provisions? 

The Amendment has been prepared in accordance with State Government Practice Notes – 
Writing a Local Planning Policy and Strategic Assessment Guidelines: for planning scheme 
amendments. 

In particular the Amendment makes proper use of the Victoria Planning provisions as: 

• the MSS includes broad strategic support for the local policy position; and 

• local planning policies are appropriate tools to guide decision making in relation to a 
specific discretion. 

How does the Amendment address the views of any relevant agency? 

The Amendment will be referred to the relevant agencies as part of the statutory exhibition 
and notice of the Amendment. 
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Does the Amendment address relevant requirements of the Transport 
Integration Act 2010? 

The amendment addresses the relevant requirements of the Transport Integration Act 2010.  

The amendment will not have a significant impact on the transport system, as defined in the 
Act, as it would not in itself result in any increase in demand on the transport system.  

The amendment is consistent with the transport system objectives of the Act, in particular 
those contained in Section 10 – Environmental Sustainability.  

Resource and administrative costs 

 What impact will the new planning provisions have on the resource and 
administrative costs of the responsible authority? 

It is not anticipated that the Amendment will have a significant impact on the resources and 
administrative costs of the responsible authority.   

The Amendment is not considered likely to generate a significant increase in resources to 
Council as it will not result in an increased number of permit applications.   

The policy will provide a transparent and consistent framework for decision-making, 
reducing resources currently required to negotiate planning outcomes. This approach will 
also provide certainty and clarity to applicants when submitting their development 
application.  

Where you may inspect this Amendment 

The Amendment is available for public inspection, free of charge, during office hours at the 
following places: 

 City of Greater Dandenong Customer Service located at 225 Lonsdale Street, 
Dandenong,  

 City of Greater Dandenong Springvale Customer Service located at 397-405 Springvale 
Road, Springvale,  

 Keysborough Customer Service Centre, Shop A7 Parkmore Shopping Centre, 
Cheltenham Rd, Keysborough. 

The Amendment can also be inspected free of charge at the Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning website at  www.delwp.vic.gov.au/public-inspection. 

Submissions  

Any person who may be affected by the Amendment [and/or planning permit] may make a 
submission to the planning authority.  Submissions about the Amendment [and/or planning 
permit] must be received by [insert submissions due date]. 

A submission must be sent to:  
 
Strategic Planning Amendment C201 
City of Greater Dandenong 
PO Box 200  
DANDENONG VIC 3175 

Panel hearing dates  

In accordance with clause 4(2) of Ministerial Direction No.15 the following panel hearing 
dates have been set for this amendment: 

 directions hearing:  30 April 2018 

 panel hearing:  21 May 2018  
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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2.6.2 Public Art Policy

File Id:

Director Community ServicesResponsible Officer:

Public Art PolicyAttachments:

Report Summary

Council has developed this policy to define Public Art and to provide guidance regarding the
commissioning, acquisition andmaintenance of new permanent and temporary public artworks within
the City of Greater Dandenong. It aims to support the intent of Council’s Arts and Cultural Heritage
Strategy 2016.

The attached ‘Public Art Policy’ is presented to Council for adoption.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the Public Art Policy be adopted by Council and replace the previous
Public Art Strategy and Public Art Framework.
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Background

Council recognises that investment in public art adds both aesthetic and commercial value to the
municipality, enticing tourists, residents, tenants and investors through its capacity to share stories,
build community and create memories. While the value of an individual artwork may appreciate over
time, broader benefits are found in the enhanced visibility, awareness and foot-traffic in the area.
Public art can express community values, enhance our environment, transform a landscape, heighten
our awareness, or question our assumptions. Placed in public sites, art is a powerful form of collective
community expression.

The City of Greater Dandenong has a long-standing commitment to public art and has a diverse and
dynamic collection with more than 60 public art installations across the municipality. The city’s public
art features permanent, temporary and ephemeral artworks.

Proposal

Council’s Arts and Cultural Heritage Strategy notes the following strategic objectives and priorities
for public art:

Support the role of multiple platforms of public art in creating local identity and building a vibrant
city.
Increase community awareness, knowledge and engagement with public art.
Continue to celebrate local stories throughout the city.
Identify opportunities to incorporate creative arts and cultural heritage elements into public
buildings, master plans and infrastructure projects.
Proactively pursue opportunities for local artists to contribute to the design and development of
minor works and capital improvement projects.
Advocate for the inclusion of creative elements in all major State and Federal Government funded
capital projects in Greater Dandenong.

The Public Art Policy sets out Council’s strategic direction and parameters for public art in the city.
The Policy:

provides guidance on Council support for public art within new infrastructure
provides a rationale for commissioning or acquisition of works by purchase, donation or transfer
includes facilitating privately commissioned works that have public benefit
articulates the process for considering public art as part of civic developments
informs renewal plans for civic asset management
determines roles and responsibilities that arise under the policy.

In the past, Council has been guided in the Public Art realm by the following:

Public Art Strategy 2009
Public Art Framework 2009.
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It is proposed that the attached Public Art Policy will supersede these documents and support Council’s
Arts and Cultural Heritage Strategy 2016 which provides the broad framework and rationale for the
inclusion of public art as part of the city’s public realm.

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’ and Council Plan 2017-2021 – Strategic Objectives,
Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted to see
for themselves and the City in 2030, the result was the Greater Dandenong Community Plan ‘Imagine
2030’. This report is consistent with the following community visions:

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’

People

Pride – Best place best people
Cultural Diversity – Model multicultural community

Place

Sense of Place – One city many neighbourhoods
Safety in Streets and Places – Feeling and being safe
Appearance of Places – Places and buildings

Opportunity

Education, Learning and Information – Knowledge
Tourism and visitors – Diverse and interesting experiences
Leadershipby the Council – The leading Council

Council Plan 2017-2021

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. This report is consistent with the following goals:

People

A vibrant, connected and safe community
A creative city that respects and embraces diversity

Place

A healthy, liveable and sustainable city
A city planned for the future
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Opportunity

An open and effective Council

The strategies and plans that contribute to these outcomes are as follows:

Community Wellbeing Plan 2013-2017
Community Safety Plan 2015-22

Open Space Strategy 2009

Arts and Cultural Heritage Strategy – adopted 2016
Asset Management Strategy 2015-2022
Graffiti Management Plan 2013-2018

Related Council Policies

Community Engagement Policy
Community Engagement Framework
Community Development Framework
Place making Framework 2015
Activity Centres Transformed Program
Activity Centres Interpretive Signage Framework
Activity Centres Historic Narratives

Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

The Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities has been considered in the preparation
of this Policy but is not relevant to the content of the Policy.

Financial Implications

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

Consultation

The draft Policy has been developed in consultation with key stakeholders including:

Public Art Advisory Committee (disbanded 2016)
Arts and Cultural Development management and staff
Activities Centre’s Revitalisation management and staff
Engineering Services (Asset Management, City Improvement) management and
staff
Arts Advisory Board.
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Conclusion

The Public Art Policy recognises the benefits that public art has in creating local identity, building a
vibrant city and in celebrating local stories. The Public Art Policy replaces the Public Art Strategy and
Public Art Framework and is submitted to Council for adoption for a period of four years.

Recommendation

That Council endorses the Public Art Policy to replace the previous Public Art Strategy and
Public Art Framework.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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2.6.3 Q3 Council Quarterly Performance Report

File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Quarterly Performance Report for the period 1
January to 31 March 2018
Quarterly Financial Report for the period 1 July
2017 – 31 March 2018

Attachments:

Report Summary

This report details Council’s progress for the period 1 January to 31 March 2018 against performance
targets outlined in the Council Plan 2017-21 and for the period 1 July 2017 – 31 March 2018 for the
Mid-Year Budget 2017-18.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that Council notes the achievements against the Council Plan indicators
and the Mid-Year Budget for the period ending 31 March 2018.
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Background

Council adopted the Council Plan 2017-21 on Monday 26 June 2017 and the Mid-Year Budget on
11 December 2017.

The Council Plan 2017-21 outlines the vision and objectives of the current Council over the four years
of its term in office. This document guides service delivery, innovation and good governance, and
provides the foundation for the corporate planning framework for all business activities. The Council
Plan also guides the budget, service delivery priorities and the continuous improvement of our services.

The Council Plan 2017-21 and Annual Budget 2017-18 are made available to residents through the
Customer Service Centres, libraries and on Council’s website at www.greaterdandenong.com

Progress against performance targets for the period 1 January to 31 March 2018 is outlined in two
components of this report:

Part 1 – The Quarterly Performance Report details the achievements for the Council Plan Indicators
from the Council Plan 2017-21.

Part 2 – The Financial Report is designed to inform Councillors of the results of operations for the
period 1 July 2017 to 31 March 2018 including financial performance against the Mid-Year Budget
adopted by Council on 11 December 2017.

Part 1 and Attachment 1: Quarterly Performance Report for the period 1 January to 31 March
2018

Performance highlights against the Council Plan strategic objectives include:

A vibrant, connected and safe community

The Libraries attracted 7,648 participants through in-house and outreach programs.
Family Services engaged 79 families and 183 children, providing 1,840 contact hours of support.
341 fixed food premises and 6 mobile food vendors were inspected.
Council’s Community Wellbeing Plan was launched in February.

A creative city that respects and embraces its diversity

A draft People Seeking Asylum and Refugees Plan 2018-21 has been developed and will be
presented to Council in April.
Council’s Reconciliation Action Plan was launched on 15 March.
Attendance at Drum was 3,758, which is an increase of 12.35% from 2017.
There has been a significant increase in page views of the heritage photos on Council’s website
with 4,498 this quarter.

A healthy, liveable and sustainable city

World Wetlands Day was held on 10 February and was a huge success.
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The Sustainability Festival and awards were held in February.
Changes to low energy lighting at key sites is now complete.
80 community members attended the Community Clean-Up Day in March.
The Homecycle event was held from 22 January to 3 February with over 40,000 kilos of material
collected from a total 3,748 households.

A city planned for the future

The review of the Municipal Strategic Statement has commenced.
Community consultation was conducted on the park master plans for Warner, Wachter, Burden
and Parkfield Reserves.
The review and drafting of a revised Open Space Strategy commenced.
The review and update of the Noble Park activity centre structure plans has commenced.

A diverse and growing economy

Four workshops have been delivered as part of the food manufacturers collaborative network.
Three small business workshops were held during the quarter.
18 network activities were delivered by South East Business Networks.
Two cultural and food tours were conducted in Springvale – the Dumpling and Desserts and
Night Time Food Lovers.

An open and effective Council

Greater Dandenong Council has 10,798 followers on Facebook, 4,103 followers on Twitter, 49
YouTube subscribers, and 2,486 followers on Instagram. These numbers continue to rise each
quarter.
The Community Satisfaction Survey was conducted in February and results are expected to be
provided to Council in May/June.
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Part 2 and Attachment 2: Financial Report for the period 1 July 2017 to 31 March 2018

The attached financial report is designed to inform Councillors of the results of operations for the
period 1 July 2017 to 31 March 2018 including financial performance against the Mid-Year Budget
adopted by Council on 11 December 2017.

The financial report incorporates a set of Financial Statements and a Directorate Analysis of financial
performance by Business Unit. The following are contained in the Attachment:

Income Statement
Balance Sheet
Cash Flow Statement
Capital Expenditure Statement
Capital Expenditure report
Investment Report
Directorate Analysis

Whilst the Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards,
they contain several items, which are “non-cash” in nature such as depreciation on assets and the
written down (book) value of assets sold. They also exclude capital expenditure, new borrowings and
loan repayments and as such, these Statements do not provide an accurate indication of the
surplus/deficit cash position within a financial year.

The table on the following page provides a management accounting summary of the financial
performance for the period 1 July 2017 to 31 March 2018, which removes non-cash items and adds
back cash items that are excluded from the financial statements.
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Management Accounting Summary
for the period 1 July 2017 to 31 March 2018

Results for the period 1 July 2017 to 31 March 2018

The overall management accounting result (after removing non-cash items) for the period 1 July 2017
to 31 March 2018 shows a favourable variance between the budget and actual of $19.90 million. The
variance is mainly due to a favourable surplus from ongoing operations due to lower than anticipated
operating expenditure, coupled with the timing of capital expenditure outflows.

The lower operating expenditure to date is primarily due to favourable variances in materials and
services ($5.29 million) and employee costs ($4.26 million), partly offset by prior year capital
expenditure unable to be capitalised ($2.08 million – non cash accounting entry). The ‘Expenditure’
section of this report contains further details regarding these variances.

Capital expenditure is $8.27 million lower than year to date budget (with a further $14.32 million
committed at 31 March 2018). The majority of the delayed expenditure relates to property and
infrastructure projects.
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Income

Income for the period ended 31 March 2018 is unfavourable against budget by $115,000. This is
primarily due to a number of offsetting variances including:

Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment ($1.77 million
unfavourable) – The unfavourable variance is due to higher than anticipated asset write offs as a
result of building demolitions at 144 Thomas Street, Dandenong, Robert Booth Reserve and Alex
Nelson Reserve and the write off of land which is no longer owned by Council. Additionally, the
carrying amount of assets disposed is higher than anticipated due to the sale of Springvale parking
meter assets ($230,000). This is a non-cash accounting entry, however, the sale proceeds for the
parking meter assets were transferred to reserves.

Grants – capital ($553,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to lower than anticipated
grant funding for the Safe City CCTV System (Round 2) capital project and the Black Spot Program
– Birdwood and Wilma Avenue.

Grants – operating ($334,000 unfavourable) –Unfavourable variance is due to lower than anticipated
grant funding, mainly in Family Day Care (FDC) (Community Services $408,000). The lower grant
funding in the FDC program is offset by lower payments to educators. A $700,000 reduction in income
and expenditure has been reflected in the full year forecast in respect to the FDC program. Overall
a permanent favourable result of $69,000 is expected in the FDC program.

User fees ($255,000 unfavourable) – The unfavourable variance is due to lower than anticipated
income from FDC fee income (also matched by lower payments to educators) (Community Services
$213,000).

These unfavourable variances are partly offset by favourable variances in:

Other income ($1.49 million favourable) – Favourable variance is due to better than anticipated
interest (Non Directorate $862,000), recovery income relating to recycling rebates (to be provided
for as a doubtful debt), median strip landscaping and building defects compensation (Engineering
Services $489,000) and recovery and rental income for Council properties and facilities (Corporate
Services $160,000). Overall a favourable variance of $819,000 is expected to be permanent and has
been reflected in the full year forecast.

Rates and waste charges ($605,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is mainly due to higher
than anticipated supplementary rates ($370,000), interest on rate arrears ($92,000) and Keysborough
South Development maintenance levy income - which is transferred to reserves ($34,000).

Statutory fees and fines ($554,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to greater than anticipated
parking fine revenue, including fees added for unpaid penalty follow up (Parking Management
$581,000).
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Expenditure

The actual expenditure at 31 March 2018 against the year to date budget is favourable by $7.90
million. The major variances contributing to this result are in materials and services, employee costs
and other expenses.

Materials and services ($5.29 million favourable) – The major items contributing to this variance
are:

Contract services – timing of works and invoicing (Engineering Services $1.38 million) and lower
payments to educators in Family Day Care (matched by lower grant funding - $711,000).
Consultants, professional services – timing of commencement of projects (Greater Dandenong
Business $308,000, City Planning, Design and Amenity $479,000, Community Services $311,000,
Engineering Services $188,000 and Corporate Services $258,000).
Utilities – delayed invoices for street lighting and traffic signals (Engineering Services $409,000).
Administration costs – mainly events and exhibitions (Community Services $267,000) and
postage, promotions, printing and publications (Corporate Services $223,000).

Employee costs ($4.26 million favourable) – This favourable variance is mainly as a result of staff
recruitment occurring later than planned combined with leave taken (Community Services $2.54
million, Corporate Services $757,000, Engineering Services $351,000 and Greater Dandenong
Business $292,000). The 2017-18 Forecast anticipates employee costs to be $2.48million lower than
the annual Mid Year Budget. Additionally, a number of the employee cost variances in Community
Services relate to grant funded programs which require an acquittal ($1.30 million). Any unspent
funds will be carried forward to the 2018-19 financial year.

Other expenses ($442,000 favourable) – This favourable variance is due to outflows for Community
Services ($323,000), mainly due to the community grants program.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure at 31 March 2018 was $24.31 million. A further $14.32 million was committed
at the end of March. The capital works program comprises of asset renewal, expansion, upgrade and
the investment in new assets.

Proposal

That Council notes the progress against performance targets outlined in the Council Plan 2017-21
for the period 1 January to 31 March 2018 and the Financial Report for the period 1 July 2017 to 31
March 2018.

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’ and Council Plan 2017-21 – Strategic Objectives,
Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted to see
for themselves and the City in 2030, the result was the Greater Dandenong Community Plan ‘Imagine
2030’. This report is consistent with the following community visions:

Page 274

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.3 Q3 Council Quarterly Performance Report (Cont.)



Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’

People

Pride – Best place best people
Cultural Diversity – Model multicultural community
Outdoor Activity and Sports – Recreation for everyone
Lifecycle and Social Support – The generations supported

Place

Sense of Place – One city many neighbourhoods
Safety in Streets and Places – Feeling and being safe
Appearance of Places – Places and buildings
Travel and Transport – Easy to get around

Opportunity

Education, Learning and Information – Knowledge
Jobs and Business Opportunities – Prosperous and affordable
Tourism and visitors – Diverse and interesting experiences
Leadershipby the Council – The leading Council

Council Plan 2017-21

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. This report is consistent with the following goals:

People

A vibrant, connected and safe community
A creative city that respects and embraces diversity

Place

A healthy, liveable and sustainable city
A city planned for the future

Opportunity

A diverse and growing economy
An open and effective Council
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Related Council Policies

This report is in accordance with Council’s policy of providing regular information and feedback to
Council and the community about Council’s financial position.

Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

Financial Implications

The financial position of the Council will be monitored against the approved Mid-Year Budget to
ensure that Council achieves its financial goals.

Consultation

The Chief Executive Officer, Directors and staff responsible for reporting were consulted against the
performance targets. Council’s Finance Department has prepared the financial statements and all
other attachments with feedback from all Business Unit Managers.

Conclusion

Greater Dandenong City Council provides a performance report against organisational objectives on
a quarterly basis. The reporting procedures and systems in place provide Councillors and the
community with the opportunity to monitor progress against Council Plan Indicators and the Annual
Budget. This ensures that all resources are managed effectively and accountably. Council will be
kept informed of the financial position on a quarterly basis, as is the current practice.

Recommendation

That Council notes the progress against the performance targets outlined in the Council Plan
2017-21 for the period 1 January to 31 March 2018 and the Financial Report for the period 1
July 2017 to 31 March 2018.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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Financial Report for the period 1 July 2017 – 31 March 2018

Page 1

CGD – Operating Result
For the period 1 July 2017 – 31 March 2018

Overview        
As at 31 March 2018, Council’s net surplus result recorded a favourable variance to budget of $7.78
million due to:

Lower year to date expenditure in:
o Materials and services (Engineering Services $1.85 million, Community Services $1.62 million, 

Corporate Services $827,000, City Planning, Design and Amenity $598,000 and Greater 
Dandenong Business $419,000).

o Employee costs (Community Services $2.54 million, Corporate Services $757,000, 
Engineering Services $351,000, City Planning, Design and Amenity $314,000 and Greater 
Dandenong Business $292,000).

This favourable expenditure variance is partly offset by prior year capital expenditure unable to be 
capitalised (Non Directorate $2.08 million), which is a non-cash accounting entry.

Favourable income year to date:
o Better than anticipated interest and rental income (Non Directorate $862,000 and Corporate 

Services $160,000) and unbudgeted income for median irrigation and building defects 
(Engineering Services $489,000).

o Greater than anticipated supplementary valuations as a result of a more buoyant property 
market than forecast (Non-Directorate $553,000). 

o Better than anticipated income from statutory fees and fines, mainly parking infringements 
(City Planning, Design and Amenity $482,000).

This favourable income variance is partly offset by a loss on the disposal of fixed assets caused by the 
carrying amount of assets disposed/written off (non-cash item) (Non Directorate $1.77 million) and 
delay in receipt of grants (Capital Works Program $523,000 and Community Services $408,000). 

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges 100,351 99,746 605 132,258 132,702 444 132,258
Statutory fees and fines 6,436 5,882 554 7,958 8,021 63 7,610
User fees 6,428 6,683 (255) 9,191 8,831 (360) 9,203
Grants - operating 20,098 20,432 (334) 26,909 24,459 (2,450) 30,085
Grants - capital 3,219 3,772 (553) 4,911 4,911 - 2,932
Contributions - monetary 1,955 1,833 122 2,914 2,915 1 2,000
Contributions - non-monetary 1,519 1,500 19 15,000 15,000 - 15,000
Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, 
infrastructure, plant and equipment (1,295) 470 (1,765) 592 (1,284) (1,876) 522
Other income 7,861 6,369 1,492 8,991 9,810 819 9,120
Total income 146,572 146,687 (115) 208,724 205,365 (3,359) 208,730

Expenses
Employee costs 50,784 55,046 4,262 78,620 76,139 2,481 76,265
Materials and services 39,481 44,774 5,293 60,414 60,474 (60) 58,374
Prior year capital expenditure unable to 
be capitalised (non-cash) 2,081 - (2,081) - - - -
Bad and doubtful debts 469 448 (21) 879 1,254 (375) 879
Depreciation and amortisation 22,310 22,310 - 29,758 29,758 - 29,758
Borrowing costs 2,588 2,588 - 3,419 3,419 - 3,419
Other expenses 3,090 3,532 442 4,793 4,858 (65) 4,792
Total expenses 120,803 128,698 7,895 177,883 175,902 1,981 173,487

Net surplus (deficit) 25,769 17,989 7,780 30,841 29,463 (1,378) 35,243
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Balance Sheet
As at 31 March 2018

1. Rate revenue (excluding supplementary rates) is accrued evenly over the year, although cash is received in quarterly 
instalments, nine direct debit payments or a lump sum, depending on how the ratepayer chooses to pay.  Rate revenue 
in the Income Statement is a monthly accrual of the rates determined for the year in July.

2. Trust funds and deposits include fire services property levies collected by Council on behalf of the State Government.  
These monies are remitted to the State Revenue Office 28 days after each quarterly rate instalment date.  The majority 
of the trust funds and deposits balance relates to Development Contribution Plan levies totalling $28.80 million at 31
March 2018.

2017-18 2016-17 2016-17 2017-18
ACTUAL ACTUAL ACTUAL MID YEAR

31 Mar 2018 30 Jun 2017 31 Mar 2017 BUDGET
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS
Current assets C1
Cash and cash equivalents 143,535 125,304 117,985 108,507
Trade and other receivables 1 48,299 19,703 70,296 17,724
Other assets 1,798 2,601 534 2,151
Non-current assets classified as held for sale - - 490 -
Total current assets 193,632 147,608 189,305 128,382

Non-current assets C2
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2,155,366 2,155,810 1,905,803 2,202,162
Investment property 10,305 10,305 10,325 10,305
Other financial assets 230 230 230 230
Trade and other receivables 334 334 331 334
Total non-current assets 2,166,235 2,166,679 1,916,689 2,213,031
Total assets 2,359,867 2,314,287 2,105,994 2,341,413

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities C3
Trade and other payables 4,990 17,954 8,217 18,248
Prepaid rates 1 32,323 - 61,802 -
Trust funds and deposits 2 37,358 34,268 30,448 34,268
Provisions 15,935 16,399 16,493 16,718
Other interest-bearing liabilities 1,255 1,255 1,184 -
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 796 3,086 1,469 3,301
Total current liabilities 92,657 72,962 119,613 72,535

Non current liabilities C4
Provisions 546 625 576 638
Trust funds and deposits 1,298 1,103 1,150 1,103
Other interest-bearing liabilities - - 1,255 -
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 51,826 51,826 54,912 48,525
Total non-current liabilities 53,670 53,554 57,893 50,266
Total liabilities 146,327 126,516 177,506 122,801

NET ASSETS C5 2,213,540 2,187,771 1,928,488 2,218,612

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 841,855 823,248 774,053 852,865
Asset revaluation reserve 1,308,037 1,308,037 1,103,891 1,308,037
Reserves 63,648 56,486 50,544 57,710
TOTAL EQUITY 2,213,540 2,187,771 1,928,488 2,218,612
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Cash Flow Statement
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

1. Details regarding Council’s cash movements are contained in Note D - Cash Flow Statement.
2. The dissemination of Council’s restricted and operating cash is provided in the graph “Restricted and Unrestricted Cash” in 

Appendix 2 Investment Analysis in this report. 
3. Cash inflows and outflows are inclusive of GST where applicable.
4. The annual Mid Year Budget for user fees incorporates the movement in general debtors. Approximately $2 million of this 

budget relates to a capital grant debtor at 30 June 2017 which has since been received and is reflected in the 2017-18 year to 
date actual capital grant inflows.  Any variance in these two lines needs to be considered together.    

2017-18 2017-18
2017-18 ANNUAL ANNUAL 

ACTUAL MID YEAR ORIGINAL
31 Mar 2018 BUDGET BUDGET

Inflows/ Inflows/ Inflows/
(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

$'000 $’000 $'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Rates and charges 103,765 132,258 131,977
Statutory fees and fines 5,188 6,992 6,531
User fees (4) 6,381 12,626 10,038
Grants - operating 20,514 28,998 32,036
Grants - capital (4) 4,677 4,911 2,932
Contributions 1,955 2,914 2,000
Interest 1,937 1,759 1,756
Trust funds and deposits taken 28,116 30,000 25,500
Other receipts 5,841 8,027 8,162
Net GST refund 5,498 8,841 6,906
Employee costs (52,581) (78,288) (75,460)
Materials and services (49,213) (72,285) (67,886)
Trust funds and deposits repaid (25,518) (30,000) (27,500)
Other payments (3,311) (5,272) (5,271)
Net cash provided by operating activities 53,249 51,481 51,721

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (30,816) (61,241) (42,624)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 591 723 653
Net cash used in investing activities (30,225) (60,518) (41,971)

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance costs (2,501) (3,419) (3,419)
Repayment of other interest-bearing liabilities - (1,255) (1,255)
Repayment of interest-bearing loans (2,290) (3,086) (3,086)
Net cash used in financing activities (4,791) (7,760) (7,760)

Net increase (decrease) in cash 18,233 (16,797) 1,990
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 125,304 125,304 87,274
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 143,537 108,507 89,264

Represented by:
Operating cash                                      24,752 (1,930) (2,817)
Restricted cash                               118,785 110,437 92,081
Total 143,537 108,507 89,264

Page 328

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.3 Q3 Council Quarterly Performance Report (Cont.)



Financial Report for the period 1 July 2017 – 31 March 2018

Page 4

Capital Expenditure Statement
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

The detailed program under each of the capital groups is contained in Appendix 1 – Capital 
Expenditure.

 YTD 
ACTUAL 

 YTD 
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE COMMIT 

 ANNUAL 
MID YEAR 

BUDGET

 FULL
YEAR 

FORECAST

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 

BUDGET 
 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

PROPERTY 10,613 13,046 2,433 5,431 26,305 26,306 16,790
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1,171 2,226 1,055 1,352 3,966 3,966 4,102
INFRASTRUCTURE 12,529 17,308 4,779 7,537 30,969 31,049 21,733
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 24,314 32,580 8,267 14,321 61,241 61,321 42,624
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A.  Accounting Policy Notes 
The financial report is prepared on the principles of accrual accounting. Accrual accounting recognises 
income when earned and expenditure when incurred, regardless of whether cash settlement has taken 
place. The basis of recognition of major income and expenditure in these statements are defined 
below.

1. Rate revenue: Rate revenue (excluding supplementary rates) is accrued evenly over the year, 
although cash is received in quarterly instalments or a lump sum, depending on how the ratepayer 
chooses to pay. Rate revenue in the Income Statement is a monthly accrual of the rates 
determined for the year in July.

2. Grants revenue: Council receives two types of grants, namely a General Purpose Grant (from the 
Victoria Grants Commission) which is not tied to any programs and Special Purpose Grants for 
various programs.  All grants are recognised as income when cash is received.  Grants comprise of 
operating and capital (recurrent and non-recurrent in nature).

3. Fees and charges: Most fees and charges are recognised when cash is received.  Where Council 
raises a debtor’s invoice, income is recognised at the point of the invoice and not when cash is 
received.

4. Contributions - cash: Cash contributions are essentially from developers towards open space 
works. These monies are treated as income when received. Council is obligated to spend these 
monies for the purpose for which they are given by the developers.  Council also receives external
contributions for other capital projects. Cash contributions received are held in reserves and 
treated as “restricted cash” until they are spent (see note 9 below).

5. Employee costs: Salaries expenditure is based on fortnightly salaries paid and accruals for salary 
on-costs such as leave entitlements, superannuation and WorkCover.

6. Capital expenditure: The two broad areas of capital are the capital improvement program (CIP)
(which includes infrastructure and major projects) and ‘other’ which includes fleet, computers, plant 
and furniture.  Expenditure is recognised as capital if it is significant in value and results in assets 
which have a useful life in excess of at least one year.

7. Budget information: The Original Budget information contained in the report is the budget 
approved by Council on 26 June 2017. The year to date budget in this report reflects the Mid Year 
Budget as adopted by Council on 11 December 2017. The Mid Year Budget represents the 
adopted budget incorporating net carry forward capital and operating amounts from 2016-17 and 
any adjustments identified since the 2017-18 Original Budget was approved in June 2017.  The Mid 
Year Budget represents the latest financial position for Council.

8. Cash Flow Statement: Reflects the actual cash movements during the year.

9. Restricted cash: These are monies set aside for specific purposes and are not readily available for 
day to day operations or general capital works. They include funds set aside towards meeting long 
service leave commitments (required by government regulations), statutory reserves (eg. open 
space contributions) and other funds that are committed towards specific purposes. 
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B1.  Operating Income
The chart below shows the categories of operating income against their respective budgets (excludes 
non-monetary contributions or gifted assets which represent a non-cash accounting entry).

Income for the period ended 31 March 2018 is unfavourable against budget.  This is primarily due to 
the following:

Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment ($1.77 million 
unfavourable) – The unfavourable variance is due to higher than anticipated asset write offs as a 
result of building demolitions at 144 Thomas Street, Dandenong, Robert Booth Reserve and Alex 
Nelson Reserve and the write off of land which is no longer owned by Council.  Additionally, the 
carrying amount of assets disposed is higher than anticipated due to the sale of Springvale parking 
meter assets ($230,000).  This is a non-cash accounting entry, however, the sale proceeds were 
transferred to reserves.

Grants – capital ($553,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to lower than anticipated
grant funding for the Safe City CCTV System (Round 2) capital project and the Black Spot Program –
Birdwood and Wilma Avenue.

Grants – operating ($334,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance is due to lower than anticipated
grant funding, mainly in Family Day Care (FDC) (Community Services $408,000). The lower grant 
funding in the FDC program is offset by lower payments to educators.  A $700,000 reduction in income 
and expenditure has been reflected in the full year forecast in respect to the FDC program.  Overall a 
permanent favourable result of $69,000 is expected in the FDC program.

User fees ($255,000 unfavourable) – The unfavourable variance is due to lower than anticipated 
income from FDC fee income (matched by lower payments to educators) (Community Services
$213,000).
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These unfavourable variances are partly offset by favourable variances in:

Other income ($1.49 million favourable) – Favourable variance is due to better than anticipated 
interest (Non Directorate $862,000), recovery income relating to recycling rebates (to be provided for
as a doubtful debt), median strip landscaping and building defects compensation (Engineering Services 
$489,000) and recovery and rental income for Council properties and facilities (Corporate Services 
$160,000). Overall a favourable variance of $819,000 is expected to be permanent and has been 
reflected in the full year forecast.

Rates and waste charges ($605,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is mainly due to higher 
than anticipated supplementary rates ($370,000), interest on rate arrears ($92,000) and Keysborough 
South Development maintenance levy income - which is transferred to reserves ($34,000).

Statutory fees and fines ($554,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to greater than 
anticipated parking fine revenue, including fees added for unpaid penalty follow up (Parking 
Management $581,000).
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B2.  Operating Expenditure
The chart below shows the categories of operating expenditure against their respective budget
(excluding depreciation which is a non-cash accounting entry).

The actual expenditure at 31 March 2018 against the year to date budget is favourable by $7.90
million. The major variances contributing to this result are in materials and services, employee costs 
and other expenses.

Materials and services ($5.29 million favourable) – The major items contributing to this variance are:
Contract services – timing of works and invoicing (Engineering Services $1.38 million) and lower 
payments to educators in Family Day Care (matched by lower grant funding - $711,000).
Consultants, professional services – timing of commencement of projects (Greater Dandenong 
Business $308,000, City Planning, Design and Amenity $479,000, Community Services $311,000,
Engineering Services $188,000 and Corporate Services $258,000).
Utilities – delayed invoices for street lighting and traffic signals (Engineering Services $409,000).
Administration costs – mainly events and exhibitions (Community Services $267,000) and postage, 
promotions, printing and publications (Corporate Services $223,000).

Employee costs ($4.26 million favourable) – This favourable variance is mainly as a result of staff 
recruitment occurring later than planned combined with leave taken (Community Services $2.54 million, 
Corporate Services $757,000, Engineering Services $351,000 and Greater Dandenong Business 
$292,000). The 2017-18 Forecast anticipates employee costs to be $2.48 million lower than the annual 
Mid Year Budget.  Additionally, a number of the employee cost variances in Community Services relate 
to grant funded programs which require an acquittal ($1.30 million).  Any unspent funds will be carried 
forward to the 2018-19 financial year.

Other expenses ($442,000 favourable) – This favourable variance is due to outflows for Community 
Services ($323,000), mainly due to the community grants program.
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C.  Balance Sheet
Council's net assets are valued at $2.21 billion at the end of March 2018.

C1. Current assets (cash and other assets that can be readily converted to cash)

Cash and cash equivalents ($143.54 million) – This represents the amount held by Council in cash 
or term deposits.  Please note that this amount includes $118.79 million of funds “restricted” for various 
purposes.  These are detailed in the notes to the cash flows that follow in section D and a graphical 
presentation in Appendix 2.

Funds are invested in accordance with Council’s Investment Policy.  The policy requires Council to 
invest with prudence, consideration of acceptable risks and relevant legislation.

The details of Council’s investments are contained in Appendix 2.  In selecting investment products, 
Council has paid due consideration to risk by investing in products that have a minimum Standard and 
Poor’s (S&P) rating of “A”.

Trade and other receivables ($48.30 million) – This balance includes:
Rate debtors stood at $35.38 million at the end of March. Rate revenue (excluding supplementary 
rates) is accrued evenly over the year, although cash is received in quarterly instalments, nine 
direct debit payments or a lump sum, depending on how the ratepayer chooses to pay.  Rate 
revenue in the Income Statement is a monthly accrual of the rates determined for the year in July.   
General debtors $7.77 million (net of provision for doubtful debts).
Infringement debtors of $5.15 million (net of provision for doubtful debts).

Other assets ($1.80 million) – This balance includes:
Accrued income $1.75 million – income earned but cash not yet received at 31 March 2018.
Comprises pensioner rebate claims ($1.25 million) and accrued interest on investments 
($500,000).
Prepayments $49,000 - expenses prepaid at 31 March 2018.

C2. Non-current assets 

Non-current assets ($2.17 billion) – Includes $2.16 billion of Council roads, drains, buildings, plant 
and other fixed assets.  These values are reflected after recognising the depreciation allowed against 
each asset.

Investment property ($10.31 million) is separately classified from ‘Property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment’ in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.  Any adjustment to the fair value of 
these assets is recorded in the Comprehensive Income Statement and these assets are not 
depreciated.

Other non-current debtors include:
Other financial assets - $230,000 shares relating to Regional Kitchen Pty Ltd.
Trade and other receivables - $260,000 for Council’s share of funds held in trust by Whitehorse City 
Council relating to the former Narre Warren landfill site and $74,000 refundable deposit paid to 
Community Chef for the supply of meals to Council’s Meals on Wheels operation.
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C3. Current liabilities (debts due to be repaid within 12 months)

Trade and other payables ($4.99 million) - Comprises trade creditors arising from operations and 
capital works.

Trust funds and deposits ($37.36 million) – Trust funds and deposits includes other refundable 
monies in respect of:

Development Contribution Plans (DCP) ($28.80 million).
Open space contributions ($3.95 million).
Other deposits ($1.88 million).
Fire services property levy funds collected but not yet paid on to the State Revenue Office ($1.11
million). These amounts are due to be remitted to the State Revenue Office in accordance with 
legislative timeframes.
Landscape deposits ($1.26 million).
Road deposits ($355,000).

Provisions ($15.94 million) – Comprises employee entitlement provisions relating to long service 
leave entitlements of $10.14 million, annual leave entitlements of $5.36 million and a $426,000 
provision for rostered days off (RDO).

Other interest-bearing liabilities ($1.26 million) - Council entered into an agreement with VicTrack 
and Development Victoria (formerly Places Victoria) to purchase a land parcel in the Dandenong 
Railway Precinct.  The purchase price was established by the Valuer General Victoria, Council paid a 
10% deposit in 2014-15 with the balance to be paid in equal instalments over three years, with the final 
instalment in June 2018. The amount here represents the final instalment to be repaid in 2017-18.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings ($796,000) – Represents the outstanding amount to be 
repaid on borrowings during 2017-18.

C4. Non-current liabilities (debts due to be repaid in future years)

Provisions ($546,000) – Represents long service leave entitlements for employees estimated to be 
paid beyond the 2017-18 financial year.

Trust funds and deposits ($1.30 million) – Represents deposits that are payable beyond the 2017-
18 financial year and comprises landscape deposits of $1.17 million and contractor deposits of 
$127,000.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings ($51.83 million) – Comprises the amount of outstanding
borrowings to be repaid beyond the next 12 months. 

C5. Net assets and equity
Net assets - Represents the difference between total assets and total liabilities.  It is the Council’s net 
worth to the City’s ratepayers.

Reserves – Includes both statutory reserves (S) and discretionary reserves (D).  The statutory 
reserves apply where funds are gained from the application of legislative requirements to contribute –
and where expenditure of the funds is not entirely discretionary (i.e. the funds need to be used for 
certain expenditure only). The reserves listed below are explained in the notes to the cash flows that 
follow.
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The discretionary reserves are:
Major projects reserve (D)
Insurance fund reserve  (D)
Council funded – Development Contribution Plans reserve  (D)
Spring Valley landfill rehabilitation reserve (D)
Local Government Funding Vehicle (LGFV) – sinking fund (D)
Springvale Activity Precinct – Parking and Development reserve (D)
Native re-vegetation reserves (D)
Keysborough South Maintenance Levy reserve (D)
General reserve (Aged Care) (D)
Dandenong Activity Precinct – Parking and Development reserve (D)

The statutory reserves are:
Open space – planning, development and improvements (S)
Open space – land acquisitions (S)

D.  Cash Flow Statement
Cash and investment holdings total $143.54 million as at 31 March 2018 which has increased by 
$18.23 million since 30 June 2017.  Total cash and investment holdings are made up of operating cash 
($24.75 million) and restricted cash ($118.79 million).

Please refer to the next page for a detailed listing of Restricted Cash which is set aside for specific 
purposes.

Cash flows from operating activities – net inflow of $53.25 million.  The major inflows are rates 
$103.77 million, trust funds and deposits taken $28.12 million, grants $25.19 million, user fees $6.38
million and statutory fees and fines $5.19 million.  The major outflows are employee costs $52.58
million, materials and services $49.21 million and trust funds and deposits repaid $25.52 million. Trust 
funds and deposits taken and repaid mainly relate to developer contribution funds and fire services 
property levies.  The remittance of the fire services property levy (FSPL) and FSPL levy interest 
amounts are made to the State Revenue Office (SRO) in four payments in accordance with Section 
41(1) of the FSPL Act.  An instalment is due and payable to the Commissioner of State Revenue 28 
days after the due date of rates instalments. Council collects FSPL on behalf of the State Government.

Cash flows from investing activities – are a net outflow of $30.23 million and include:
$30.82 million for capital works expenditure.  The detailed capital works schedule is included in this 
report as Appendix 1.   Please note the difference between the two capital expenditure amounts is 
due to the movement in capital trade creditors at the start and end of the reporting period.  
Appendix 1 is on an accrual basis.
$591,000 proceeds on asset sales mainly relating to the fleet replacement program.

Cash flows from financing activities – is an outflow of $4.79 million.  Council incurred $2.50 
million in finance costs on its borrowings and repaid $2.29 million on existing loans.
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Restricted cash - Restricted cash represents funds that are set aside for specific purposes, as
detailed in the following tables.

Type 31 March 2018
$’000 Notes

Reserve funds
Council funded Development 
Contribution Plans (DCP) reserve

12,711 Reserved for specific expenditure in 
accordance with the published DCP.

Open space – planning, 
development and improvements

7,879 Reserved for enhancing the City’s open 
space by planning, development and 
improvements.

Open space – acquisitions 6,000 To fund acquisitions of new open space land.
Major projects reserve 25,192 Holds funds realised from the sale of 

Council’s property assets and will be utilised 
for investing in other properties.

Keysborough South Maintenance 
Levy

1,787 Reserve for specific maintenance 
expenditure relating to this area.

Spring Valley landfill rehabilitation 965 This reserve is for the rehabilitation of the 
Spring Valley landfill site.

Re-vegetation reserves 335 These funds are to meet native re-vegetation 
requirements on Council’s reserves.

Insurance fund reserve 899 This fund has been created to meet large and 
unexpected policy excesses on multiple 
insurance claims.

Local Government Funding 
Vehicle (LGFV) – sinking fund

4,900 The purpose of this reserve is to provide for 
the $4.90 million principal repayment required 
on maturity of the interest-only Local 
Government Funding Vehicle (LGFV) in 
2019-20 and to provide future borrowing 
capacity for major infrastructure projects.

Springvale Activity Precinct 
Parking and Development reserve

230 This reserve is to fund development in the 
Springvale Activity Centre.

Dandenong Activity Precinct 
Parking and Development reserve

970 This reserve is to fund development in the 
Dandenong Activity Centre.

General reserve (Aged Care) 1,780 Funds set aside for the aged care reforms.

Total reserve funds 63,648
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Type
31 March 2018

$’000 Notes

Employee provisions
Long service leave 10,691 Funds set aside to meet long service leave 

commitments.

Annual leave and other 5,790 Funds set aside to meet annual leave and 
rostered days off (RDO) commitments.

Employee provisions 16,481

Trust funds and deposits
Development Contribution Plans 28,803 Pending completion of works.

Fire services property levy 
collected and due

1,110 Payable to State Revenue Office – legislative 
requirement.

Open space contributions 3,953 Pending completion of works.

Landscape deposits 2,426 Pending completion of works.

Road deposits 356 Pending completion of works.

Other trust funds and deposits 2,008 Refundable upon finalisation of programs.

Total trust funds and deposits 38,656

Total restricted cash 118,785
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E. Statement of Capital Works

Total capital expenditure at 31 March 2018 was $24.31 million.  A further $14.32 million was committed 
at the end of March. The Capital Expenditure Report (Appendix 1) contains the expenditure status of 
each of the approved capital projects.  

The timing of cash outflows and project completion can differ for capital projects.  Commentary on the 
status of each project with major year to date variances is provided below (i.e. variances greater than 
$300,000).  Please note that the variances detailed below are the total of all asset classes by capital 
project whereas the Capital Expenditure report details the variances separately by asset class and 
capital project.

Plant and Equipment

1445 Fleet Purchases ($997,000 favourable) - Annual program in progress - 11% completed 
(with a further 27% committed and currently awaiting delivery).

Infrastructure

3631 Dandenong Park Master Plan ($748,000 favourable) – The shared user access 
pathway including lighting and furniture has been completed. The next stage in the overall 
masterplan implementation is the construction of a new toilet facility which has commenced and is 
expected to take until July to complete. Stage two of the landscaping phase has been tendered 
and is currently being assessed and will be submitted to council for consideration in May with the 
view to commencing works in June.

3756 Local Road Rehabilitation Program – Bangholme ($662,000 favourable) –
Construction of the road pavement is in progress with all areas being completed in stages to 
ensure access is maintained to local businesses at all times.  Work has commenced on the 
reconstruction of the road pavement. New electricity poles have been installed with the bulk of the 
electrical works to be completed in April. Relocation of water and Telstra assets is complete and 
sewer assets to be relocated in May. Relocation of service authority assets has commenced and 
will continue until the completion of the project. With minimal days lost to inclement weather the 
works are progressing on program with completion expected in August 2018. 

3794 Tatterson Park Masterplan – Car Park and Access Road ($558,000 favourable) –
Demolition of existing car park completed.  Existing sprinklers and electrical conduits relocated. 
Access road and car park construction (excavation and laying of ballast material) has commenced. 
Project is expected to be completed by September 2018. 

3498 Walker Street Dandenong - Streetscape ($529,000 favourable) – The project has 
been awarded to a contractor and Council is working with the contractor to accelerate the works 
program to make up for delays in contract award. The contractor will establish the site works at the 
beginning of April and will complete the works in sections to minimise disturbance to the traders. A 
project bulletin has been circulated to all project stakeholders.

3490 Springvale Road Boulevard ($345,000 favourable) – An internal review of the detailed 
design package has been completed and feedback provided to the consultant. The design requires 
approval from VicRoads prior to being able to go to tender.  Council has in principle approval for 
the project and working through details with VicRoads prior to tender.
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3129 Drainage Program ($378,000 favourable) – Stage one of Elonera Road is complete. 
Design has commenced on stage two of Elonera Road. There has been a delay in advertising 
tenders due to an issue with South East Water assets. It is expected to be advertised mid-April.

3248 DCP Keysborough South Industrial Buffer ($343,000 favourable) – Earthworks and 
construction of the footpath (stage one) has been completed.  Stage two works will commence in 
late May after the adjacent developer has completed their works. Trees and plants for the garden 
beds have been ordered and will be planted in May and June.

3363 Wal Turner Reserve – Pavilion Extension ($311,000 favourable) – Design has yet to 
be finalised.

Buidings

3043 Springvale Community Precinct ($736,000 favourable) – Council approved tender at 
the 23 April Council meeting.
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Appendix 1

Capital
Expenditure
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CIP Expenditure
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
MID YEAR
BUDGET 

 FULL
YEAR

FORECAST 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 
BUDGET 

                     $                     $                     $                      $                     $                     $                     $ 

PROPERTY
Buildings
3004. Dandenong Oasis - 3,150 3,150 - 5,000 5,000 5,000
3015. Robert Booth Reserve Pavillion 581,471 455,982 (125,489) 1,339,554 2,041,122 2,041,122 -
3037. Jan Wilson CCtr 76,613 129,000 52,387 244,932 300,000 300,000 300,000
3043. Springvale Community Precinct 3,588,854 4,324,434 735,580 340,326 8,179,800 8,179,800 6,449,125
3050. Old D'nong Civic Office-39 Clow St 1,991 - (1,991) - - - -
3068. Lyndale Pavilion - 19,522 19,522 - 30,989 30,989 -
3079. Disability Building Audit Works 215,397 126,000 (89,397) 291 200,000 200,000 200,000
3100. Pilot Renewable Energy Program - 63,000 63,000 - 100,000 100,000 100,000
3132. Keysborough Reserve - 40,950 40,950 - 65,000 65,000 -
3146. Kindergarten Expansion Grant - 9,900 9,900 1 15,716 15,716 -
3151. Community Facilities Security Impro 17,474 23,625 6,151 - 37,500 37,500 37,500
3199. IT System - Tom Houlahan Centre - 19,774 19,774 - 31,386 31,386 -
3200. Masonic Hall 135,849 125,866 (9,983) 108,043 230,786 230,786 -
3219. Thomas Carroll Pavilion 3,455 37,800 34,345 110,718 60,000 60,000 60,000
3235. Alex Nelson Reserve 206,866 479,090 272,224 1,840,061 2,209,087 2,209,087 -
3251. Building Large Renewal Projects 1,671,928 1,375,300 (296,628) 872,901 4,045,000 4,045,000 4,045,000
3255. Yarraman Oaks Primary NEYLF 12,883 285,468 272,585 1,955 1,263,880 1,263,880 -
3263. Noble Park Aquatic Centre - 9,450 9,450 - 15,000 15,000 15,000
3300. Dnong Basketball/Volleyball Ctr - 38,501 38,501 585 61,111 61,111 -
3305. Tatterson Park Pavilion 3,079,289 3,211,000 131,711 28,214 3,211,000 3,211,000 3,211,000
3315. Dandenong Stadium Master Pln Impl. 7,500 78,750 71,250 9,000 125,000 125,000 125,000
3316. Dandenong Stadium Master Plan - - - - 23,100 23,100 -
3359. Shepley Oval (Pultney St) 9,353 124,257 114,905 72,522 197,233 197,233 -
3361. Springers-Various Works 6,500 50,400 43,900 18,633 80,000 80,000 80,000
3363. Wal Turner Res-Pav. Extension 11,870 322,555 310,685 41,700 948,691 948,691 900,000
3541. Kitchen Upgrade Program-Various 110,481 126,000 15,519 51,805 200,000 200,000 200,000
3548. Keysborough South Community Hub Dev 12,462 91,155 78,693 1,908 144,691 144,691 -
3590. Bilbungra Kindergarten - - - 13,296 25,000 25,000 -
3593. Corrigan Rex Kindergarten - - - 16,460 25,000 25,000 -
3594. Dandenong Day Nursery - - - 13,060 25,000 25,000 -
3597. Heatherhill Kindergarten - - - 12,796 22,000 22,000 -
3617. Tom Houlahan Ctre - Improv. Works 11,600 56,700 45,100 4,895 90,000 90,000 90,000
3633. Dandenong CAD Seagull Control 56,936 70,000 13,064 255 70,000 70,000 -
3638. Menzies Avenue 162,808 140,217 (22,591) 73,415 222,566 222,566 222,566
3711. Springvale North Tennis Club 119,989 149,934 29,945 33,083 206,246 206,246 30,000
3783. Dandenong Market Alfresco 7,001 110,250 103,249 87,970 175,000 175,000 175,000
3788. Dandenong Oasis Plant Works - 19,474 19,474 - 30,907 30,907 15,000
3789. Dandenong Civic Ctr Minor Office - 12,600 12,600 - 20,000 20,000 -
3792. Dandenong Mkt Back of House-Coolrm 504,878 641,508 136,630 92,868 1,018,266 1,018,266 350,000
3793. Dandenong Market Utility Srv Infra - 63,000 63,000 - 100,000 100,000 100,000

Leasehold Improvements
3165. Police Paddocks Pavilion - 50,400 50,400 - 80,000 80,000 80,000

Land
3069. Property Acquisition - 161,250 161,250 - 375,000 375,000 -

Total property 10,613,449 13,046,262 2,432,813 5,431,247 26,306,077 26,306,077 16,790,191
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CIP Expenditure
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
MID YEAR
BUDGET 

 FULL
YEAR

FORECAST 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 
BUDGET 

                     $                     $                     $                      $                     $                     $                     $ 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant, machinery and equipment
1445. Fleet Purchases 306,978 1,303,682 996,704 743,967 2,531,500 2,531,500 2,728,500
3740. Drum Theatre Improvements - 28,350 28,350 - 45,000 45,000 45,000

Library books
3104. Library Resources 718,383 731,249 12,866 584,123 1,160,712 1,160,712 1,160,712

Computers and telecommunications
3167. Mobile Version of Jobs At Dnong Web 16,525 12,600 (3,925) - 20,000 20,000 20,000
3168. Health Manager Software 86,350 79,885 (6,465) - 102,650 102,650 102,650
3521. GIS Software Website Integration 27,262 28,000 738 - 40,000 40,000 -
3596. Trapeze I T S/ware Statutory Plan. 9,449 13,519 4,070 - 21,473 21,473 -

Fixtures, fittings and furniture
3314. Public hall equipment 5,865 28,350 22,485 24,334 45,000 45,000 45,000

Total plant and equipment 1,170,813 2,225,635 1,054,822 1,352,424 3,966,335 3,966,335 4,101,862

INFRASTRUCTURE
Parks, open space and streetscapes
3028. Park Furniture Renewal 16,368 31,500 15,132 20,497 50,000 50,000 50,000
3135. Sandown Rd.  streetscape S/vale Rd. 159,167 108,408 (50,759) 52,999 172,074 172,074 -
3141. Thomas St Precinct Enhance(Afghan) 27,047 201,736 174,689 25,130 469,151 469,151 400,000
3166. Comm.Safe-Hemmings Park Upg Light 9,504 7,500 (2,004) - 15,000 15,000 -
3192. Douglas st. s/scape improv.proj. - 98,763 98,763 - 290,482 290,482 -
3205. Safe City CCTV System - Round 2 86,848 256,621 169,773 233,000 551,826 551,826 455,137
3208. Local Passive Res.(Park Land)-Var. 48,629 129,150 80,521 - 205,000 205,000 205,000
3243. Little India 17,500 7,230 (10,270) 3,750 11,476 11,476 -
3245. Greaves Reserve Floodlight 395,084 258,000 (137,084) 80,348 600,000 600,000 600,000
3248. DCP Keysb. Sth Industrial Buffer 100,268 443,000 342,732 250,217 700,000 700,000 -
3253. CCTV Implementation 45,930 75,600 29,670 6,715 120,000 120,000 -
3256. Safer Community Fund Mobile CCTV - 31,500 31,500 61,471 81,788 81,788 -
3324. Springers Leisure Centre,Keysbor. - 31,500 31,500 19,354 50,000 50,000 50,000
3332. Lonsdale Street Streetscapes 91,612 53,550 (38,062) - 85,000 85,000 85,000
3432. Car Park Lighting Program 78,646 149,072 70,426 1,051 189,772 189,772 110,000
3490. Springvale Road Boulevard 103,014 447,794 344,780 87,301 1,317,040 1,317,040 1,150,000
3498. Walker St D'nong-Streetscape 15,050 544,000 528,950 2,973 1,600,000 1,600,000 1,600,000
3603. Metro 3175 Open Space Stage 1 - 5,985 5,985 - 9,500 9,500 -
3612. Keysborough Bowls Club 30,000 31,500 1,500 13,680 50,000 50,000 50,000
3614. DCP  Sarah Lands Keysborough Sth 440,912 417,992 (22,920) 13,476 527,328 527,328 -
3615. George Andrews Ticket Box & Light. 34,106 25,200 (8,906) 3,410 40,000 40,000 40,000
3618. Springvale Act. Ctr-Plts Gdns Strat 2,450 - (2,450) - - - -
3631. Dandenong Park Master Plan 624,864 1,372,614 747,750 365,737 2,369,566 2,369,566 1,500,000
3649. Open Space Master plan - 83,300 83,300 - 245,000 245,000 -
3651. Springvale Activity Centre-Laneways 76,735 63,000 (13,735) 48,391 100,000 100,000 100,000
3717. Springvale Reserve - 3,150 3,150 - 5,000 5,000 -
3747. Streetscapes - Activity Centres - 102,000 102,000 - 300,000 300,000 -
3790. Harmony Square Add. Table & Seat 48,527 46,412 (2,115) 23,976 46,412 46,412 -
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CIP Expenditure
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
MID YEAR
BUDGET 

 FULL
YEAR

FORECAST 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 
BUDGET 

                     $                     $                     $                      $                     $                     $                     $ 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities
3029. Playground Improvements 101,808 219,300 117,492 107,255 510,000 510,000 510,000
3047. Noble Park Reserve 17,280 98,900 81,620 43,675 230,000 230,000 230,000
3056. 8 Balmoral Ave - S/Vale 19,398 60,012 40,614 9,118 95,259 95,259 -
3193. Warner & Greaves Reserve Sub Surfac 199,841 86,430 (113,411) 10,000 201,000 201,000 201,000
3207. Dandenong Stadium Multi Purpose 4,891 9,450 4,559 - 15,000 15,000 15,000
3209. Active Reserves Program - 13,483 13,483 2,410 21,405 21,405 -
3210. Turf Wicket Table Renewal Works 137,394 107,930 (29,464) 91,252 251,000 251,000 251,000
3244. Extension of Public Place Recycling 2,719 5,641 2,922 13,837 8,951 8,951 -
3305. Tatterson Park Pavilion 601,919 724,550 122,631 980,811 1,685,000 1,685,000 1,685,000
3332. Lonsdale Street Streetscapes 5,910 44,100 38,190 1,290 70,000 70,000 70,000
3459. Frank Holohan Reserve 20,706 21,096 390 9,726 21,096 21,096 -
3612. Keysborough Bowls Club - 6,895 6,895 - 10,945 10,945 -
3622. Rosswood Tennis Club 157,505 164,000 6,495 25,000 200,000 200,000 200,000

Roads
3161. Black Spot Prog.-Athol Rd/Noble St 274,497 239,051 (35,446) 4,777 239,051 239,051 -
3171. Thomas & Scott St Signalisation 14,740 252,000 237,260 6,985 400,000 400,000 400,000
3187. Black Spot Prog.-Ellen St, S/Vale 60,773 8,371 (52,402) 53,886 8,371 8,371 -
3188. Black Spot Prog.- Halton Rd, D/nong 15,690 - (15,690) 4,425 - - -
3189. Black Spot Prog. Lightwood Rd,S/val 80,103 123,152 43,049 23,913 195,480 195,480 -
3190. Black Spot Prog.- Oakwood Ave,D/non 36,666 37,194 528 9,579 37,194 37,194 -
3246. Black Spot Prog-Birdwood & Wilma Av 25,640 162,640 137,000 35,201 406,600 406,600 -
3247. Black Spot Prog-River End Rd 1,800 - (1,800) 39,380 119,700 119,700 -
3287. Menzies Ave Safety 69,877 80,981 11,104 - 98,758 98,758 -
3373. Municipal wide, Kerb and Channel 302,061 219,000 (83,061) 122,034 300,000 300,000 300,000
3418. Municipal Wide,LATM post audit 114,250 283,500 169,250 188,098 450,000 450,000 450,000
3651. Springvale Activity Centre-Laneways 9,000 9,736 736 6,890 15,452 15,452 -
3752. Local Road Rehab.Prg-Implement R2R 1,310,253 1,173,625 (136,628) 25,094 1,348,010 1,348,010 674,005
3753. Local Road Surf./Rehabit. Prg. 2,523,418 2,393,380 (130,038) 249,479 2,925,995 2,925,995 2,925,995
3756. Local Road Rehab.Program-Bangholme 1,471,543 2,133,269 661,726 3,380,975 3,928,666 3,928,666 1,955,050
3994. DCP - Abbotts Road 7,792 - (7,792) - - - -

Footpath and cycleways
3172. Park Paths Upgrade Program - 18,900 18,900 - 30,000 30,000 30,000
3174. Active Transport Infra. Priority Pr 88,381 277,598 189,217 47,146 485,631 485,631 300,000
3355. Municipal Wide-Footpath Renewal 911,967 882,000 (29,967) 607,182 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000
3461. Arena Square shared path 2,238 18,747 16,509 - 29,757 29,757 -

Off street car parks
3257. 144 Thomas Street Car Park 82,861 - (82,861) - - 79,207 -
3303. Noble Park Community Centre - 17,000 17,000 - 50,000 50,000 -
3463. Dandenong City Soccer Club 389,126 237,220 (151,906) 644 376,534 376,534 -
3662. Metro 3175 24,730 98,240 73,510 3,712 155,937 155,937 -
3794. Tatterson Park Masterplan 198,742 757,168 558,426 37,962 2,226,962 2,226,962 2,000,000

Drainage
3129. Drainage program 432,008 809,600 377,592 47,678 1,445,206 1,445,206 965,000
3176. Meridian Estate Drainage 75,000 47,250 (27,750) - 75,000 75,000 75,000
3558. Pit Cover Replacement Program 34,309 63,000 28,691 3,633 100,000 100,000 100,000
3728. Minor S/water Renewal Works 197,142 126,000 (71,142) 27 200,000 200,000 200,000
3729. Major stormwater works 53,143 252,000 198,857 30,823 400,000 400,000 400,000

Total infrastructure 12,529,380 17,308,486 4,779,106 7,537,372 30,969,375 31,048,582 21,732,187

GRAND TOTAL 24,313,642 32,580,383 8,266,741 14,321,043 61,241,787 61,320,994 42,624,240
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Cash and Investments
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018
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Cash and Investments
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018
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RBA Average Cash Rate -0.10% 1.40% 1.40% 1.40%
Actual Return - cash at call 1.40% 1.40% 1.40%
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Actual Return - Term Deposits 2.27% 2.24% 2.33%

Benchmark Indicator - Term Deposits
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Total Operating Results
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

CGD BY DIRECTORATE

(a) Non Directorate includes non attributable items such as rates income, developer’s contributions, interest income, non-
monetary assets, finance costs and depreciation.

Note - Total income and expenditure differs to the operating result on page 1 due to the treatment of proceeds from asset 
sales and associated written down value.

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Chief Executive Office - - - - - - -
Greater Dandenong Business 500 276 224 325 481 156 75
Corporate Services 3,049 2,873 176 3,819 3,766 (53) 3,814
Engineering Services 14,820 14,251 569 19,045 19,184 139 19,689
City Planning Design and Amenity 10,546 10,289 257 13,995 13,840 (155) 13,616
Community Services 17,638 18,267 (629) 24,445 21,736 (2,709) 23,188
Non-Directorate (a) 98,686 97,060 1,626 141,432 142,579 1,147 145,548
Capital Works Program 3,219 3,772 (553) 5,795 5,795 - 2,932
Total income 148,458 146,788 1,670 208,856 207,381 (1,475) 208,862

Expenses
Chief Executive Office 440 461 21 618 618 - 574
Greater Dandenong Business 2,101 2,827 726 3,923 3,843 80 3,398
Corporate Services 14,193 15,808 1,615 21,311 20,847 464 21,119
Engineering Services 37,504 39,669 2,165 54,488 55,203 (715) 54,499
City Planning Design and Amenity 10,490 11,383 893 16,127 15,932 195 15,634
Community Services 28,641 33,171 4,530 46,455 44,711 1,744 43,302
Non-Directorate (a) 29,320 25,480 (3,840) 35,093 36,764 (1,671) 35,093
Capital Works Program - - - - - - -
Total expenses 122,689 128,799 6,110 178,015 177,918 97 173,619

Net surplus (deficit) 25,769 17,989 7,780 30,841 29,463 (1,378) 35,243
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CEO Directorate Operating Results
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

CEO DIRECTORATE
ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL

YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL
ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges - - - - - - -
Statutory fees and fines - - - - - - -
User fees - - - - - - -
Grants - operating - - - - - - -
Grants - capital - - - - - - -
Contributions - monetary - - - - - - -
Contributions - non-monetary - - - - - - -
Asset sales - - - - - - -
Other income - - - - - - -
Total income - - - - - - -

Expenses
Employee costs 352 358 6 504 504 - 504
Materials and services 84 98 14 108 108 - 64
Bad and doubtful debts - - - - - - -
Depreciation and amortisation - - - - - - -
Borrowing costs - - - - - - -
Carrying amount of assets sold - - - - - - -
Other expenses 4 5 1 6 6 - 6
Total expenses 440 461 21 618 618 - 574

Net surplus (deficit) (440) (461) 21 (618) (618) - (574)
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BUSINESS UNITS

Notes:

No comments required for this directorate.

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
CEO - - - - - - -

Total income - - - - - - -

Expenses
CEO 440 461 21 618 618 - 574

Total expenses 440 461 21 618 618 - 574

Net surplus (deficit) (440) (461) 21 (618) (618) - (574)

Page 353

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.3 Q3 Council Quarterly Performance Report (Cont.)



      Financial Report for the period 1 July 2017 – 31 March 2018

Page 29

Greater Dandenong Business Group Operating Results
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

GREATER DANDENONG BUSINESS GROUP
ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL

YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL
ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges - - - - - - -
Statutory fees and fines - - - - - - -
User fees 15 4 11 5 20 15 5
Grants - operating 1 425 220 205 220 348 128 -
Grants - capital - - - - - - -
Contributions - monetary - - - 30 30 - -
Contributions - non-monetary - - - - - - -
Asset sales - - - - - - -
Other income 60 52 8 70 83 13 70
Total income 500 276 224 325 481 156 75

Expenses
Employee costs 2 1,406 1,698 292 2,384 2,315 69 2,021
Materials and services 3 602 1,022 420 1,364 1,334 30 1,202
Bad and doubtful debts - - - - - - -
Depreciation and amortisation - - - - - - -
Borrowing costs - - - - - - -
Carrying amount of assets sold - - - - - - -
Other expenses 93 107 14 175 194 (19) 175
Total expenses 2,101 2,827 726 3,923 3,843 80 3,398

Net surplus (deficit) (1,601) (2,551) 950 (3,598) (3,362) 236 (3,323)
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BUSINESS UNITS

Notes:

Income

Note 1 Grants – operating ($205,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is due to receipt 
of unbudgeted grant for Indian Cultural Precinct, which will be offset by matching expenditure (Activity 
Centres Revitalisation $270,000).

This favourable variance is partly offset by delay in invoicing of Community Revitalisation grant 
(Business Networks $65,000). 

Expenditure

Note 2 Employee costs ($292,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is due to lower than 
anticipated salary costs caused by vacant positions (Community Revitalisation Project $176,000, 
Activity Centres Revitalisation $66,000 and Economic Development $44,000).  A permanent favourable 
variance of $69,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast.  The favourable variance in the 
Community Revitalisation Project at 30 June 2018 will be carried over to the 2018-19 financial year.

Note 3 Materials and services ($420,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is due to
timing of commencement of projects (Business Networks $194,000 and Economic Development 
$175,000).  The majority of this variance is not expected to be permanent with a $30,000 favourable 
variance being reflected in the full year forecast.

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Greater Dandenong Business Executive 9 - 9 - 9 9 -
Business Networks 199 257 (58) 300 427 127 50
Activity Centres Revitalisation 285 4 281 6 35 29 6
Economic Development 7 15 (8) 19 10 (9) 19

Total income 500 276 224 325 481 156 75

Expenses
Greater Dandenong Business Executive 218 229 11 319 331 (12) 318
Business Networks 507 874 367 1,151 1,292 (141) 626
Activity Centres Revitalisation 600 688 88 963 925 38 964
Economic Development 776 1,036 260 1,490 1,295 195 1,490

Total expenses 2,101 2,827 726 3,923 3,843 80 3,398

Net surplus (deficit) (1,601) (2,551) 950 (3,598) (3,362) 236 (3,323)
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Corporate Services Directorate Operating Results
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE
ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL

YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL
ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges - - - - - - -
Statutory fees and fines 85 76 9 102 102 - 102
User fees 17 9 8 12 14 2 12
Grants - operating 40 40 - 40 40 - 55
Grants - capital - - - - - - -
Contributions - monetary - - - - - - -
Contributions - non-monetary - - - - - - -
Asset sales - - - - - - -
Other income 4 2,907 2,748 159 3,665 3,610 (55) 3,645
Total income 3,049 2,873 176 3,819 3,766 (53) 3,814

Expenses
Employee costs 5 8,545 9,302 757 13,093 12,642 451 12,954
Materials and services 6 4,617 5,444 827 6,718 6,686 32 6,651
Bad and doubtful debts - - - - - - -
Depreciation and amortisation - - - - - - -
Borrowing costs - - - - - - -
Carrying amount of assets sold - - - - - - -
Other expenses 1,031 1,062 31 1,500 1,519 (19) 1,514
Total expenses 14,193 15,808 1,615 21,311 20,847 464 21,119

Net surplus (deficit) (11,144) (12,935) 1,791 (17,492) (17,081) 411 (17,305)
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BUSINESS UNITS

Notes:  

Income

Note 4 Other income ($159,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is due to:
Higher than anticipated rental income to date across a number of venues including Springvale 
Town Hall, Springvale Reserve, Menzies Hall and Dandenong Civic Centre (Civic Facilities 
$95,000).  This favourable variance is not expected to be permanent.  
Higher than anticipated rental and recovery income received from tenants to date (Property 
Management $80,000).
Better than anticipated rental income received from Senior Citizen Centres (Senior Citizen 
Facilities $19,000).
Unbudgeted income from recovery of motor vehicle claims (Risk Management $18,000).

This favourable variance is partly offset by a delay in recovery of rates debtors (Property Revenue 
$32,000 and lower than anticipated rental income (Paddy O’Donoghue Centre $21,000).

A favourable variance of $56,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast.

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Corporate Services Executive 7 - 7 - 7 7 -
Communications and Customer Service 564 479 85 638 689 51 638
Governance 2,200 2,117 83 2,817 2,689 (128) 2,797
Information Technology 4 - 4 - 4 4 -
Financial Services 199 223 (24) 306 306 - 306
People and Procurement Services 75 54 21 58 71 13 73

Total income 3,049 2,873 176 3,819 3,766 (53) 3,814

Expenses
Corporate Services Executive 324 309 (15) 558 560 (2) 558
Communications and Customer Service 3,647 4,282 635 5,959 5,640 319 5,959
Governance 1,999 2,287 288 3,003 2,939 64 2,983
Information Technology 3,169 3,359 190 4,316 4,284 32 4,262
Financial Services 1,988 2,178 190 2,917 2,919 (2) 2,917
People and Procurement Services 3,066 3,393 327 4,558 4,505 53 4,440

Total expenses 14,193 15,808 1,615 21,311 20,847 464 21,119

Net surplus (deficit) (11,144) (12,935) 1,791 (17,492) (17,081) 411 (17,305)
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Expenditure

Note 5 Employee costs ($757,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is primarily due to 
lower salary costs caused by vacant positions (Community Facilities Management $251,000, Civic 
Facilities $40,000 and Communications and Customer Service Executive $33,000), timing of program 
delivery (Occupational, Health and Safety $183,000), vacancies and leave taken (Information 
Technology $101,000, Finance $60,000, Governance $50,000, Call and Service Centres $46,000, 
Records $30,000 and Corporate Services Executive $16,000).

This favourable variance has been offset by corporate training programs delivered earlier than 
anticipated (Organisational Development Executive $83,000) and greater than anticipated use of 
casual staff (Risk Management $10,000). 

A favourable variance of $450,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast in relation to employee 
costs.

Note 6 Materials and services ($827,000 favourable) – The main items contributing to the 
favourable variance include:

Administration costs ($223,000) - delay in receipt of invoices for council publications, postage, 
printing and stationery, commercial records storage, promotions and community education 
(Communications and Customer Service Executive $108,000, Records Management $48,000,
Property Revenue $32,000, Governance $29,000 and Community Facilities Management 
$17,000).
Consultants, professional services ($258,000) – delay in receipt of invoices (Organisational 
Development Executive $84,000, Property Revenue $55,000, Emergency Management $30,000, 
Risk Management $20,000, Contracts $20,000 and Governance $13,000).
Insurance ($89,000) – mainly lower than anticipated claims expenditure to date (Risk Management 
$89,000).
Utilities ($79,000) – timing of transacting utility, rates and land tax relating to Council’s commercial 
properties (Property Management Administration $23,000), timing of utility costs for community 
centres (Jan Wilson Community Centre $9,000, Senior Citizen Facilities $8,000 and Paddy 
O’Donoghue Centre $7,000) and telephone costs (Technical Services $22,000).
Contract services ($74,000) – delay in receipt of invoices for general revaluation (Property 
Revenue $62,000).
Information technology ($57,000) – lower than anticipated expenditure for systems maintenance 
(Governance $28,000 and Business Services $18,000).

Most of this variance is not expected to be permanent, with a $32,000 favourable variance being 
reflected in the full year forecast.
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Engineering Services Directorate Operating Results
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

ENGINEERING SERVICES DIRECTORATE
ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL

YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL
ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges 7 12,449 12,397 52 16,519 16,529 10 16,519
Statutory fees and fines - - - - - - -
User fees 792 776 16 972 923 (49) 972
Grants - operating 112 112 - 143 143 - 122
Grants - capital - - - - - - -
Contributions - monetary - - - - - - -
Contributions - non-monetary - - - - - - -
Asset sales 512 500 12 653 653 - 653
Other income 8 955 466 489 758 936 178 1,423
Total income 14,820 14,251 569 19,045 19,184 139 19,689

Expenses
Employee costs 9 11,313 11,664 351 16,442 16,015 427 16,601
Materials and services 10 25,939 27,787 1,848 37,760 38,631 (871) 37,612
Bad and doubtful debts 9 12 3 16 226 (210) 16
Depreciation and amortisation - - - - - - -
Borrowing costs - - - - - - -
Carrying amount of assets sold 136 100 (36) 131 186 (55) 131
Other expenses 107 106 (1) 139 145 (6) 139
Total expenses 37,504 39,669 2,165 54,488 55,203 (715) 54,499

Net surplus (deficit) (22,684) (25,418) 2,734 (35,443) (36,019) (576) (34,810)
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NGINEER
BUSINESS UNITS

ICES DIRECTORATE

Notes:

Income

Note 7 Rates and charges - waste ($52,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is mainly 
due to better than anticipated income for supplementary waste charges. A favourable variance of 
$11,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast.

Note 8 Other income ($489,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to receipt of
unbudgeted income for Princes Highway median landscaping works which will be offset by associated 
expenditure (Parks Services $153,000), income relating to outstanding building defects for Dandenong 
Civic Centre and Noble Park Aquatic Centre (Building Maintenance $110,000) and the requirement to 
invoice Polytrade for recycling rebates (even though this income is expected to be written off as a bad 
debt), partly offset by lower recovery income for Spring Valley landfill (matched by lower expenditure) 
(Waste Management $220,000).

Expenditure

Note 9 Employee costs ($351,000 favourable) - The favourable variance is due to a delay in 
recruitment (Roads and Drains $224,000, CIP Implementation $102,000, Asset Management $82,000, 
Infrastructure Services and Planning Executive $70,000 and Asset Protection $63,000). 

This favourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated temporary staff costs (Cleansing 
$70,000 and City Projects and Asset Improvement Executive $60,000 and Parks Services $10,000)
and lower motor vehicle recovery (Fleet Management $60,000).

A permanent saving of $426,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast for employee costs in this 
directorate.

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Engineering Services Executive - - - - - - -
Infrastructure Services 13,799 13,362 437 17,923 17,995 72 18,567
City Projects and Asset Improvement 110 - 110 - 116 116 -
Infrastructure Planning 911 889 22 1,122 1,073 (49) 1,122

Total income 14,820 14,251 569 19,045 19,184 139 19,689

Expenses
Engineering Services Executive 277 271 (6) 384 384 - 384
Infrastructure Services 29,434 31,294 1,860 43,069 43,490 (421) 43,090
City Projects and Asset Improvement 6,534 6,664 130 9,032 9,360 (328) 9,032
Infrastructure Planning 1,259 1,440 181 2,003 1,969 34 1,993

Total expenses 37,504 39,669 2,165 54,488 55,203 (715) 54,499

Net surplus (deficit) (22,684) (25,418) 2,734 (35,443) (36,019) (576) (34,810)
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Note 10 Materials and services ($1.85 million favourable) - The favourable variance is mainly 
due to Spring Valley expenditure being lower than anticipated - matched by lower recovery income and 
a reserve transfer for Council’s share (Waste Management $295,000), timing of works and delay in 
receipt of invoices from contractors (Cleansing $248,000, Parks Services $238,000, Roads $175,000, 
Building Maintenance $80,000, Fleet Management $68,000, and Transport $56,000), lower than 
anticipated street lighting and traffic signal costs and delay in receipt of consultancy and professional 
services invoices to date (Asset Management $668,000).

Overall, an unfavourable variance of $390,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast due to 
additional recycling costs expected prior to 30 June 2018 as a result of China banning recycling imports 
from January 2018.
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City Planning, Design & Amenity Directorate Results
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

CITY PLANNING, DESIGN & AMENITY
ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL

YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL
ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges - - - - - - -
Statutory fees and fines 11 6,222 5,740 482 7,791 7,790 (1) 7,508
User fees 12 3,758 3,834 (76) 5,295 5,275 (20) 5,308
Grants - operating 13 361 492 (131) 509 400 (109) 496
Grants - capital - - - - - - -
Contributions - monetary - - - - - - -
Contributions - non-monetary - - - - - - -
Asset sales - - - - - - -
Other income 205 223 (18) 400 375 (25) 304
Total income 10,546 10,289 257 13,995 13,840 (155) 13,616

Expenses
Employee costs 14 8,243 8,557 314 11,970 11,860 110 11,838
Materials and services 15 1,712 2,312 600 3,204 2,958 246 2,848
Bad and doubtful debts 455 436 (19) 863 1,023 (160) 863
Depreciation and amortisation - - - - - - -
Borrowing costs - - - - - - -
Carrying amount of assets sold - - - - - - -
Other expenses 80 78 (2) 90 91 (1) 85
Total expenses 10,490 11,383 893 16,127 15,932 195 15,634

Net surplus (deficit) 56 (1,094) 1,150 (2,132) (2,092) 40 (2,018)
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BUSINESS UNITS

Notes:

Income

Note 11 Statutory fees and fines ($482,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is due to 
better than anticipated income from parking fines and recovery of collection costs (Parking 
Management $581,000), higher than anticipated income from building fees (Building $60,000), planning 
applications (Statutory Planning $18,000) and statutory fees (Strategic Design and Sustainability 
Planning $17,000).

This favourable variance is partly offset by lower income to date due to seasonal trends which are 
expected to balance by year end (General Law Enforcement $95,000, Healthwise $48,000 and 
Planning Enforcement $28,000).

Note 12 User fees ($76,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance mainly due to lower than 
expected income from parking meters/ticket machines (Parking Management $35,000) and lower
animal registrations income to date (Animal Management $25,000).

Note 13 Grants - operating ($131,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to lower 
than expected grant funding (School Crossing Supervisors $113,000).  This variance is expected to be 
permanent and a $113,000 adjustment has been reflected in the full year forecast.

Expenditure

Note 14 Employee costs ($314,000 favourable) - The favourable variance is due to delay in 
recruitment (Statutory Planning $148,000, Building Services $76,000 and Public Safety and Security 
$54,000) and extended leave taken (Animal Management $32,000, Healthwise $17,000 and
Residential Amenity Administration $15,000).

This favourable variance is partly offset by greater use of temporary staff (Cladding Taskforce $31,000) 
and changes in salary options (School Crossing Supervisors $28,000).

A permanent saving of $109,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast for employee costs.

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
City Planning, Design and Amenity Exec. 152 152 - 208 208 - 207
Building Services 464 416 48 652 650 (2) 556
Planning and Design 1,655 1,653 2 2,192 2,174 (18) 2,130
Regulatory Services 8,275 8,068 207 10,943 10,808 (135) 10,723

Total income 10,546 10,289 257 13,995 13,840 (155) 13,616

Expenses
City Planning, Design and Amenity Exec. 433 485 52 666 676 (10) 644
Building Services 811 893 82 1,213 1,201 12 1,117
Planning and Design 3,262 3,813 551 5,418 5,105 313 5,340
Regulatory Services 5,984 6,192 208 8,830 8,950 (120) 8,533

Total expenses 10,490 11,383 893 16,127 15,932 195 15,634

Net surplus (deficit) 56 (1,094) 1,150 (2,132) (2,092) 40 (2,018)

Page 363

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.3 Q3 Council Quarterly Performance Report (Cont.)



      Financial Report for the period 1 July 2017 – 31 March 2018

Page 39

Note 15 Materials and services ($600,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is due to a 
number of projects commencing later than anticipated (Strategic Design and Sustainability Planning 
$364,000) and delay in receipt of invoices (Level Crossing Removal Project $55,000, Car Parks 
$54,000, Residential Services Administration $45,000, Statutory Planning $34,000, Planning 
Enforcement $34,000, Cladding Taskforce $30,000,and Healthwise $29,000).

This favourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated Infringement Court statutory filing 
fees offset by higher parking fine income (Parking Management $105,000).

Overall, a permanent favourable variance of $247,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast.
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Community Services Directorate Operating Results
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTORATE

Note * - An unfavourable variance of $2.47 million in operating grant income has been reflected in the 
full year forecast mainly in relation to Community Care ($1.84 million) and Family Day Care ($700,000).

The unfavourable variance in Community Care is due to a movement from a predominantly integrated 
block funded program to separate programs where funding is based almost solely on the achievement 
of targets.  As a result, it is anticipated that grant funding will be required to be returned/refunded at the 
conclusion of the financial year.  This reduction in income is partly offset by lower service delivery 
expenditure, resulting in a net unfavourable variance of $956,000 being reflected in the full year 
forecast for Community Care.

The lower anticipated income in Family Day Care reflected in the full year forecast is wholly offset by 
lower service delivery expenditure (payments to educators), resulting in a net favourable variance of 
$69,000 expected for the Family Day Care program in 2017-18.

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges - - - - - - -
Statutory fees and fines - - - - - - -
User fees 16 1,847 2,060 (213) 2,906 2,599 (307) 2,906
Grants - operating 17 14,647 15,055 (408) 19,979 17,511 (2,468) * 18,837
Grants - capital - - - - - - -
Contributions - monetary - - - - - - -
Contributions - non-monetary - - - - - - -
Asset sales - - - - - - -
Other income 1,144 1,152 (8) 1,560 1,626 66 1,445
Total income 17,638 18,267 (629) 24,445 21,736 (2,709) 23,188

Expenses
Employee costs 18 20,909 23,449 2,540 33,111 31,828 1,283 31,231
Materials and services 19 6,188 7,807 1,619 10,794 10,297 497 9,532
Bad and doubtful debts 5 1 (4) - 6 (6) -
Depreciation and amortisation - - - - - - -
Borrowing costs - - - - - - -
Carrying amount of assets sold - - - - - - -
Other expenses 20 1,539 1,914 375 2,550 2,580 (30) 2,539
Total expenses 28,641 33,171 4,530 46,455 44,711 1,744 43,302

Net surplus (deficit) (11,003) (14,904) 3,901 (22,010) (22,975) (965) (20,114)
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BUSINESS UNITS

* - Refer to additional comments included on prior page.

Notes:

Income

Note 16 User fees ($213,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to lower than 
expected income from performances (Drum Theatre $34,000) and client based services, which vary 
throughout the year and are matched by lower program expenditure (Home and Community Care 
$190,000, Family Day Care $129,000, Food Services $46,000 and National Respite For Carers 
$19,000).

This variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated income from other client based services
matched by higher service delivery expenditure (Commercial Aged Care $220,000).

A permanent variance of $307,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast, mainly relating to 
Community Care ($290,000).

Note 17 Grants – operating ($408,000 unfavourable) - Unfavourable variance due to:

Grants lower than budget for variable client based services:
Family Day Care $652,000 (matched by lower program expenditure)
Home and Community Care $52,000

Delay in receipt of grants for:
Community Transport $38,000
Drug Strategy $20,000

This unfavourable variance is partially offset by:

Grants received earlier than anticipated for variable client based services:
Planned Activity Group $91,000

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Community Services Executive 82 59 23 105 190 85 -
Community Wellbeing 7,327 7,887 (560) 10,743 10,109 (634) 9,652
Community Care 8,231 8,233 (2) 11,121 8,996 (2,125) * 11,170
Community Arts, Culture and Libraries 1,998 2,088 (90) 2,476 2,441 (35) 2,366

Total income 17,638 18,267 (629) 24,445 21,736 (2,709) 23,188

Expenses
Community Services Executive 559 458 (101) 595 922 (327) 438
Community Wellbeing 12,757 15,995 3,238 22,353 21,411 942 19,824
Community Care 8,835 9,579 744 13,626 12,457 1,169 13,375
Community Arts, Culture and Libraries 6,490 7,139 649 9,881 9,921 (40) 9,665

Total expenses 28,641 33,171 4,530 46,455 44,711 1,744 43,302

Net surplus (deficit) (11,003) (14,904) 3,901 (22,010) (22,975) (965) (20,114)
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Grants received earlier than anticipated:
Child First $75,000
Playgroups Initiative $39,000
Right@Home $30,000
Library and Information Services $33,000

Unbudgeted grant received:
Community Development (Aboriginal Trainee) $20,000

Expenses

Note 18 Employee costs ($2.54 million favourable) - Favourable variance due to vacant 
positions and a delay in recruitment (Child First $482,000, Home and Community Care $374,000, 
Maternal and Child Health $276,000, Library and Information Services $233,000, Right@Home 
$229,000, Playgroups Initiative $183,000, National Respite for Carers $156,000, Youth Activity 
Services $143,000, Planned Activity Group $135,000, Access and Quality Systems $133,000, Family 
Day Care $119,000, Cultural Development $89,000, Community Property $76,000, Community 
Development $73,000, Enhanced MCH Program $69,000, Dads in Dandenong $61,000, Pre-School 
Field Officer $57,000, Sports Planning $48,000, Senior Citizens Centres $37,000 and Preventative 
Health $34,000). 

This favourable variance is offset by:
Higher salary recovery costs (Commercial Aged Care $218,000) matched by higher income.
Higher than anticipated salaries (Immunisation $129,000), most of which are expected to be 
permanent ($109,000 unfavourable variance reflected in the full year forecast).
Payment of entitlements for departing employee (Community Services Executive $70,000).
Higher than anticipated use of casual labour to date (Drum Theatre $55,000).

Overall a permanent favourable variance of $1.28 million has been reflected in the full year forecast.  A
number of the employee cost variances in Community Services relate to grant funded programs which 
require an acquittal ($1.30 million).  Any unspent funds will be carried forward to 2018-19 financial year.

Note 19 Materials and services ($1.62 million favourable) – The favourable variance is due to:
Lower payments to educators (Family Day Care $718,000).  This is a client based service that 
varies throughout the year and is matched by lower fee and grant income.
Professional services ($312,000) – timing of projects and delay in receipt of invoices (Child First 
$118,000, Community Hub Early Years $107,000, New Directions – Mothers and Babies $77,000,
Dads in Dandenong $30,000 and Drug Strategy $26,000).  This variance is partly offset by higher 
than anticipated expenditure (Learning Driver Mentor Program $32,000, Home and Community 
Care $29,000, Sports Planning $20,000 and Drum Theatre $19,000).
Timing of delivery of events (Cultural Development $109,000 and Festival and Events $73,000).
Materials and maintenance ($181,000) – lower than anticipated expenditure (Drum Theatre 
$69,000, Community Transport $46,000 and National Respite for Carers $39,000).
Electricity ($54,000) – timing of invoices for 39A Clow Street ($12,000), Tatterson Park Community 
and Sports Centre ($11,000), Food Services ($9,000), Library and Information Services ($8,000), 
Maternal and Child Health ($6,000), Mills Reserve ($6,000) and Cultural Venues ($5,000).
Higher service delivery recovery than anticipated (Community Transport $45,000).

Note 20 Other expenses ($375,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to timing of 
community grant funding payments (Community Funding $309,000), timing of delivery of programs 
(Learning Driver Mentor Program $23,000, New Directions – Mothers & Babies $20,000, Senior 
Citizens Centres $15,000 and National Respite for Carers $14,000).  This favourable variance is not 
expected to be permanent.
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Non-Directorate Operating Results
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

NON-DIRECTORATE
COMMUNITY SERVI

CES GP
Non Directorate includes non attributable items such as rates income, fire services levy payable on Council properties, 
developer’s contributions, interest income, gifted assets, carrying amount of assets disposed/written off and finance costs

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges 21 87,902 87,349 553 115,740 116,173 433 115,740
Statutory fees and fines 22 129 66 63 66 129 63 -
User fees - - - - - - -
Grants - operating 4,513 4,513 - 6,018 6,018 - 10,575
Grants - capital - - - - - - -
Contributions - monetary 23 1,954 1,833 121 2,000 2,000 - 2,000
Contributions - non-monetary 1,519 1,500 19 15,000 15,000 - 15,000
Asset sales 79 70 9 70 79 9 -
Other income 24 2,590 1,729 861 2,538 3,180 642 2,233
Total income 98,686 97,060 1,626 141,432 142,579 1,147 145,548

Expenses
Employee costs 17 17 - 1,117 973 144 1,117
Materials and services 338 305 (33) 465 460 5 465
Prior year capital expenditure unable to 
be capitalised (non-cash) 25 2,081 - (2,081) - - - -
Bad and doubtful debts - - - - - - -
Depreciation and amortisation 22,310 22,310 - 29,758 29,758 - 29,758
Borrowing costs 2,588 2,588 - 3,419 3,419 - 3,419
Carrying amount of assets sold 26 1,750 - (1,750) - 1,830 (1,830) -
Other expenses 236 260 24 334 324 10 334
Total expenses 29,320 25,480 (3,840) 35,093 36,764 (1,671) 35,093

Net surplus (deficit) 69,366 71,580 (2,214) 106,339 105,815 (524) 110,455
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BUSINESS UNITS

Non Directorate includes non attributable items such as rates income, fire services levy payable on Council properties, 
developer’s contributions, interest income, gifted assets, carrying amount of assets disposed/written off and finance costs.

Notes:

Income

Note 21 Rates and charges ($553,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due mainly to greater 
than anticipated supplementary valuations as a result of a more buoyant property market than forecast.  
A permanent favourable variance of $433,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast.

Note 22 Statutory fees and charges ($63,000 favourable) – Favourable permanent variance 
due to greater than anticipated income received from election fines (Corporate Accounting), which has 
been reflected in the full year forecast.

Note 23 Contributions – monetary ($121,000 favourable) – Better than anticipated income 
from public open space contributions.  The nature of these receipts makes timing difficult to predict.  
These funds are transferred to reserves.

Note 24 Other income ($861,000 favourable) – The favourable variance in interest revenue is
due mainly to higher opening cash balances at the start of the financial year, resulting from the timing 
and delay of operating and capital cash outflows in the prior year ($862,000).  A permanent favourable 
variance of $641,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast.

Expenses

Note 25 Prior year capital expenditure unable to be capitalised ($2.08 million 
unfavourable) – This unfavourable variance is due to works in progress (prior year capital 
expenditure) that is not able to be capitalised to the asset register because it is not capital in nature, 
does not meet the capitalisation threshold or relates to non-Council owned assets (Corporate 
Accounting $2.08 million).  Mainly due to non-capital items and amounts under the capitalisation 
threshold in the building renewal program, the Springvale Community Precinct and Tatterson Park 
Pavilion major projects and street lighting (non-Council assets).  This is a non-cash accounting entry.

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Governance 9 - 9 - 9 9 -
Corporate Accounting 96,723 95,227 1,496 139,432 140,570 1,138 143,548
Planning and Design 1,954 1,833 121 2,000 2,000 - 2,000

Total income 98,686 97,060 1,626 141,432 142,579 1,147 145,548

Expenses
Governance 1 - (1) 30 24 6 30
Corporate Accounting 29,309 25,480 (3,829) 35,063 36,740 (1,677) 35,063
Planning and Design 10 - (10) - - - -

Total expenses 29,320 25,480 (3,840) 35,093 36,764 (1,671) 35,093

Net surplus (deficit) 69,366 71,580 (2,214) 106,339 105,815 (524) 110,455
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Note 26 Carrying amount of assets sold ($1.75 million unfavourable) – Unfavourable 
variance due to assets written off - mainly demolition of buildings at 144 Thomas Street, Dandenong, 
Robert Booth Baseball pavilion and Alex Nelson pavilion ($926,000), land at Reserve 2, 44 Hope Street 
Springvale which is no longer Council owned ($276,000) and the carrying amount of Springvale parking 
meter assets sold ($230,000).   This is a non-cash accounting entry.
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Capital Works Program Operating Results
For the period 1 July 2017 - 31 March 2018

CAPITAL WORKS PROGRAM
ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL

YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL
ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET

Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges - - - - - - -
Statutory fees and fines - - - - - - -
User fees - - - - - - -
Grants - operating - - - - - - -
Grants - capital 27 3,219 3,772 (553) 4,911 4,911 - 2,932
Contributions - monetary - - - 884 884 - -
Contributions - non-monetary - - - - - - -
Asset sales - - - - - - -
Other income - - - - - - -
Total income 3,219 3,772 (553) 5,795 5,795 - 2,932

Expenses
Employee costs - - - - - - -
Materials and services - - - - - - -
Bad and doubtful debts - - - - - - -
Depreciation and amortisation - - - - - - -
Borrowing costs - - - - - - -
Carrying amount of assets sold - - - - - - -
Other expenses - - - - - - -
Total expenses - - - - - - -

Net surplus (deficit) 3,219 3,772 (553) 5,795 5,795 - 2,932
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BUSINESS UNITS

Notes:

Income

Note 27 Grants – capital ($553,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to delay in 
receipt of grant funding for Safe City CCTV – Round 2 ($260,000), Blackspot projects for Birdwood and 
Wilma Avenue ($203,000), River End Road ($60,000) and the Dandenong Park Master Plan project
($30,000).

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Capital Works Program 3,219 3,772 (553) 5,795 5,795 - 2,932

Total income 3,219 3,772 (553) 5,795 5,795 - 2,932

Expenses
Capital Works Program - - - - - - -

Total expenses - - - - - - -

Net surplus (deficit) 3,219 3,772 (553) 5,795 5,795 - 2,932

Page 372

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA

2.6.3 Q3 Council Quarterly Performance Report (Cont.)



2.7 OTHER

2.7.1 List of Registered Correspondence to Mayor and Councillors

qA283304File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Correspondence Received 2-20 April 2018Attachments:

Report Summary

Subsequent to resolutions made by Council on 11 November 2013 and 25 February 2014 in relation
to a listing of incoming correspondence addressed to the Mayor and Councillors, Attachment 1
provides a list of this correspondence for the period 2-20 April 2018.

Recommendation

That the listed items provided in Attachment 1 for the period 2-20 April 2018 be received and
noted.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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2.7.2 Report on Matters Discussed at Councillor Briefing Sessions - 9, 16 & 23 April
2018

fA25545File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Report Summary

As part of Council’s ongoing efforts to improve transparency in Council processes, matters discussed
at Councillor Briefing Sessions (other than those matters designated to be of a confidential nature)
are reported on at ordinary Council meetings.

The matters listed in this report were presented to Councillor Briefing Sessions in April 2018.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the information contained within it be received and noted.
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Matters Presented for Discussion

Briefing SessionItem

9 April 2018Councillors and Council officers briefly discussed the following
topics:
a) Advice received from theMinister for Planning regarding advisory
committee hearings for a proposed development in Harwood Road,
Bangholme.
b) Autumn Fest activities over the weekend.
c) Bidding process announced by the FFA for the expansion of its
A-League.
d) Possible delegation to Canberra during the ALGA National
General Assembly in June.
e) Agenda items for the Council meeting of 9 April 2018.

1

16 April 2018Open Space and Strategy Discussion2

Councillor input was sought into the formation of the revised Open
Space Strategy and broader review.

16 April 2018Review of Council Plan 2017-21 and Draft Annual Plan 2018-193

Council’s approval to proceed to in-principle adoption, scheduled
for the 23 April 2018 Council Meeting, of the document to enable
the 28 day public submission process to commence.

16 April 2018Response to Notice of Motion No. 4 – Transporting Senior
Citizens on weekly shopping trips (Community Transport
Review)

4

Feedback was sought from Councillors’ regarding the
recommendations contained in the briefing in preparation for a
future Council report.

16 April 2018Response to Notice of Motion No. 38 – Request for a report
on the potential to introduce Councillor Portfolios

5

Councillors were briefed on the contents of the report to be
presented to the 23 April 2018 Council Meeting.
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23 April 2018Councillors and Council officers briefly discussed the following
topics:
a) Anzac Day activities.
b) Flu shot availability for Councillors and messages to diverse
communities regarding flu vaccination.
c) Graffiti and roadmanagement in new areas around level crossing
works in Noble Park.
d) State Government announcement regarding funding for
community hub in Keysborough.
e) Current works in Walker Street, Dandenong.
f) Agenda items for the Council meeting of 23 April 2018.

6

Apologies

Councillor Maria Sampey and Councillor Loi Truong did not attend the Councillor Briefing Session
on 9 April 2018.
Councillor Sean O’Reilly submitted an apology for the Councillor Briefing Session on 9 April
2018.
Councillor Heang Tak and Councillor Loi Truong submitted apologies for the Councillor Briefing
Session on 16 April 2018.
Councillor Zaynoun Melhem submitted an apology for the Councillor Briefing Session on 23 April
2018.
Councillor Maria Sampey did not attend the Councillor Briefing Session on 23 April 2018.

Recommendation

That the information contained in this report be received and noted.
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3 NOTICES OF MOTION

A notice of motion is a notice setting out the text of a motion proposed to be moved at the next relevant
meeting. It must be in writing, signed by a Councillor, and be lodged with the Chief Executive Officer
in sufficient time for him or her to give each Councillor at least 72 hours notice of such notice.

The guidelines for submitting a notice of motion to a Council meeting are included in the current
Meeting Procedure Local Law.

Page 380

City of Greater Dandenong

MONDAY 14 MAY 2018ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA



4 REPORTSFROMCOUNCILLORS/DELEGATESANDCOUNCILLORS'
QUESTIONS

At each Ordinary Meeting of Council all Councillors will have the opportunity to speak for exactly four
(4) minutes on any meetings, conferences or events they have recently attended.

If a Councillor chooses to speak, the name of the conference/event and the Councillor will be noted
in the Minutes for that meeting. If a Councillor requires additional information on the conference/event
to be listed in the Minutes, they must submit it in writing to a Member of Governance by 9am the day
following the meeting.

Question time is provided to enable Councillors to address questions to the Administration. The
guidelines for asking questions at a Council meeting are included in the current Meeting Procedure
Local Law.
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5 QUESTION TIME - PUBLIC

Question Time at Council meetings provides an opportunity for members of the public in the
gallery to address questions to the councillors and/or officers of the City of Greater Dandenong.

Questions from the Gallery

1. Members of the public may submit questions from the gallery by completing a 'Ask a Question at
a Council meeting' form available at Council meetings and at www.greaterdandenong.com under
Council - Council Meetings. Questions are limited to a maximum of three (3) questions per individual
and a maximum of 300 words per question including the preamble.

2. Questions will be read aloud and in most cases an answer will be given on the spot. However,
sometimes a councillor/officer may indicate that they require further time to research an answer. In
this case the answer will be made in writing to the person who asked the question and may also
appear in the Question Time Responses section at www.greaterdandenong.com under Council -
Council Meetings.

3. Questions will be answered unless the Chairperson and/or Chief Executive Officer has determined
that the relevant question relates to:

- personnel matters,
- the personal hardship of any resident or ratepayers,
- industrial matters,
- contractual matters,
- proposed developments,
- legal advice,
- matters affecting the security of Council property,
- any other matter which Council considers would prejudice the Council or any person,
- a matter which may disadvantage Council or any person,
- a matter in respect of which Council has no power to act,
- a question that is defamatory, indecent, abusive or objectionable in language or substance and is
asked to embarrass a Councillor or Council officer,
- a question that is repetitive of a question already answered (whether at the same or an earlier
meeting).

No debate or discussion of a question or an answer shall be permitted other than for the purposes
of clarification.

Every question will receive a written reply, even if it is answered at the meeting.
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6 URGENT BUSINESS

No business may be admitted as urgent business unless it:

1. Relates to or arises out of a matter which has arisen since distribution of the Agenda.

2. Cannot safely or conveniently be deferred until the next ordinary meeting and unless agreed to
by a majority of those Councillors present at the meeting.
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